IMMUNOLOGICAL AND HEMATOLOGICAL BIOMARKERS FOR CONTAMINANTS IN FISH-EATING BIRDS OF THE GREAT LAKES

by

Keith A. Grasman

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the

Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

WILDLIFE SCIENCES

PPROVED:

Patrick F. Scanlon, Chair

Klaus D

Prakash S. Nagarkatti

June 1995

Blacksburg, Virginia

Key words: Biomarkers, Immunotoxicology, PCBs, Great Lakes, Birds

C.2



ι

IMMUNOLOGICAL AND HEMATOLOGICAL BIOMARKERS FOR CONTAMINANTS IN FISH-EATING BIRDS OF THE GREAT LAKES

by

Keith A. Grasman Patrick F. Scanlon, Chair Fisheries and Wildlife Sciences

(ABSTRACT)

Field and laboratory investigations have demonstrated that halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs), which include PCBs and dioxin, are associated with developmental and population-level problems in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. Other studies have shown that perinatal exposure to HAHs causes thymic atrophy and suppresses T lymphocyte function in laboratory animals. Higher exposure suppresses antibody production and alters white blood cell (WBC) counts. This study investigated whether persistent contaminants alter immunocompetence in Great Lakes herring gulls (Larus argentatus) and Caspian terns (Sterna caspia). It also evaluated the use of various immunological tests as biomarkers for contaminant-associated health effects in wild birds. Masses of immune organs and WBC counts were assessed in herring gull chicks at 11 colonies and adults at 13 colonies, including two colonies outside the Great Lakes. T-celland antibody-mediated immune functions were assessed in chicks at five sites for each species. This ecoepidemiological study revealed a strong association between persistent contaminants and suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity. In herring gull chicks, thymus mass decreased as the activity of liver ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD), an index of HAH-exposure and Ah-receptor activation, increased. In Caspian tern and herring gull chicks, the phytohemagglutinin skin test for T cell function showed a strong negative exposure-response relationship with organochlorines. There was no discernible association between contaminants and suppression of antibody-mediated immunity as

measured by the sheep red blood cell antibody test and bursal mass. However, contaminant effects on bursal mass were confounded by fluke infections. Several WBC variables in both species were associated with contaminants, but the evidence was weaker than for effects on T-cell-mediated immunity. The identity of the particular organochlorine(s) responsible for alterations of T cell function and WBC counts could not be determined because concentrations of organochlorines were highly co-correlated in bird tissues. However, PCBs were the most likely cause because of their high concentrations and immunotoxic potential. Tests of immune function, WBC counts, and immune organ masses are useful biomarkers for assessing health effects, including those associated with contaminants, in wild birds.

Acknowledgments

I could not have carried out such a large field investigation without the assistance of many dedicated individuals and organizations. It has been my pleasure to work with these people and groups, and I hope that they have enjoyed this project as much I have. I am thankful to everyone who helped, including those whom I may have forgotten. I would especially like to thank my family, friends, and the graduate students at Virginia Tech for their support and encouragement.

I would like to thank Dr. Patrick F. Scanlon for his encouragement, guidance, wisdom, and friendship throughout my graduate career, and for giving me the freedom to pursue my interests in immunotoxicology and Great Lakes research. I would also like to thank the other members of my committee, Dr. Klaus D. Elgert, Mr. Glen A. Fox, Dr. Roy L. Kirkpatrick, Dr. Prakash S. Nagarkatti, and Dr. Michael R. Vaughan, for advice in planning this study and for comments that greatly improved this dissertation. Each of these scientists contributed to this project from his own unique perspective and area of expertise.

Financial support for this project came from several sources. The Great Lakes Protection Fund, the Canadian Wildlife Service, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and the SERE Group, Inc., provided funding, laboratory services, and (or) logistic support in the field. I was supported by a National Science Foundation Graduate Fellowship. Any opinions, findings, or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation. This work also was supported by the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) Fellowship sponsored by The Procter & Gamble Company. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University and Calvin College provided laboratory and office facilities for this project. I am thankful for the numerous individuals who provided assistance with the field collections: Glen Fox, Jim Ludwig, Heidi Auman, Matt Ludwig, Kim Williams, Debbie Jeffrey, Barbara Hanbidge, Laird Shutt, D.V. "Chip" Weseloh, Tim Kubiak, Dave Best, Lisa Williams, Cheryl Summer, Sara Thompson, Peter Ewins, Thomas Erdman, and Pat Scanlon. Additional boat transportation and logistic support were provided by Russ Ingals, J&J Marine, and Alonso Nuttal. Access to Fighting Island was provided by D. Rawlyk, G. Durst, and F. Delisle of BASF. Nathaniel Wheelwright, director of the Bowdoin College Field Station, provided assistance and hospitality on Kent Island. Laboratory analyses were conducted by Suzanne Trudeau, Kim Williams, Debbie Jeffrey, Sean Kennedy, G. Sans-Cartier, P. Maisonneuve, H. Won, E. Neugebauer, J. Carrol, J. Moisey, M. Kassera, and D. Russell. Dr. Douglas Campbell and Dr. Dorothy Middleton performed histopathological analyses. Brian Collins provided statistical advice and the computer program for the Jonckheere test.

There are three individuals who deserve special recognition for their unwavering support for this project. Glen Fox of the Canadian Wildlife Service and Jim Ludwig of the SERE Group, Inc., provided essential advice, funding, and logistical support for this project from its earliest stages to its completion. During many hours in the field and on the phone with Glen and Jim, I developed a passion for the lakes and deep friendships that will last for years. They were excellent teachers, immersing me in the ecology and physiology of colonial waterbirds. Jim taught me about piloting and navigation on the Great Lakes.

Finally, my most heartfelt thanks and admiration go out to my wife, Suzanne. Like so many spouses, she provided constant support throughout six years of graduate work. But she went far beyond the call of duty by working as my field assistant for three years. She was an invaluable member of the research team--this project is as much hers as it is

v

mine. I will always cherish the many memories from our time spent on the lakes--from sharing beautiful sunsets on calm evenings to being marooned on remote islands by stormy seas--and I look forward to making many more memories.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	iv
List of Tables	x
List of Figures	xii
List of Abbreviations	xiv
Chapter 1. Problem Statement and Justification	1 1 2
Great Lakes	3
Rationale for Conducting this Study Objectives Ecoepidemiology and Risk Assessment Probability Strength of Association Specificity Consistency Upon Replication Coherence Time Order or Chronological Relationship Predictive Performance Strategy for Statistical Analyses	15 20 22 23 24 25 25 26 26 27 27 28
Chapter 2. Immunological and Hematological Biomarkers for Environmental Contaminants in Herring Gulls (Larus argentatus) of the Great Lakes	30
Summary Introduction Materials and Methods Sampling Design Hematology Dissection and Tissue Preservation Biochemical Biomarkers Organochlorine Analyses Statistical Analyses Results Organochlorine Concentrations and EROD Activity Immunological and Hematological Biomarkers	30 31 35 35 37 38 39 40 42 44 44 45
Relationships among Hematological Biomarkers, Biochemical Biomarkers, and Organ Masses	46
Discussion	48

Chapter 3. Immune and Endocrine Organ Masses as Biomarkers for Environmental	
Contaminants in Herring Gulls (<i>Larus argentatus</i>) of the Great Lakes	. 69
Summary	. 69
Introduction	. 70
Materials and Methods	. 74
Sampling Design	. 74
Hematology	. 75
Dissection and Tissue Preservation	. 76
Biochemical Biomarkers	77
Organochlorine Analyses	78
Statistical Analyses	. ,0
Results	. 00
Organochlorine Concentrations and EROD Activity	. 05
I umphoid Organs	. 83
Endooring Organs	. 04
Delationshine among Diamanhane	. 00
Relationships among Biomarkers	. 8/
Discussion	. 87
Chapter 4 Immunological Biomarkers and Immunosuppression by Organochlorine	
Contaminants in Fish-Fating Birds of the Great Lakes	103
Summary	103
Introduction	103
Materials and Mathada	104
	109
	109
Growth and Reproductive Success	111
Functional Tests for Immunocompetence	111
General Immunological and Hematological Biomarkers	112
Organochlorine Analysis	113
Bioassays for TCDD-Equivalents	115
Statistical Analyses	116
Results	118
Growth	118
Organochlorine Concentrations	119
Functional Tests For Immunocompetence	119
General Immunological, Hematological, and Biochemical	
Biomarkers	121
Relationships among Functional Tests and General Biomarkers	124
Discussion	126
Conclusions	134
	134
Chapter 5. General Discussion: Ecoepidemiology and Evaluation of Biomarkers	150
Ecoepidemiological Assessment of Immunotoxicity in Fish-Eating Birds of	
the Great Lakes	151
Suppression of T-Cell-Mediated Immunity	153
Suppression of Antibody-Mediated Immunity	156
Alteration of White Blood Cell Counts	157
Evaluation of Structural and Functional Biomarkers	150

Literature Cite	ed	 	 	 	 	 •	 	 •	• •			•			 162
Vita		 	 	 	 		 	 •							 175

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Organochlorine contaminants in pooled samples of livers from herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	56
Table 2.2. Organochlorine contaminants in pooled samples of livers from herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993.	57
Table 2.3. Effects of contaminants on general immunological and hematological variables in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	58
Table 2.4. Effects of contaminants on general immunological and hematological variables in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993.	59
Table 2.5. Means (± one standard error) of hematological variables in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	60
Table 2.6. Means (± one standard error) of hematological variables in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993.	61
Table 2.7. Pearson's correlation analysis exploring relationships among hematological biomarkers and other biomarkers in herring gull chicks and adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991-93.	62
Table 3.1. Effects of contaminants on masses of immunological and endocrine organs in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	94
Table 3.2. Effects of contaminants on immune and endocrine organ masses in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993.	95
Table 3.3. Pearson's correlation analysis exploring relationships among immune and endocrine organ sizes and other biomarkers in herring gull chicks and adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991-93.	96

,

Table 4.1. Sampling design for immune function study in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes during 1992-94.	135
Table 4.2. Organochlorine contaminants in pooled samples of herring gull and Caspian tern eggs from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992.	136
Table 4.3. Effects of contaminants on immune function in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94.	137
Table 4.4. Effects of contaminants on general immunological and hematological biomarkers in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94.	138
Table 4.5. Means (± one standard error) of hematological variables in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-93.	140
Table 4.6. Pearson's correlation analysis exploring relationships among biomarkers in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94.	142
Table 5.1. Ecoepidemiological evaluation of immunotoxic effects of environmental contaminants on fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes.	161

-

List of Figures

Fig. 2.1. Great Lakes sampling sites for immunological and hematological biomarkers in herring gull adults (A.) and chicks (B.)	3
Fig. 2.2 Relationships between environmental contamination and total white blood cell and total heterophil numbers herring gull adults from the Great Lakes during 1991 and 1993	5
Fig. 2.3. Relationships between PCB contamination and total white blood cell and total lymphocyte numbers herring gull adults from the Great Lakes during 1991 and 1993.	6
Fig. 2.4. Relationships between HG-TEQs and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	7
Fig. 2.5. Relationships between liver EROD activity and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993	8
Fig. 3.1. Relationship between liver EROD activity and thymus mass in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	7
Fig. 3.2. Spatial differences in mean bursal mass and the relationship to liver PCB concentrations in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992.	8
Fig. 3.3. Spatial differences in mean spleen mass in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992 9	9
Fig. 3.4. Spatial differences in mean spleen mass in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993 10	0
Fig. 3.5. Spatial differences in mean adrenal mass and the relationship between mean thyroid mass and liver HG-TEQ concentrations in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992	1
Fig. 3.6. Spatial differences in mean adrenal mass and the relationship between mean thyroid mass and liver PCB concentrations in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993	2

Fig. 4.1. Great Lakes sampling sites for immune function tests in herring gull (HEGU) and Caspian tern (CATE) chicks.	143
Fig. 4.2. Mean daily growth in 3-4 week old herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lakes Winnipeg during 1992-94.	144
Fig. 4.3. Relationship between T-cell-mediated immunity (PHA skin test) and PCB contamination in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lakes Winnipeg during 1992-94.	145
Fig. 4.4. Mean primary antibody responses 5-7 days after SRBC immunization in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes during 1992-94.	146
Fig. 4.5. Relationship between plasma retinol (vitamin A) and PCB contamination in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94.	148
Fig. 4.6. Mean plasma thyroxine concentrations in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94	149

List of Abbreviations

Ah	aryl hydrocarbon
AHH	aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase
ANCOVA	analysis of covariance
ANOVA	analysis of variance
B lymphocyte	bursa-derived lymphocyte
CATE	Caspian tern
C-TEOs	TCDD toxic equivalents determined by the chicken hepatocyte
	bioassay
CYP1A1	cytochrome P450 mono-oxygenase 1A1
DDD	1.1-dichloro-2.2-bis(<i>p</i> -chlorophenyl)-ethane
DDE	1.1-dichloro-2.2-bis(<i>p</i> -chlorophenyl-ethylene
DDT	1.1.1-trichloro-2.2-bis(p-chlorophenyl)-ethane
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EROD	ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase
GC/MSD	gas chromatograph/mass spectrometer detector
GLEMEDS	Great Lakes embryo mortality, edema, and deformities syndrome
HAHs	halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons
HCB	hexachlorobenzene
HEGU	herring gull
HG-TEQs	TCDD toxic equivalents calculated from herring gull-specific toxicity
	equivalency factors
H/L ratio	heterophil/lymphocyte ratio
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
IgG	immunoglobulin G
IgM	immunoglobulin M
IUPAC	International Union of Physicists and Chemists
ODS	octadecylsilane
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCBs	polychlorinated biphenyls
PCDDs	polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxins
PCDFs	polychlorinated dibenzo-furans
PCV	packed (red blood) cell volume
PHA	phytohemagglutinin
SI	stimulation index (for PHA skin test)
SRBC	sheep red blood cells
TCDD	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo- <i>p</i> -dioxin
TCDF	2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo- <i>p</i> -furan
TEF	toxicity equivalency factor
T lymphocyte	thymus-derived lymphocyte
WBC	white blood cell

Chapter 1. Problem Statement and Justification

Introduction

Despite attempts to control pollution over the past several decades, a variety of environmental contaminants continue to impact the Great Lakes of North America. In 1987 the Great Lakes Water Quality Board identified 11 critical pollutants that still present risks to human health and the aquatic ecosystem: 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD), 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-furan (TCDF), benzo[a]pyrene (b[a]p), 1,1,1-trichloro-2,2bis(*p*-chlorophenyl)-ethane (DDT), dieldrin, hexachlorobenzene (HCB), alkylated lead, mirex, mercury, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and toxaphene (Colborn *et al.* 1990). Numerous studies have suggested that at least some of these contaminants present significant risks to a number of wildlife species, especially those that occupy high positions in the aquatic food web. Biomagnification of persistent, lipophilic chemicals produces high concentrations in the tissues of Great Lakes fish, reptiles, birds, and mammals, including humans, that eat contaminated fish. These contaminants cause abnormalities that are evident at biochemical, physiological, organismal, and population levels.

Environmental contaminants have been linked to deformities, mortality, and population effects in Great Lakes fish-eating birds, including gulls, terns, cormorants, herons, and eagles. Numerous studies have demonstrated that halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs), which include PCBs, TCDD, and TCDF, are responsible for many of these bioeffects. Laboratory studies have shown that one of the most characteristic effects of exposure to HAHs and other pollutants found in the Great Lakes is immunosuppression. Increased susceptibility to infectious diseases potentially is an important mechanism by which contaminants could produce mortality and population effects in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. This chapter reviews the past and present effects of contaminants on these birds as well as the laboratory evidence for HAH-induced immunosuppression. It then describes a research project that studied the effects of environmental contaminants on immune function in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes.

Literature Review

During the mid 1960's, several studies suggested that environmental contaminants were disrupting reproduction in fish-eating birds in the Great Lakes ecosystem. Subsequent research confirmed these effects and contributed to restrictions on many of the more persistent chemicals. Although reproduction has recovered in many populations of piscivorous birds in this region, many effects on birds and other wildlife are occurring still, especially at highly contaminated sites. The literature documenting the biological effects of contaminants in Great Lakes wildlife is quite extensive, so only a cursory review will be given here. Other reviews on the subject can be found in Peakall *et al.* 1980; Mineau *et al.* 1984; Fox and Weseloh 1987; Peakall and Fox 1987; Gilbertson 1988, 1989; Peakall 1988; Colborn *et al.* 1990; Fox *et al.* 1991; Gilbertson *et al.* 1991; Government of Canada 1991; Fox 1993.

Effects of Environmental Contaminants on Fish-Eating Birds of the Great Lakes

Early Indications of Reproductive Problems

Reproductive failure and population declines in herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) and double-crested cormorants (*Phalacrocorax auritus*) were the first indications that environmental contaminants might be affecting birds in the Great Lakes. Keith (1966) observed that adult herring gulls near Green Bay, WI, had organochlorine pesticide residues in fat that exceeded 2000 μ g/g during 1963. During 1964, bird banders observed a lower number of herring gull chicks than during past years. Hatching success was only 41%, and eggshell damage was reported. Ludwig and Tomoff (1966) reported low reproduction in herring gulls in Traverse Bay, MI. Hatching success was only 28%, and 20% of the eggs were cracked. Both of these studies reported a fledging rate of only 0.3-0.4 fledglings/nest, compared to a normal rate of 1.2 fledglings/nest. Alterations in parental behavior also were observed.

These ecologists suggested that organochlorine contaminants might be causing these reproductive problems. Herring gull eggs from Green Bay contained twice as much DDE (1,1-dichloro-2,2-bis(*p*-chlorophenyl-ethylene; a toxic metabolite of DDT) than eggs from control sites (Keith 1966). Traverse Bay eggs did not differ from controls in DDE content, although Ludwig later suggested that PCBs might have confounded pesticide analysis. Unfortunately, TCDDs and TCDFs were not assayed (Gilbertson 1988).

Although populations of double-crested cormorants in the Great Lakes basin increased from the beginning of the century through the 1940's, declines were observed during the 1950's and 60's. Population size decreased 80% from peak numbers by 1972

(Peakall 1988). During the late 1960's and early 1970's, reproductive failure and 20-30% eggshell thinning were reported in double-crested cormorants from Lake Huron (Weseloh *et al.* 1983, Gilbertson 1988). DDE-induced eggshell thinning probably was the most important factor in double-crested cormorant population declines during this time period (Peakall 1988).

During 1972, five herring gull colonies in Lake Ontario produced only 0.06 to 0.21 fledglings/nest--approximately 1/10 of normal. DDE-induced eggshell thinning produced eggshell breakage and flaking in the most contaminated colonies (Gilbertson 1974). On Scotch Bonnet Island in Lake Ontario during 1973, 27% of herring gull nests had no eggs, 20% of eggs exhibited early embryonic mortality, hatching success was only 17%, chick mortality was 74%, and fledging success was only 0.06 fledglings/pair (Gilbertson and Hale 1974a,b). These problems were associated with high contaminant residues in the eggs: $140 \mu g/g$ (dry wt.) DDE and 550 $\mu g/g$ PCBs. Dieldrin, heptachlor epoxide, and HCB also were detected.

Further Documentation of Problems

After these initial reports, many other studies documented associations between reproductive problems and high contaminant concentrations in piscivorous birds in the Great Lakes. Ingestion of HAHs by chickens (*Gallus domesticus*) causes a syndrome called chick edema disease, which includes subcutaneous, pericardial, and peritoneal edema as well as reduced body mass gain, hemorrhaging, liver necrosis, and even death (Gilbertson *et al.* 1991). Several outbreaks of similar symptoms were observed in fisheating birds at highly contaminated sites in the Great Lakes during the 1960's and 70's. High embryonic mortality, subcutaneous, pericardial, and peritoneal edema, congenital

deformities, growth retardation, hepatomegaly, liver necrosis, and liver porphyria are the major symptoms associated with this condition in wild birds (Gilbertson 1989). Gilbertson *et al.* (1991) named this set of symptoms Great Lakes embryo mortality, edema, and deformities syndrome (GLEMEDS). The first occurrence of GLEMEDS was observed in Lake Ontario herring gulls between 1966 and 1976 (Gilbertson and Fox 1977, Gilbertson *et al.* 1991). Retrospective analysis of herring gull eggs from the lower Great Lakes showed that TCDD concentrations averaged 500 pg/g (parts per trillion) during 1974 but were as high as 1200 pg/g in earlier years (Gilbertson 1988). A second outbreak of GLEMEDS occurred in Forster's terns (*Sterna forsteri*) in Green Bay, WI, starting in about 1973 (Gilbertson 1989, Gilbertson *et al.* 1991, Kubiak *et al.* 1989).

Several important studies demonstrated that poor reproduction was caused not only by factors intrinsic to the egg (i.e., developmental toxicity of contaminants) but also by extrinsic factors (i.e. contaminant-induced abnormalities in parental behavior). Peakall *et al.* (1980) switched eggs between a contaminated herring gull colony on Lake Ontario and an uncontaminated colony in New Brunswick. During 1975, 86% of "clean" eggs incubated by "clean" adults hatched. "Dirty" eggs incubated by "clean" adults had low hatchability (only 10%), demonstrating intrinsic factors. But "clean" eggs incubated by "dirty" adults also had low hatchability (only 7%), demonstrating extrinsic effects. "Dirty" eggs incubated by "dirty" adults had a hatchability of only 2%. Fox *et al.* (1978) used telemetered eggs in Lake Ontario and New Brunswick to investigate the nature of these extrinsic effects. Lake Ontario herring gulls exhibited poor incubation behavior compared to New Brunswick controls. At the Lake Ontario colony, parents of unsuccessful nests left their nests unattended for three times longer than parents of successful nests. The average egg temperature was 1 °C less for unsuccessful nests compared to successful nests. The

length of time that a nest was left unattended was positively correlated with organochlorine concentrations in the egg.

Reproduction of bald eagles (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*) also was affected by contaminants, primarily by DDT but possibly by PCBs also. Between 1968 and 1970, bald eagles on Lakes Superior, Michigan, Huron, and Erie averaged only 0.13 young/occupied nest. Production of 0.7 and 1.0 young/occupied nest are necessary for maintaining stable and healthy populations, respectively. On Lake Superior, 21% eggshell thinning was associated with egg concentrations of 57 μ g/g (wet wt.) DDE and 28 μ g/g PCBs (Postupalksy 1971).

Several studies indicated that organochlorine contaminants were affecting survival throughout the year as well as causing the decreases in reproduction noted above. Ludwig and Ludwig (1969) captured 15 nesting adult herring gulls from Traverse Bay, MI. Upon starvation, six gulls died within 10 days. In previous experiments, relatively uncontaminated herring gulls from Lake Huron withstood a 30% loss of body mass in 17 days without any mortality or loss of activity. Traverse Bay herring gulls that died during starvation had brain concentrations of $12 \,\mu g/g$ DDT, $6 \,\mu g/g$ DDD (1,1-dichloro-2,2-bis(*p*-chlorophenyl)-ethane; a metabolite of DDT), $180 \,\mu g/g$ DDE, and $2 \,\mu g/g$ dieldrin, suggesting the lethal mobilization of organochlorine pesticides from body fat during starvation. Sileo *et al.* (1977) analyzed organochlorine contaminants in the brains of ring-billed gulls found dying with signs of neurologic poisoning and ring-billed gulls found dead with no apparent cause of death had significantly higher brain organochlorine residues than healthy ring-billed gulls shot for comparison. Dieldrin, an organochlorine insecticide, was implicated as an important factor. Although they did not test the correlation

statistically, the authors noted an inverse relationship between brain organochlorine index and body mass, suggesting lethal mobilization of contaminants during post-nuptial or postjuvenile molt (most mortality occurred during late summer and early autumn). Alternatively, the inverse relationship could have been caused by organochlorine-induced anorexia and emaciation.

Restrictions on Organochlorines-- Improvements in Reproduction and Population Recoveries

During the 1970's and early 1980's, the use of most organochlorines was greatly restricted in the U.S. and Canada. In the U.S. DDT was banned in 1972. PCBs were banned in the U.S. in 1979, except for use in totally closed systems or by special exemptions. With reduced production of organochlorines, release of HCB into the environment decreased. Decreasing trends of organochlorine residues in wildlife through the late 1970's were associated with increased reproduction and population recovery in some species, including herring gulls and double-crested cormorants.

Mineau *et al.* (1984) reported significant decreases in DDT, DDE, and mirex concentrations in herring gull eggs from Lakes Ontario, Erie, Huron, and Superior. PCB and dieldrin concentrations decreased in herring gull eggs from Lakes Ontario, Erie, and Huron but not Superior. Weseloh *et al.* (1989) found that DDE and PCB concentrations in the eggs of common terns (*Sterna hirundo*) declined 80-90% in four colonies on Lakes Huron, Erie, and Ontario between 1969-73 and 1981.

In egg switching experiments during 1975, Peakall *et al.* (1980) had demonstrated severe intrinsic and extrinsic effects that were limiting reproduction in Lake Ontario herring gulls. During 1976, these researchers found only intrinsic effects. Neither intrinsic nor

extrinsic effects were observed during 1977. By 1978, the number of fledged herring gull young/breeding pair had increased to over 1.0 for Lakes Ontario and Erie, both of which had shown severe reproductive impairment during the early 1970's (Gilbertson 1988). By 1979-81 the Great Lakes double-crested cormorant population had begun to recover. Although 5-14% eggshell thinning was still observed, reproductive output had increased to a mean of 1.5-2.0 young/nest (Peakall 1988). In Lake Ontario, double-crested cormorant populations increased at an annual rate of 56% between 1974 and 1982 (Price and Weseloh 1986).

Continued Problems during the 1980's and 1990's

Despite the improvements observed during the late 1970's, a number of problems, especially at highly contaminated sites, have persisted to the present. Although concentrations of many contaminants declined drastically during the late 1970's, concentrations have declined slowly, leveled off, or increased during the 1980's and 90's (Government of Canada 1991). As biological and analytical chemical methods have improved, the research emphasis for Great Lakes toxics has shifted to looking at problems in finer detail. Much emphasis has been placed on the development and use of biomarkers, which are biochemical, physiological, or histological changes that measure effects of, or exposure to, toxic chemicals. Congener-specific chemical analysis has become an important tool in assessing the effects of complex mixtures of contaminants on birds, other wildlife, and humans. Although expensive, more detailed chemical analyses have helped to separate the effects of the 209 PCB congeners and 75 dioxin congeners, which vary widely in their toxicity and environmental persistence. Many biomarkers have been proposed for use in monitoring exposure to, and effects of, persistent toxic chemicals in Great Lakes wildlife, but only a few will be discussed here. Cytochrome P-450 mono-oxygenases belong to a class of liver detoxification enzymes known as mixed function oxidases. When an animal is exposed to certain contaminants or drugs, the expression of certain cytochrome P-450's is induced. Hoffman *et al.* (1987) found that liver microsomal aryl hydroxylase activity (a specific cytochrome P-450 reaction) was three times greater in Forster's tern hatchlings from Green Bay, WI, as compared to those from Lake Poygan, a nearby reference site.

Some HAHs, including TCDD, TCDF, HCB, and PCBs, can inhibit heme synthesis and produce a buildup of highly carboxylated porphyrins in liver tissue. Fox *et al.* (1988) examined the concentrations of porphyrins in the livers of adult herring gulls collected throughout the Great Lakes during the early 1980's. Herring gulls also were collected from a control site in New Brunswick. The highest concentrations of porphyrins were found in herring gulls from the sites most heavily contaminated with HAHs (Green Bay, WI, Saginaw Bay, MI, and Lake Ontario). Liver porphyrins hold much promise as an early warning indicator of HAH toxicity since elevated porphyrin concentrations usually are observed before other toxic effects of HAHs in laboratory studies (Fox *et al.* 1988).

Retinol, or vitamin A, is essential for proper development, immune function, and vision. Environmental contaminants such as HAHs can disrupt vitamin A homeostasis (Zile 1992), and such effects have been observed in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes (Spear *et al.* 1985, 1990; Fox 1993). Retinoids stored in the liver were lower for adult herring gulls from the Great Lakes as compared to those from the Atlantic coast. Although the greater amount of vitamin A in the marine food web contributed to this difference,

environmental contaminants also appeared to be important. Within the Great Lakes region, liver retinoid stores varied significantly among sites and between years.

Thyroid mass, histology, and hormones are other potential biomarkers for toxic effects of HAHs in Great Lakes wildlife (Moccia *et al.* 1986, Government of Canada 1991, Fox 1993). Adult herring gulls in the Great Lakes had larger thyroid glands than those from a less-contaminated colony on the Atlantic coast. In Lake Ontario, where gull tissues have been sampled over time, goiter has decreased at the same time that organochlorine contamination has decreased. At highly contaminated Great Lakes colonies, there was a high prevalence of epithelial hyperplasia, which was not observed at the reference colony. Concentrations of circulating thyroid hormones also might be affected by environmental contaminants.

Two recent studies have shown that environmental contaminants still are reducing reproduction in bald eagles in the Great Lakes region. Between 1983 and 1988, Kozie and Anderson (1991) found that bald eagles nesting on the shores of Lake Superior had a mean nest success of 57% and a mean of 0.8 young/occupied nest, compared to 77% nest success and 1.3 young/occupied nest for bald eagles nesting in inland Wisconsin. Reproduction of Lake Superior bald eagles had increased from the 10% nest success and 0.1 young/occupied nest during 1961-1970, but reproduction during 1983-1988 was still significantly lower for Lake Superior bald eagles compared to inland nesters. Contaminant concentrations, especially PCBs, were higher in dead nestling and immature bald eagles from Lake Superior compared to inland bald eagles of similar ages. Contaminant concentrations were relatively low in fish found in the diet of Lake Superior bald eagles. However, herring gulls, which comprised 48% of the bald eagles' diet, contained 16.95 $\mu g/g$ (wet wt.) PCBs and 5.5 $\mu g/g$ DDE. In another study, Bowerman *et al.* (1990) found

that blood plasma PCB concentrations were 6 times greater in bald eagle nestlings within 8 km of the Great Lakes as compared to nestlings further inland. Reproduction within 8 km of the Great Lakes was only 0.71 young/occupied nest as compared to 1.05 young/occupied nest further inland (Bowerman *et al.* 1990, Bowerman 1993). Pairs of nesting bald eagles on Lake Michigan and Lake Huron shorelines exhibit reproductive failure within 5 years of establishment, and a high turnover rate in the adult population is suspected (Government of Canada 1991). Bald eagle chicks with bill deformities also have been observed in the Great Lakes Basin: two during the 1960's, four during the 1980's, and three during 1993 (Bowerman 1993, Bowerman *et al.* 1994). A recent ecological risk assessment has concluded that PCBs and particularly TCDD-equivalents represent a significant reproductive risk to bald eagles living along the shorelines of the Great Lakes and rivers open to Great Lakes anadromous fish (Bowerman *et al.* 1995).

Reproductive problems, including GLEMEDS, have persisted for birds in Green Bay, WI. During 1983, congenital abnormalities, including crossed bills, were observed in herring gulls, common terns, double-crested cormorants, and Virginia rails (*Rallus limicola*) in Green Bay (Gilbertson 1989). During the same year, Kubiak *et al.* (1989) performed egg-switching experiments between Forster's terns colonies on Lower Green Bay and Lake Poygan, an inland control site. PCBs were the only contaminants present at concentrations high enough to cause the intrinsic (developmental effects) and extrinsic effects (parental inattentiveness) that were demonstrated by the egg-switching. "Dirty" eggs incubated by "dirty" adults had a hatching success that was 75% lower than that of "clean" eggs incubated by "clean" adults. This study was the first investigation to analyze PCB residues in tissues of Great Lakes birds on a congener-specific basis. Two PCB congeners, 2,3,3′,4,4′- and 3,3′,4,4′,5-pentachlorobiphenyl (PCB nos. 105 and 126), appeared to occur at particularly high concentrations. The toxicity of these congeners, like other coplanar PCBs and TCDD, is mediated through the Ah receptor (Safe 1990). Kubiak *et al.* (1989) measured egg concentrations of specific PCB congeners, and then multiplied the concentration of each congener by a toxicity equivalency factor (a measure of toxicity relative to that of 2,3,7,8-TCDD, the most toxic compound that acts via the Ah receptor). They then calculated total TCDD-equivalence values based on the sum of the individual toxicities for each congener.

Another outbreak of GLEMEDS has been observed in double-crested cormorants and Caspian terns at contaminated sites in the upper Great Lakes, with particularly high frequencies of abnormalities in Upper Green Bay, Lake Michigan, and Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron (Gilbertson et al. 1991, Ecological Research Services 1991, Fox et al. 1991). Although this outbreak first was documented in 1986, it may have dated back to before 1967, which was the last year during which Caspian terns bred in Saginaw Bay until the early 1980's. Although double-crested cormorant populations have been exploding throughout much of the Great Lakes basin during the past decade, they have been experiencing extremely high frequencies of abnormalities in Upper Green Bay and did not successfully breed in Saginaw Bay until 1991. Fox et al. (1991) found that the frequency of bill defects in live double-crested cormorants was 52.1 abnormalities/10,000 chicks in Green Bay and 12.3/10,000 in the Beaver Islands (Lake Michigan) as compared to only 0.6/10,000 at reference colonies in the Canadian prairies. Dr. James P. Ludwig found an incidence of 1 bill defect/1000 Lake Michigan cormorant chicks, but found a frequency of 11.5/1000 eggs, leading to a total incidence of 12.5 bill defects/1000. Frequencies of other defects ranged from 2/1000 to 195/1000 in dead cormorant eggs (Gilbertson et al. 1991). Similar rates of defects were observed in Caspian terns. Such analyses are underestimates

of true rates of deformities because deformities cannot be detected in embryos that have died before 10 days of development and in partially decomposed eggs. The incidence of GLEMEDS in Caspian terns increased dramatically following a 100-year flood event during 1986 in Saginaw Bay. This flood mobilized highly contaminated sediments, causing an increase in PCB concentrations and reproductive and developmental problems (Ludwig *et al.* 1993).

Much research effort has been put into the development of *in vitro* bioassays to measure the TCDD-equivalent activity of environmental samples containing complex mixtures HAHs. One *in vitro* assay for TCDD-equivalents looks at the induction of specific cytochrome P-450 activity in rat hepatoma cells that are cultured in extracts containing HAHs (Tillitt *et al.* in press). The *in vitro* induction takes into account any synergistic, antagonistic, or additive effects that may occur in complex mixtures of HAHs. An alternative method that does not take into account interactive effects is to calculate total TCDD-equivalents by measuring concentrations of specific congeners and multiplying by toxicity equivalence factors. These toxicity equivalency factors are determined by comparing the LC_{50} or EC_{50} of each congener to that of TCDD in a variety of laboratory experiments (Safe 1990).

By using this *in vitro* induction assay for extracts of eggs from double-crested cormorants and Caspian terns, Tillitt *et al.* (1989, 1991) found that colonies with greater reproductive problems (Green Bay, WI, and Saginaw Bay, MI) had the highest concentrations of TCDD-equivalents. Other studies showed that the incidence of congenital abnormalities and other pathologies in double-crested cormorant embryos and chicks was strongly correlated with TCDD-equivalents (Ecological Research Services 1991; Giesy *et al.* 1994). During 1986-1988, Tillitt *et al.* (1992) collected eggs from 10 double-crested

cormorant colonies in the Great Lakes basin and from one control colony in Manitoba, Canada. They also monitored hatching success at these colonies. They used the rat hepatoma assay for TCDD-equivalents. They found a statistically significant negative correlation between total PCB concentrations and reproductive success (r=-0.56, p=0.045). However, the correlation between TCDD-equivalents and reproductive success was much stronger (r=-0.84, p=0.003). The authors noted that total PCB concentrations have declined 10 to 100 times from the mid 1960's, but now these concentrations have appeared to reach a steady state-- atmospheric inputs and internal cycling are balancing degradation. However, the PCB congeners that are found today in fish-eating birds are the more toxic forms with high TCDD-like activity. Indeed, Tillitt et al. (1992) found that the relative potencies of extracts from Great Lakes double-crested cormorant eggs were 3-4 times greater than the potencies of any PCB technical standards, which represent the mixtures originally released into the environment. This study provides the first clear documentation of relative enrichment of toxicity in PCB mixtures in Great Lakes wildlife. These more toxic congeners are more resistant to degradation and (or) are preferentially accumulated through the food web. Thus, although the negative impacts of DDT have decreased, PCBs are still a major concern for animals and people who eat fish from contaminated sites in the Great Lakes.

Although populations of herring gulls and Caspian terns have recovered on a basinwide scale, the three species of Great Lakes terns (common, Caspian, Forster's) are exhibiting population-level effects in many areas. Long-term banding studies show that Caspian terns hatched on contaminated U.S. colonies (Green Bay and Saginaw Bay) return to breed at a rate less than half of that for terns hatched on cleaner Canadian colonies (Ludwig 1979, Mora *et al.* 1993). Indeed, the breeding population on these U.S. colonies is supported by influx of young adult terns hatched on Canadian colonies. Similar population-level effects likely are occurring in other species, but there are less long-term banding data on which to test this hypothesis.

Summary

Extensive research spanning three decades has suggested numerous effects of environmental contaminants on fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. During the 1960's and early 1970's, DDT and PCBs were the most important contaminants affecting Great Lakes wildlife on a regional scale. DDE-induced eggshell thinning was shown conclusively to be a causative factor in population declines of bald eagles and doublecrested cormorants. The effects of PCBs and dioxins were less clear, although outbreaks of chick edema disease were probably caused by PCBs and (or) dioxins. Since the ban on many organochlorines, populations of some affected birds have recovered on the regional scale, but contaminants still cause problems, especially in heavily polluted areas. While the negative impacts of DDT have decreased, PCBs are still a cause for concern, especially since highly toxic PCB congeners with dioxin-like activity are accumulating in fish-eating birds. Continued monitoring using biomarkers of contaminant effects is important for assessing the effects of contaminants on the health of the Great Lakes ecosystem.

Immunosuppression Caused by Contaminants Found in the Great Lakes

Given this persistent problem of coplanar PCB congeners, it is important to realize that PCBs and other HAHs suppress normal immune function in laboratory birds and mammals at concentrations comparable to those found in wild birds and mammals frequenting Great Lakes areas. Excellent reviews have been provided by Silkworth and Vecchi 1985, Thomas and Faith 1985, Luster *et al.* 1987, and Vos and Luster 1989. Effects often are more evident when developing embryos and young are exposed to contaminant concentrations lower than those needed to cause similar effects in adults (Thomas and Faith 1985, Vos *et al.* 1989). These effects on the developing immune system often persist long after exposure (Takagi *et al.* 1987, Holladay and Luster 1994). In addition to HAHs, other industrial chemicals as well as heavy metals and pesticides have immunotoxic effects in laboratory animals (Koller 1979, Caren 1981, Luster *et al.* 1987, Vos *et al.* 1989, Wong *et al.* 1992, Pruett 1994). Many of these immunosuppressive chemicals pollute the Great Lakes. The following discussion briefly reviews the immunotoxic effects of HAHs.

Various HAHs exert toxic effects on the immune system. In birds, the thymus and bursa of Fabricius are important sites for the maturation of T and B lymphocytes (types of white blood cells), respectively. The spleen is an important site for interactions between pathogens and lymphocytes. In laboratory animals exposed to lethal and sublethal doses of TCDD, the most consistent effect is thymic atrophy, which is characterized by a depletion of lymphocytes in the thymic cortex (Vos and Luster 1989). Similar effects have been observed in laboratory animals dosed with PCBs, especially mixtures containing a high percentage of coplanar congeners (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972, Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Vos and Luster 1989). Harris *et al.* (1976) observed decreased spleen and bursa of Fabricius masses in the offspring of chicken hens fed PCBs. Although bursa mass was decreased, PCBs did not suppress the antibody response to *Brucella abortus*. Thymus masses were not reported. Coplanar PCBs and TCDD have produced dose-

dependent decreases in the number of viable lymphocytes in the thymus and bursa of Fabricius of chicken embryos that developed in eggs injected with coplanar HAHs (Nikolaidis et al. 1988a,b, Andersson et al. 1991). The number of lymphocytes was decreased in bursae that had been removed from a chicken embryo, exposed to TCDD or 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene, and implanted into the chorioallantoic membrane of another embryo (Nikolaidis et al. 1990). Although the number of lymphocytes in the bursa was decreased, the bursal epithelium showed essentially normal development when examined microscopically. In chicken embryos, PCB congener #126 induces the activity of EROD in thymic and bursal tissue, demonstrating that these organs are targets for Ahreceptor-mediated toxicity (Lorr et al. 1992). At the same dose, EROD was approximately four times higher in the thymus than the bursa, suggesting that the thymus is more sensitive than the bursa to toxic effects mediated by the Ah receptor. At relatively high doses that produce other toxic effects, TCDD and PCBs can cause changes in the numbers of circulating lymphocytes (Vos and Van-Driel Grootenhuis 1972, Vos and Luster 1989). Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin also has caused changes in serum protein profiles, including decreased immunoglobulin concentrations (Loose et al. 1977, Sharma et al. 1978, Thomas and Hinsdill 1978, Hinsdill et al. 1980). It also has produced decreased hematocrit values, which indicate anemia (Hinsdill et al. 1980).

Humoral immunity involves the production of antibodies against foreign substances, including many pathogens. These antibodies help other components of the immune system to identify and destroy pathogens. The major effect of HAHs on humoral immune function is the suppression of the antibody response after acute exposure in adult animals. Tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and PCBs decrease antibody production and the number of antibody producing lymphocytes following challenge with an antigen (Sharma *et* al. 1978; Thomas and Hinsdill 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983;
Silkworth and Grabstein 1982; Silkworth et al. 1984; House et al. 1990; Kerkvliet et al.
1990b). These HAHs appear to act directly on B lymphocytes, preventing their
differentiation into antibody-producing plasma cells (Luster et al. 1988a).

Cell-mediated immunity involves the killing of pathogens or neoplastic cells by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Other T lymphocytes perform helper and suppressor functions, regulating other immunological reactions. The most profound effects of HAHs on cellmediated immunity occur upon exposure during growth and development of embryos and young animals. Such exposure reduces delayed-type hypersensitivity responses and in *vitro* proliferation of T lymphocytes, two important measures of cell-mediated immunity (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Sharma et al. 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983). Takagi et al. (1987) and Tomar et al. (1991) showed that PCBs suppressed helper T cell activity in mice. Effects of HAHs have been demonstrated at a number of steps in T cell development. Fine et al. (1990) demonstrated that TCDD reduced the activity of fetal liver and neonatal bone marrow prothymocytes in mice. TCDD also affects the maturation and selection of T lymphocytes in the developing thymus (Lundberg et al. 1990, Holladay et al. 1991), perhaps inhibiting the transition of CD4-CD8+ cells to CD4+CD8+ thymocytes (Blaylock et al. 1992). Greenlee et al. (1985) found that TCDD treatment in vitro reduced the ability of thymic epithelial cells to support proliferation of mitogen-stimulated lymphocytes. Neubert et al. (1991) showed a decrease in helper T cell numbers when lymphocytes from marmosets (Callithrix jacchus) and humans were cultured with TCDD, indicating direct effects on helper T cells. Similar reductions in helper T lymphocyte numbers have been observed in humans who have been exposed perinatally to PCBs, PCDDs (polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxins), and PCDFs

(polychlorinated dibenzo-furans) in arctic Quebec (Dewailly *et al.* 1993) and to TCDD in Times Beach, Missouri (Smoger *et al.* 1993). At Times Beach these effects persisted at least 10 years after the time period of highest exposure.

Hence, HAHs suppress a number of important immunological mechanisms, including antibody and cell-mediated responses. Given these effects on immune function, it is not surprising that laboratory animals exposed to HAHs have a reduced ability to combat infections. Halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons decrease resistance of laboratory mammals and birds to challenges with bacteria (Thomas and Hinsdill 1978, Vos et *al.* 1978, Hinsdill *et al.* 1980), viruses (Friend and Trainer 1970, Imanishi *et al.* 1980, Vos and Luster 1989, House *et al.* 1990), and protozoan parasites (Vos and Luster 1989). Children who have been exposed perinatally to PCBs, PCDDs, and PCDFs in arctic Quebec experienced an increased incidence of middle ear infections during the first year of life (Dewailly *et al.* 1993).

HAHs may have contributed to recent epizootics in marine mammals exposed to high concentrations of organochlorine pollutants. The disease outbreaks have occurred in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in the St. Lawrence Estuary (Martineau *et al.* 1988), California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*) on San Miguel Island (Gilmartin *et al.* 1976, Barinaga 1988), common seals (*Phoca vitulina*) in Europe (McGourty 1988), and bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in the Atlantic Ocean (Lahvis *et al.* 1995). Brouwer *et al.* (1989) fed PCB-contaminated fish from the Wadden Sea to common seals and found that these seals had lower plasma retinol, triiodothyronine, and total and free thyroxine as compared to seals fed relatively uncontaminated fish from the northeast Atlantic. They hypothesized that, since retinol is important for immune function, the outbreaks of viral disease in European seals could have been caused by PCB-induced retinol depletion. Several recent studies have lent support to this hypothesis. Harbor seals fed organochlorine-contaminated herring from the Baltic Sea had altered white blood cell counts and immune function (DeSwaart *et al.* 1994, Ross *et al.* 1995). Lahvis *et al.* (1995) found that T-cell immunity was inversely related to PCB and DDE contamination in male bottlenose dolphins from the Atlantic Ocean.

Many immunotoxic effects of HAHs are caused by coplanar congeners in animals that express the Ah receptor (Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Silkworth *et al.* 1984, Nagarkatti *et al.* 1984, Safe 1984, Luster *et al.* 1987, Vos and Luster 1989, Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990a,b). Such effects are less pronounced when coplanar HAHs are administered to animals that lack the Ah receptor and when noncoplanar HAHs are administered to animals that possess the Ah receptor. However, other studies have suggested that HAHs can suppress humoral immune function via a mechanism that is independent of the Ah receptor (Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990a,b; Davis and Safe 1991; Morris *et al.* 1992). Field evidence suggests that coplanar HAHs acting via the Ah receptor are associated with reproductive problems and various pathologies in Great Lakes birds (Tillitt *et al.* 1989, 1992; Ecological Research Services 1991), and it is probable that immunosuppression is occurring since it also arises, at least in part, by an Ah-receptor mechanism.

Rationale for Conducting this Study

Fish-eating birds such as herring gulls, Caspian terns, and double-crested cormorants serve as "sentinel" or bioindicator species and provide a good opportunity for studying effects of contaminants on immune systems. Their colonial nesting behavior allows access to large numbers of birds and potentially increases the exposure of individuals to pathogenic microorganisms. Their high position in the food web exposes them to elevated concentrations of HAHs and other persistent, fat-soluble chemicals. Biochemical and physiological indices have shown that many fish-eating birds, especially double-crested cormorants and Caspian terns, have been and continue to be impacted by pollutants in the Great Lakes, and they also may be experiencing immunosuppression. At highly contaminated sites in the Great Lakes, double-crested cormorants have an abnormally high incidence of eye infections (Ecological Research Services 1991). Caspian terns from highly contaminated U.S. colonies have lower rates of recruitment into the breeding population than those from less contaminated Canadian colonies (Ludwig 1979, Mora *et al.* 1993), suggesting contaminant-induced population effects possibly caused by immunosuppression. The occurrence of contaminant-induced immunosuppression has been suggested in herring gulls and common terns in contaminated sites in the Great Lakes (Colborn *et al.* 1990).

Although there is firm laboratory evidence for immunosuppression caused by a variety of contaminants, especially HAHs, very little effort has been directed to the rigorous study of immunological suppression in free-living animals. Recent studies have documented a number of pathologies in Great Lakes birds that are associated with coplanar PCBs and other TCDD congeners--precisely the congeners that have been shown to be powerful immunotoxins in laboratory studies. Hence, the effects of HAHs and other contaminants on the immune systems of Great Lakes birds warrant more rigorous study, especially since immunosuppression could have potentially drastic effects on waterbird population dynamics (i.e., reduced population growth or outright population declines associated with increased susceptibility to disease). Also, humans consuming Great Lakes fish may encounter similar health problems. This study was conducted in concert with
other biomonitoring efforts and provided the opportunity to test the effectiveness of using various immunological parameters as biomarkers for effects of contaminants in wildlife.

Objectives

The major objective of this project was to determine whether immune function is suppressed in herring gulls and Caspian terns exposed to contaminants, especially HAHs, in the Great Lakes. Understanding the effects of contaminants on individual survival is fundamental to predicting the effects on populations. The objectives stated here, while deliberately tightly focused, were proposed with a long-term goal of their application in understanding effects on population dynamics. To achieve the overall objective, a number of more specific objectives were set.

1. To determine whether the immune systems of herring gulls and Caspian terns are impaired by persistent environmental contaminants in the Great Lakes.

A. To quantify general immunological and hematological parameters in these fish-eating birds that are exposed to different types and magnitudes of environmental contamination.

B. To determine whether there are alterations in humoral and T cellmediated immune function in fish-eating birds exposed to varying degrees of environmental contamination. C. To evaluate potential immunotoxic effects using ecoepidemiological criteria.

2. To identify the contaminants (e.g., PCBs, TCDD, DDT) that are most likely responsible for immunosuppression in fish-eating birds in the Great Lakes.

3. To evaluate the use of various immunological tests as biomarkers for contaminant exposure in wild birds.

4. To quantify effects of contaminants on other physiological variables that may be related to immune function, including plasma concentrations of retinoids and thyroid hormones.

Ecoepidemiology and Risk Assessment

Given the rationale for conducting this study and the objectives stated above, it is important to consider the criteria by which to judge whether there is a causal relationship between contaminants and immunosuppression in Great Lakes fish-eating birds. Ecotoxicological studies can employ a combination of hypothesis testing and inductive reasoning to illustrate such relationships. Ecotoxicological studies can draw on a large data base of biological effects that have been demonstrated by hypothesis testing and manipulative experiments conducted under laboratory conditions. This laboratorygenerated data base does not exist for many other types of ecological research. In some situations, toxicologists can conduct true manipulative experiments in the field (i.e., by introducing a contaminant to a study area and comparing effects on treated vs. untreated areas). However, such a manipulative approach was not possible for the present study. However, specific hypotheses were tested by choosing appropriate study sites (i.e., by comparing reference sites with sites of various degrees of contamination).

Fox (1991) reviewed criteria for demonstrating causal relationships in ecotoxicological research. These criteria are drawn from principles of classical epidemiology. Fox defines ecoepidemiology as "the study of the ecological effects that are prevalent in certain localities or among certain population groups, communities, and ecosystems and their potential causes" (p. 362). For epidemiologists, establishing causation does not require that a factor is a necessary and sufficient condition to produce an effect. Rather, causal associations imply that a factor reduces the probability of the effect. Causal relationships in ecoepidemiology can be demonstrated by weighing seven criteria: probability, chronological relationship, strength of association, specificity, consistency of association upon replication, predictive performance, and coherence. The following discussion briefly describes how the present study used these criteria to examine the general hypothesis that environmental contaminants, especially HAHs, are associated with immunosuppression in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes.

Probability

Probability, or statistical significance, is one criterion for establishing a causal association. However, Fox (1991) notes that lack of a *statistically* significant relationship may not necessitate the rejection of an association, especially if there are other reasons for accepting a *biologically* significant relationship. In the present study, relationships between contaminants and immune function were examined by a variety of statistical methods,

including standard analysis of variance (ANOVA) or covariance (ANCOVA), the nonparametric Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives, and correlation. Following ANOVA analysis, multiple comparison techniques were used to compare immune function at contaminated sites to that at reference sites.

Strength of Association

Strength of association generally refers to the relative risk of exhibiting a given effect in a population exposed to the putative causal factor as compared to an unexposed population. It also can be thought of as "the degree to which the supposed cause and outcome coincide in their distribution" (Fox 1991:367). Strength of association often can be determined by examining the incidence and magnitude of a given effect across a gradient of exposures. The strong association of HAH contamination with the incidence of specific effects has been an important factor in linking effects to HAHs in Great Lakes wildlife. The expression of the biological activity of complex mixtures of HAHs as TCDD-equivalents has increased the strength of statistical relationships between HAHs and biological effects. For example, Tillitt *et al.* (1992) found an inverse correlation between total PCB concentrations and reproductive success (r=-0.56, p=0.045), but the correlation between TCDD-equivalents and reproductive success was much stronger (r=-0.84, p=0.003).

Specificity

Specificity can be examined from two perspectives. First, is the effect of interest produced *only* by the putative cause? In the present study, the fact that so many factors (nutrition, stressors, environmental factors) could have influenced immune function

weakened the usefulness of this criterion. However, if an association between contaminants and immunosuppression can be demonstrated even in the presence of these confounding factors, the argument for a causal relationship may in fact be strengthened. A second way to examine specificity is to ask whether the putative causal factor usually produces a given effect, even if it is not the only cause for that effect. Because immunosuppression is one of the most characteristic symptoms of HAH exposure, the second form of the specificity criterion was an important consideration in the present study.

Consistency Upon Replication

Replication is very important for the design of any study. Although replicate study sites for the present study could not be chosen randomly, sites were chosen to replicate degrees of contamination. Study sites were chosen so that there were at least two low and two high contamination sites for each species. Herring gulls were studied at reference sites outside the Great Lakes. Furthermore, Fox writes, "In ecoepidemiology, the occurrence of an association in more than one species and species population is very strong evidence for causation" (Fox 1991:368). This study attempted to replicate immunosuppressive effects by studying two species of fish-eating birds. Furthermore, immunological function was measured during three or four consecutive years at some sites, providing an opportunity to replicate among years.

Coherence

Like specificity, coherence can be examined in several ways. First, how does the relationship fit into the current body of biological knowledge? For this project, the wealth of information on the immunotoxic effects of HAHs in laboratory animals allowed adequate

evaluation of this criterion. Secondly, coherence refers to the presence of a dose-response relationship. Sampling across a contaminant gradient provided dose-response information. However, it is important to note that not all dose-response relationships must be linear--some may exhibit thresholds or sigmoidal or parabolic shapes. In the present study, the Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives was used to examine the relationship between immunological variables and organochlorine contamination, including TCDD-equivalents. The Jonckheere test detects monotonic trends in the response but does not prejudge the shape of the response (i.e., linear, exponential, etc.).

Time Order or Chronological Relationship

To demonstrate a causal relationship, the effect must be absent before the introduction of the causal factor. Unfortunately, there are no data on immune function in Great Lakes fish-eating birds before the era of pollution. However, in this study, birds were exposed to environmental contaminants before immunological variables were measured.

Predictive Performance

Based on laboratory data, a number of basic predictions were made regarding the effects of HAHs on immune function in fish-eating birds at sites with various degrees of contamination. The fulfillment of these predictions was a strong argument for a causal relationship between contaminants and immunosuppression. The Jonckheere test tested specific hypotheses that were predicted from experimental evidence and exposure data. The data gathered by this project hopefully will allow the formulation of more specific predictions that can be tested in the future.

Strategy for Statistical Analyses

The main strategy for statistical analysis was shaped by two factors: 1) the importance of testing specific hypotheses regarding the relationships between immunological variables and organochlorine contaminants, and 2) the great expense of congener-specific PCB analysis. Because of this expense, contaminant analyses could not be performed on tissues from individual birds. Instead, twelve eggs from each site or portions of the liver from each bird were pooled and homogenized. Contaminant concentrations were then measured in the pooled sample from each site. This approach allowed the sites to be ranked in order of contamination for various chemicals but did not allow individual birds to be ranked in the same manner.

Because contaminant concentrations were not measured in individual birds, standard regression or correlation techniques were not appropriate. However, the Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives provided an effective way to use the contaminant rankings by site. The null hypothesis for this nonparametric test states that there is no difference among the central tendencies from different sites (H_0 : $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = ... = \mu_n$). The alternative hypothesis is that there is a monotonic trend in the data based on *a priori* information (H_A : $\mu_1 \ge \mu_2 \ge \mu_3 ... \mu_n$, where at least one of the inequalities is a strict inequality). In this study, laboratory studies or other field data were used to predict the effects of various contaminants on each response variable whenever possible. If the direction of the trend for a variable could not be easily predicted from laboratory data, a two-way test was performed by running the Jonckheere test in both directions and doubling the P-value for the most significant trend. The following scale was used to describe the strength of the evidence against the null hypothesis: P>0.2, little or no evidence; 0.1<P<0.2, very weak evidence; 0.05<P<0.1, marginal evidence; 0.01<P<0.05, moderate evidence; 0.001<P<0.01, strong evidence; and P<0.001, very strong evidence.

Before the Jonckheere test was performed, ANOVA or ANCOVA was used to determine whether the response variable was influenced by factors such as site, year, sex, or any interactions. If the Jonckheere tests did not show any statistically significant trends, then ANOVA or ANCOVA followed by Duncan's multiple range test was used to look for differences among sites. Alpha was set at 0.05 for all judgements about pooling data across years or sexes.

Chapter 2. Immunological and Hematological Biomarkers for Environmental Contaminants in Herring Gulls (*Larus argentatus*) of the Great Lakes

Summary

This study explored the feasibility of using white blood cell counts and packed red cell volume (PCV) as immunological and hematological biomarkers for assessing the health of herring gulls, especially in relation to persistent environmental contaminants. If important structural components of the immunological and hematological systems are disrupted, it is likely that physiological functions also will be compromised. This study sought to determine whether the immunological and hematological systems of herring gull chicks and adults are affected by environmental contaminants, especially halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs), in the Great Lakes. In herring gull adults, total white blood cell counts were conducted at seven sites and differential counts at twelve sites. In adults, there was very strong evidence that total leukocyte and total heterophil numbers increased as liver concentrations of DDE increased and as liver activity of ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) decreased. Total lymphocytes increased as liver PCB concentrations increased. In adults, there was very strong evidence that the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio decreased as liver EROD increased. In herring gull chicks, total white blood cell counts were conducted at three sites and differential counts at ten sites. There was a very strong positive relationship between the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio and HG-TEQs (dioxin toxicity equivalents as calculated from herring gull-specific toxicity equivalency factors).

PCV was influenced by contaminants in both herring gull adults and chicks, although the magnitudes of these changes were not great. The values of the hematological variables measured in this study were similar to those from other studies on herring gulls and related species. This study showed alterations in white blood cell counts in Great Lakes herring gulls that were associated with environmental contaminants. Hematological variables are effective, economical, nondestructive biomarkers for assessing the health of wild birds.

Introduction

Biomarkers are biochemical, physiological, or histological changes that indicate effects of, or exposure, to toxic chemicals. The development of biomarkers for immunotoxic effects presents difficult problems because many laboratory assays for immune function involve sophisticated techniques such as cell culture that are not easily conducted during field investigations. This study explored the feasibility of using simpler structural measurements, namely white blood cell counts and packed red cell volume (PCV), as immunological and hematological biomarkers for assessing the health of wild birds. The connection between structure and function is one of the unifying themes in biology. White blood cell counts have been included as Tier I tests for screening chemicals for immunotoxic potential in the National Toxicology Program (Luster *et al.* 1988b, 1994). Although these simple tests often are less sensitive than direct tests of immune function, a significant alteration in white blood cell numbers usually is associated with abnormal immune function.

The immunosuppressive effects of halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs), which include polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin

(TCDD), and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-furan (TCDF), have been established by numerous laboratory studies. While most laboratory studies have used sophisticated assays for immune function, several studies have found that HAHs can change the number of circulating lymphocytes (Vos and Van-Driel Grootenhuis 1972, Vos and Luster 1989) and decreased PCV (Hinsdill et al. 1980). Low doses of HAHs characteristically suppress T cell-mediated immunity, especially in young animals. T lymphocytes mature in the thymus gland and are responsible for regulating immune responses and attacking virusinfected cells and malignant cells. In developing animals, low levels of HAHs cause thymic atrophy (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972, Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Nikolaidis et al. 1988a,b, Vos and Luster 1989, Andersson et al. 1991). Toxic effects have been observed at many stages of T lymphocyte development, including the prothymocyte stage in the bone marrow (Fine et al. 1990), thymocyte selection in the thymus (Greenlee et al. 1985, Lundberg et al. 1990, Holladay et al. 1991, Blaylock et al. 1992), and the mature T lymphocyte stage in the blood (Neubert et al. 1991). As a result, a number of T cell functions are suppressed (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Sharma et al. 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983; Takagi et al. 1987; Tomar et al. 1991). B lymphocytes develop in the bursa of Fabricius in birds and the bone marrow in most mammals. B lymphocytes respond to foreign antigens by producing specific antibodies, which help destroy invading microorganisms. High doses of HAHs suppress antibody production in laboratory animals (Sharma et al. 1978; Thomas and Hinsdill 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983; Silkworth and Grabstein 1982; Silkworth et al. 1984; Luster et al. 1988a, House et al. 1990; Kerkvliet et al. 1990b). HAHs appear to exert their toxic effects on the immune system primarily through Ah-receptor-dependent mechanisms (Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Silkworth et

al. 1984, Nagarkatti *et al.* 1984, Safe 1984, Luster *et al.* 1987, Vos and Luster 1989, Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990a,b), although mechanisms independent of the *Ah*-receptor also are involved (Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990a,b, Davis and Safe 1991, Morris *et al.* 1992). In laboratory mammals and birds, these immunosuppressive effects of HAHs increase susceptibility to bacteria (Thomas and Hinsdill 1978, Vos et *al.* 1978, Hinsdill *et al.* 1980), viruses (Friend and Trainer 1970, Imanishi *et al.* 1980, Vos and Luster 1989, House *et al.* 1990), and protozoan parasites (Vos and Luster 1989).

HAHs may have contributed to epizootics in marine mammals exposed to high concentrations of organochlorine pollutants. The disease outbreaks have occurred in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in the St. Lawrence Estuary (Martineau *et al.* 1988), California sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*) on San Miguel Island (Gilmartin *et al.* 1976, Barinaga 1988), common seals (*Phoca vitulina*) in Europe (McGourty 1988), and bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in the Atlantic Ocean (Lahvis *et al.* 1995). Brouwer *et al.* (1989) fed PCB-contaminated fish from the Wadden Sea to common seals and found that these seals had lower plasma retinol, triiodothyronine, and total and free thyroxine concentrations. They hypothesized that since retinol is important for immune function, the outbreaks of viral disease in European seals could have been caused by PCB-induced retinol depletion. Several recent studies have supported this hypothesis. Harbor seals fed organochlorine-contaminated herring from the Baltic Sea had altered white blood cell counts and immune function (DeSwaart *et al.* 1994, Ross *et al.* 1995). Lahvis *et al.* (1995) found that T-cell immunity was inversely related to PCB and DDE contamination in male bottlenose dolphins from the Atlantic Ocean.

Fish-eating colonial waterbirds are excellent candidate sentinel species for immunotoxicological assessments in the Great Lakes basin. Their high position in the food

web exposes them to high concentrations of contaminants that biomagnify, such as HAHs. Numerous studies have documented significant reproductive, developmental, and behavioral impacts of these chemicals (Peakall et al. 1980; Mineau et al. 1984; Fox and Weseloh 1987; Peakall and Fox 1987; Gilbertson 1988, 1989; Peakall 1988; Colborn et al. 1990; Fox et al. 1991; Gilbertson et al. 1991; Fox 1993). At sites that are highly contaminated with PCBs, colonial waterbirds have experienced severe developmental effects that include high embryonic mortality, subcutaneous, pericardial, and peritoneal edema, congenital deformities, growth retardation, hepatomegaly, liver necrosis, and liver porphyria (Gilbertson 1989). Gilbertson et al. (1991) named this set of symptoms Great Lakes embryo mortality, edema, and deformities syndrome (GLEMEDS). Furthermore, Caspian terns hatched at highly contaminated Great Lakes sites show a low recruitment rate into the breeding population (Ludwig 1979, Mora et al. 1993). Immunotoxic effects of environmental contaminants could contribute to these impacts on populations. The dense nesting conditions of colonial waterbirds promote the transfer of infectious diseases among individuals, and histopathological analysis of apparently healthy and sick colonial waterbirds shows the presence of many infectious microorganisms and parasites. At highly contaminated sites in the Great Lakes, double-crested cormorants (*Phalacrocorax* auritus) have an abnormally high incidence of eye infections associated with Pasteurella multocida (Ecological Research Services 1991).

Several studies have attempted to use hematological variables to assess the health of wild and captive birds. Iturri (1974) found that PCV, red blood cell counts, and blood hemoglobin concentration displayed similar decreases in chickens fed various mixtures of PCBs. Rocke and Samuel (1991) reported that mallard ducks (*Anas platyrhynchos*) exposed to lead shot experienced decreases in white blood cell counts and PCV. Grasman

and Scanlon (1995) found that lead influenced differential white blood cell counts and decreased PCV in Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix*). Averbeck (1991, 1992) found that PCV, red blood cell count, and blood hemoglobin concentration showed similar decreases in sick herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) and great black-backed gulls (*L. marinus*) as compared to healthy gulls. White blood cell counts did not differ between healthy and sick gulls. Leighton (1984) reported that ingestion of crude oil increased the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio in herring gull chicks.

This study sought to determine whether the immunological and hematological systems of herring gull chicks and adults are affected by persistent environmental contaminants, especially HAHs, in the Great Lakes. Severe organochlorine contamination might suppress leukocyte and erythrocyte counts and alter relative numbers of leukocyte types. Alternatively, immunosuppression caused by environmental contaminants or other factors might lead to chronic infections that would increase leukocyte counts. This study examined the usefulness of hematological biomarkers for monitoring effects of contaminants, and it compared these hematological biomarkers to several common biochemical biomarkers related to immune function and (or) contaminant exposure.

Materials and Methods

Sampling Design

Study sites were chosen across a wide range of organochlorine contamination (Table 2.1). Adult herring gulls were sampled from eleven sites within the Great Lakes (Fig. 2.1.A): 1) an officially unnamed island (Pump Station Island) near Jackfish Bay, northern Lake Superior; 2) Granite Island in Black Bay, north shore of Lake Superior; 3)

Gull Island in upper Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 4) Kidney Island in lower Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 5) Confined Disposal Facility in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron; 6) Chantry Island, southeastern Lake Huron; 7) Fighting Island, in the Detroit River; 8) Middle Island, western Lake Erie; 9) Middle Sister Island, western Lake Erie; 10) Hamilton Harbour, western Lake Ontario; and 11) Scotch Bonnet Island, eastern Lake Ontario. Twenty-eightday-old herring gull chicks were collected from nine Great Lakes sites (Fig. 2.1.B): 1) an officially unnamed island (Pump Station Island) near Jackfish Bay, northern Lake Superior; 2) Gull Island in Upper Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 3) Double Island in the North Channel of Lake Huron; 4) Little Charity Island in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron; 5) Chantry Island, southeastern Lake Huron; 6) Monroe, western shore of Lake Erie; 7) Hamilton Harbour, western shore of Lake Ontario; 8) Scotch Bonnet Island, eastern Lake Ontario; and 9) Stracken Island, St. Lawrence River. For both ages of herring gulls, two reference sites outside the Great Lakes were sampled: Kent Island in the Bay of Fundy off Canada's Atlantic coast; and Pony Island, in the northern end of Lake Winnipeg, Manitoba. Total white blood cell counts were conducted at seven sites for adults and three sites for chicks. Differential white blood cell counts were not made on adults at Middle Sister Island and chicks from Monroe, Lake Erie. Adult gulls were sampled during 1993 at Middle Sister Island. Chicks were collected during 1992 at Double Island, Stracken Island, and Monroe. All other collections were made during the 1991 breeding season.

Adult herring gulls were captured by drop-trapping over nests during midincubation. Prior to trapping, eggs were floated to determine the buildup of air inside the egg and hence the approximate stage of incubation. Herring gull chicks were randomly selected and captured at the approximately 28 days of age. Approximately ten birds of each age were collected at each of the study sites listed above. For several sites, 15-20 birds were collected to determine whether sample sizes larger than ten provide significantly greater sensitivity for biomonitoring. An effort was made to collect equal numbers of adult males and females from each site.

Hematology

A blood sample (approximately 11 ml) was drawn from the brachial vein using a 22 gauge needle and Vacutainer® tubes (Beckton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ). Seven ml of blood were drawn into a tube containing dry sodium heparin and 4 ml into a tube containing dry potassium EDTA. Two blood smears were made quickly from the blood collected in EDTA. The heparinized blood was centrifuged immediately at 2575×g for five minutes, and the plasma was stored on liquid nitrogen for vitamin A and thyroxine analysis. The PCV was measured by centrifuging microhematocrit tubes filled with blood collected in EDTA at 5125×g for 5 minutes in a clinical centrifuge equipped with a hematocrit rotor.

The blood collected in EDTA was kept on ice until a total white blood cell count was completed, usually on the same day as collection. Dilutions were made with standard 101-1 erythrocyte pipettes in modified Natt and Herrick's diluent following the procedures of Gross (1984). Leukocytes were counted under a Neubauer hemacytometer at 400× magnification.

Blood smears were air-dried and fixed in methanol to preserve the cells until staining. Smears were stained with Wright stain (Accustain[™], Sigma, St. Louis, MO) using 100% stain for 30 seconds and then diluting with an equal volume of distilled water for 90 seconds. Smears were rinsed with distilled water and allowed to air dry. Two hundred white blood cells were counted and classified using oil immersion microscopy at

37

1000× magnification. The total number of each type of white blood cell was determined by multiplying its percentage from the differential count by the total leukocyte count.

Dissection and Tissue Preservation

Before dissection, the body size of each gull was determined by measuring body mass, head length, bill depth, foot length, and, in chicks, wing chord (Fox et al. 1981). All chicks of appropriate size and all adults were sacrificed by decapitation using a guillotine and allowed to bleed out fully. The liver was quickly removed. The left lobe of the liver was later to be used for ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) analysis. This lobe was wrapped in high density polyethylene film, placed in 20 ml polyethylene scintillation vials, and preserved in liquid nitrogen within ten minutes after death. The concentrations of vitamin A, highly carboxylated porphyrin, and organochlorine contaminants were to be measured in the right lobe. Eight 1 gram samples of the right lobe of the liver were placed in 1 ml vials and preserved in liquid nitrogen for biomarker analysis. The remainder of the right lobe of the liver was placed in an acetone-hexane-rinsed glass jar and transported to the laboratory on wet ice before freezing at -20 °C prior to organochlorine analysis. The gonads, liver, adrenal glands, thyroid glands, and spleen of each bird were preserved in a neutral buffered formalin solution (10%). The thymus gland and bursa of Fabricius in chicks also were preserved in this fashion. In the laboratory, the thyroids, adrenals, spleen, thymus, and bursa were trimmed from associated connective tissue, blotted, and weighed to the nearest 0.01 g. Standard paraffin sections of the spleen, thymus, bursa, and liver were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and examined by avian histopathologists using standard histopathological techniques.

Biochemical Biomarkers

Vitamin A compounds in the liver were extracted from 0.3-0.5 g liver samples and dehydrated by grinding with anhydrous sodium sulphate. Powder equivalent to 0.20 g of liver was combined with 8-20 ng of retinyl acetate in 20 μ l of 2-propanol as an internal standard. Retinoids were extracted in 10 ml of dichloromethane:methanol (1:9) by repeated shaking and liberation of pressure for 5 minutes. The extract was centrifuged at 600 rpm and 10 °C for 10 minutes. An aliquot of the supernatant was filtered through a 0.20 or 0.45 μ m filter disk. The final extract (20 μ l) was analyzed by nonaqueous reverse-phase HPLC.

Plasma retinol was extracted from 100 μ l of plasma after the addition of 75 ng of retinyl acetate in 15 μ l of 2-propanol as an internal standard. Retinol-protein complexes were dissociated by vigorous shaking after the addition of 200 μ l of acetonitrile. The retinol was extracted with successive 4 and 1 ml volumes of hexane. After shaking for 5 minutes, the organic and aqueous phases were separated by centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes at 4 °C. The organic phase was dried under nitrogen, reconstituted with 500 μ l of methanol, and filtered through a 0.2 μ m PVDF filter disk.

The liver and plasma extracts were analyzed for vitamin A compounds by reversephase HPLC using an ODS spheri-5 guard column (Brownlee) and a 15 cm long, 5 μ m ODS Zorbax (DuPont) analytical column. For the liver extract, the methanol and dichloromethane were used to resolve the retinoids in less than 10 minutes. Methanol was used to separate the retinoids in the plasma extract in less than 6 minutes. Either fluorescence (ex: 336 nm; em: 480 nm) or UV-visible (326 nm) was used to detect the retinoids. The detection limits were 5 μ g/L retinol in plasma, 0.4 μ g/g retinol in liver, and 1.2 μ g/g retinyl palmitate in liver. The left lobe of each liver was homogenized, and microsomes were isolated following the procedure of Pyykko (1983). The catalytic activity of EROD in the liver was determined using the methods of Kennedy and Jones (1994) optimized for herring gull liver microsomes. Highly carboxylated porphyrins were measured in liver tissue following the procedure of Kennedy and James (1993). In plasma samples from adults, total thyroxine was measured using a solid phase enzyme assay (veterinary modification of the EZ Bead T4 Test, Immunotech Corp, Boston, MA).

Organochlorine Analyses

The 10-20 individual liver samples collected for each age and site were pooled for organochlorine analysis by the analytical services laboratory at the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service following the methods of Peakall *et al.* (1986). PCB residues are reported as the sum of the following 42 PCB congeners: IUPAC nos. 28, 31, 42, 44, 49, 52, 60, 64, 66, 70, 74, 87, 97, 99, 101, 105, 110, 118, 128, 129, 137, 138, 141, 146, 149, 151, 153, 158, 170, 171, 172, 174, 180, 182, 183, 185, 194, 195, 200, 201, 203, and 206.

Nonortho PCB congeners (IUPAC nos. 37,77,126, and 169) and all 2,3,7,8substituted polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxin (PCDD) and polychlorinated dibenzo-furan (PCDF) congeners also were measured in pooled liver samples by the analytical services laboratory of the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service. Pooled liver samples were dried with anhydrous sodium sulphate and ground into a fine powder. An open chromatographic column wet-packed with multiple absorbents (anhydrous sodium sulphate, deactivated silica, sulfuric acid on silica, activated silica, and sodium hydroxide on silica) was used for the initial extraction and cleanup. The sample was spiked with a ¹³C PCDD mixture (Cambridge Isotope Laboratories) and a ¹³C PCB 77, 126, and 169 mixture (Wellington Isotope Laboratories) to determine the degree of analyte loss during sample workup. The column was eluted using 1:1 dichloromethane/hexane, and the eluted extract was concentrated by evaporation. A liquid chromatograph (FMS Systems Inc.) with a carbon column was used for further cleanup and trace enrichment. The carbon column was flushed with dichloromethane and backflushed with toluene. The eluent was concentrated by evaporation, and the solvent was changed to hexane. After concentration by evaporation, the extract was cleaned up and separated on a deactivated Florisil column wet packed in hexane. The column was first eluted with 1:20 dichloromethane/hexane for nonortho PCB analysis. The column was then eluted with dichloromethane to produce a second fraction that was cleaned up on a wet packed, activated basic alumina column (Fisher Scientific). The alumina column was eluted with 1:50 dichloromethane:hexane to produce a fraction containing residual PCBs and other organochlorines. The column was then eluted with 1:1 dichloromethane:hexane to produce a fraction for PCDD/PCDF analysis. A Hewlett-Packard 5971A GC/MSD was used to separate and quantify nonortho PCB, PCDD, and PCDF congeners. Detection limits were 75 pg/g for nonortho PCB congeners and approximately 0.5-25 pg/g for PCDD and PCDF congeners.

Because different HAH congeners have different relative toxicities, the total biological activity of a complex mixture of congeners cannot be estimated by adding the concentrations of the individual congeners. Furthermore, the relative toxicities of different congeners vary from species to species. Kennedy *et al.* (1994) used *in vitro* induction of EROD activity in primary hepatocyte cultures from 26 day old herring gull embryos to compare the relative toxicities of TCDD, TCDF, and various PCBs. Based on the EC₅₀ for

EROD induction, different HAH congeners could be compared to TCDD, the most toxic congener. The following herring gull-specific toxicity equivalency factors (TEFs) were generated: TCDD = 1.0; TCDF = 0.9; PCB congener # 169 = 0.07, PCB congener #126 = 0.06; PCB congeners # 77, #105, #118=0. Multiplying the concentration of each congener by its TEF and then summing the products gave an estimate of the total dioxin-like toxicity of the mixture for herring gulls. This estimate was called HG-TEQs, which stands for herring gull-specific TCDD-equivalents.

Statistical Analyses

The primary goal of this investigation was to determine whether there was an association between the degree of organochlorine contamination and immunological variables in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. The purpose was to determine whether intercolony differences in immunological variables could be explained by exposure-response relationships. Statistical methods were needed to determine the probability that the spatial patterns in response variables were associated with different pollutants as opposed to being caused by random events. The purpose was not to show what percent of variability in immunological responses could be explained statistically by particular chemicals. Because detailed organochlorine analyses are expensive and require large volumes of blood, contaminant concentrations were not measured in individual chicks. However, chemical analysis of pooled liver samples from each site allowed the sites to be ranked on the basis of concentrations of different contaminants.

Statistical methods were chosen to meet this primary goal of associating immunological variables with pollutants and to work within the constraints of pooled chemical analyses. Regression analysis was not appropriate because of its emphasis on explaining variability using linear models and its need for chemical analyses on individual birds. Although analysis of variance (ANOVA) could detect spatial differences in immune responses among sites, it was not appropriate because it could not be used to look for associations across gradients of contamination.

The Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives was used as the primary statistical method of testing specific hypotheses about contaminant-associated immunosuppression (Hollander and Wolfe 1973). This test fit the purpose and design of the study as well as the constraints on chemical analysis. The null hypothesis for this nonparametric measure of exposure-response states that there is no difference among the central tendencies from different sites (H₀: $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \dots = \mu_n$). The alternative hypothesis is that there is a monotonic trend (not necessarily linear) in the data based on *a priori* information (H_A: μ_1 $\geq \mu_2 \geq \mu_3 \dots \mu_n$, where at least one of the inequalities is a strict inequality). The direction of the trends for PCV and white blood cell counts could not be easily predicted from laboratory data, so a two-way test was performed by running the Jonckheere test in both directions and doubling the P-value for the most significant trend. Severe immunosuppression could have caused leukopenia, or recurring infections caused by immunosuppression could have caused leukocytosis. The following variables were used to order the study sites: liver concentrations of total PCBs, DDE, and calculated HG-TEQs; and liver EROD activity. The Jonckheere test was performed using a custom-written FORTRAN program (B. Collins, Senior Statistician, Canadian Wildlife Service) using the algorithm provided by Gibbons (1971). This program determined probability values based on 5000 random permutations of the data set being analyzed. These probability values were very similar to those found by the large sample normal approximation for the Jonckheere test (Hollander and Wolfe 1973).

While the Jonckheere test was the primary statistical test, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to for two purposes. First, ANOVA was used to determine whether the response variable was influenced by sex or a sex × site interaction in adults. If there was no statistically significant sex or a sex × site interaction effect (P<0.05), then data were pooled across years for the Jonckheere test. Second, if the Jonckheere test revealed no significant relationships with contaminants, then ANOVA was used to look for differences among sites. For ANOVA analyses, the heterophil/lymphocyte ratios were transformed (log₁₀) to satisfy assumptions of homogenous variances and normality (Zar 1984). This transformation also was used for the Jonckheere and correlation tests. Organ masses were converted to percent of body mass before statistical analyses.

Relationships between the various biomarkers were detected using Pearson's correlation analysis. Statistically significant correlations (P<0.05) were reported only if the absolute value of the correlation coefficient (r) was greater than 0.3.

Results

Organochlorine Concentrations and EROD Activity

Organochlorine contaminants reached higher concentrations in herring gull adults than chicks (Tables 2.1 and 2.2). Minimum concentrations were 15.1× greater in adults for PCBs, 4.9× greater for HG-TEQs, and 19.7× greater for DDE. Maximum concentrations were 4.7× greater in adults for PCBs, 9.4× greater for HG-TEQs, and 2.7× greater for DDE. Although concentrations were generally higher in adults, the gradient from least to most contaminated sites was greater in chicks for PCBs and DDE. From the least to most contaminated herring gull chick livers, there was a 42.1× increase in PCBs, a 26.4× increase in HG-TEQs, and an 80.3× increase in DDE. In adults, there was a 13.2× increase in PCBs, a 50.4× increase in HG-TEQs, and a 12.5× increase in DDE. PCB, HG-TEQ, and DDE concentrations in livers of chicks from Upper Green Bay were much higher than those from Saginaw Bay, which was the next most contaminated site. Livers from adults from Middle Island in Lake Erie had an extremely high value for calculated HG-TEQs. This value was driven by a high concentration of PCB congener #126.

EROD activity was higher in adults than in chicks (1.8× for minimum values, 1.5× for maximum values). Maximum induction for both chicks and adults occurred at Hamilton Harbour in Lake Ontario. From the lowest to highest values, chicks showed an increase of 11.6× and adults showed an increase of 9.5×. Over the entire exposure range, mean EROD activity was not correlated with PCBs (r_{11} =-0.12, P=0.72 for chicks, r_{13} =- 0.06, P=0.84). However, EROD activity was positively correlated with PCB concentration at lower exposures. Mean EROD activity increased with PCBs up to 1.0 µg/g in chicks (r_7 =0.92, P=0.004) and up to 10 µg/g in adults(r_6 =0.90, P=0.015). Above these concentrations, mean EROD decreased in chicks and was variable in adults.

Immunological and Hematological Biomarkers

Total white blood cell counts were associated with spatial variation in environmental contaminants in adult herring gulls but not in chicks (Tables 2.3 and 2.4). In adults, there was little or no evidence that sex influenced any of the white blood cell variables. There was very strong evidence that total leukocytes and total heterophils increased as liver concentrations of DDE increased and as liver EROD decreased (Table 2.4; Fig. 2.2). Total lymphocytes increased as liver PCB concentrations increased (Table 2.4; Fig. 2.3). Total white blood cell counts were conducted on chicks at three sites. There was no evidence

that contaminants influenced numbers of total leukocytes, total heterophils, or total lymphocytes (Table 2.3). There was no evidence that these parameters differed among sites ($F_{2,22}$ =0.029, P=0.97 for total leukocytes; $F_{2,22}$ =0.035, P=0.97 for total heterophils; $F_{2,22}$ =0.025, P=0.78; Table 2.5).

Differential white blood cell counts differed among sites in both chicks and adults. In chicks, there was a very strong positive relationship between HG-TEQs and the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio (Table 2.3, Fig. 2.4). In adults, there was very strong evidence that the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio decreased as liver EROD increased (Table 2.4; Fig. 2.5).

PCV was influenced by contaminants in both herring gull adults and chicks, although the magnitudes of these effects were not great (Tables 2.5 and 2.6). In chicks, there was strong evidence that PCV increased with EROD (Table 2.3). However, all but two sites had PCVs in the range of 29-33%. Pony Island on Lake Winnipeg was lower at 27% and Double Island on Lake Huron was higher at 36%. In adults, there was moderate evidence that female gulls had lower PCVs than males ($F_{1,134}$ =6.14, P=0.014). However, the magnitude of this effect was small: across all sites the mean PCV was 42.5% for females and 43.5% for males. When data for males and females were pooled, there was only moderate evidence that PCV decreased as DDE increased (Tables 2.4 and 2.6).

Relationships among Hematological Biomarkers, Biochemical Biomarkers, and Organ Masses

Pearson's correlation analysis was used to explore relationships among biomarkers (Table 2.7). The objective was to determine whether there were any associations between

different immunological and hematological parameters and whether any biochemical biomarkers could serve as surrogates for immunological biomarkers.

Hematological variables showed few correlations with biochemical biomarkers that indicate effects of, or exposure to, HAHs. In adult herring gulls, the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio (P<0.001) and total heterophils (P=0.009) showed negative correlations with porphyrins. Total white blood cell numbers were not correlated with porphyrins (P=0.18). Conversely, in herring gull chicks there was a strong positive correlation between highly carboxylated porphyrins and both total leukocyte and total heterophil counts (P<0.001 for both correlations). There was only marginal evidence for a correlation between the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio and porphyrins (P=0.058). There were no statistically significant correlations with other biochemical biomarkers (plasma thyroxine or plasma or liver vitamin A compounds) in either chicks or adults.

In herring gull chicks, as body size increased, the relative number of heterophils to lymphocytes decreased without affecting the total white blood cell count, although the total counts were conducted at only three sites. The heterophil to lymphocyte ratio was negatively correlated with body mass (P=0.006) and wing chord (P<0.001). PCV increased with body mass in chicks (P<0.001). No associations were evident among body size and hematological variables in adults.

In herring gull chicks, various white blood cell variables were correlated with the masses of some immune and endocrine organs. A single chick from Upper Green Bay had a bursa three times larger than any other chick. When this bird was excluded from analyses, there was no evidence for any correlations between bursa mass and total white blood cells (P=0.74) or total heterophils (P=0.77). Total white blood cell counts were not correlated with thymus mass (P=0.16). Lymphocyte counts (total or percent) showed no

correlation to bursa or thymus masses. The heterophil to lymphocyte ratio was negatively correlated with the thyroid mass (P=0.002). Thyroid mass was not correlated with total white blood cell counts (P=0.33). Adrenal mass was not correlated with any hematological variables in either chicks or adults.

Discussion

White blood cells provide important defenses against invading microorganisms and parasites that have penetrated the epithelial barriers. White blood cells can carry out their functions in the blood and associated lymphoid tissues, and they can move into infected or inflamed tissues. Nonspecific defenses include the phagocytic and cytotoxic activities of heterophils (in birds) and neutrophils (in mammals). Monocytes are white blood cells that turn into phagocytic macrophages when they move into the tissues. Natural killer (NK) cells are cytotoxic to invading microorganisms. Other white blood cells react only against those pathogens that specifically fit receptors on their cell surface. B lymphocytes react in this antigen-specific manner to produce antibodies. These soluble proteins help fight infections by activating the complement cascade, enhancing phagocytosis, and neutralizing bacterial toxins. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes kill virus-infected cells in an antigen-specific manner. Helper T lymphocytes regulate many different types of immune responses. Nonspecific defenses often provide an early line of defense while antigen-specific responses provide later, stronger responses that exhibit immunological memory. Alterations in total or relative white blood cell numbers could indicate either an immunological deficiency or an adaptive response to infections. Hence, white blood cell counts potentially are important biomarkers for the effects of environmental contaminants

on specific or nonspecific immunity. The present study provided evidence that organochlorine contaminants may influence hematological variables, but these effects were complicated by variability in responses between ages and by inconsistency in which measure of contamination had the greatest influence.

Coplanar HAHS, especially TCDD and some PCBs, bind to an intracellular receptor known as the aryl hydrocarbon (Ah) receptor, thereby inducing the expression of detoxification enzymes, including cytochrome P4501A (CYP1A). The activities of two CYP1A-associated enzymes, EROD and aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase (AHH), have been used as biomarkers for exposure to coplanar HAHs in colonial fish-eating waterbirds from the Great Lakes (Boersma *et al.* 1986, Hoffman *et al.* 1987; Fox 1993), British Columbia (Bellward *et al.* 1990, Sanderson *et al.* 1994), and the Netherlands and Belgium (Murk *et al.* 1992, Van den Berg *et al.* 1994). EROD activity is an integrated measure of exposure to a number of contaminants that act via the Ah-receptor. Contaminants other than HAHS, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, can induce EROD. In the present study, EROD activity was highest in both chicks and adults at Hamilton Harbour, Lake Ontario, a site where there is significant contamination with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from two large steel mills. In addition to influencing EROD activity, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons also are immunosuppressive agents and carcinogens (Luster *et al.* 1987).

In the present study, a positive relationship between PCB contamination and EROD activity held only for PCB exposures up to 1 μ g/g in livers of chicks (wet weight) and 10 μ g/g in livers of adults. Histological examination of liver tissues in adults revealed no lesions suggestive of hepatotoxicity at higher exposures. Organochlorines are metabolized by CYP1A and could compete with the ethoxyresorufin substrate in the EROD assay. However, analyses of a subset of the liver tissues from adult gulls in this study showed

that EROD activity was highly correlated with CYP1A protein as determined by immunoblot techniques (S. Kennedy, pers. commun.). Hence, low EROD activity was the result of low amounts of enzymatic protein and not inhibition of enzyme activity by alternate substrates. An important question raised by this study is what factors might have downregulated EROD activity at many of the sites with high HAH contamination?

One factor might be a genetic difference in Ah receptor expression and (or) activity. Polymorphism at the *Ah* gene locus makes some strains of laboratory animals more susceptible than others to Ah-receptor-active chemicals, including immunotoxic effects (Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Silkworth *et al.* 1984, Nagarkatti *et al.* 1984, Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990a,b). It is possible that at highly contaminated Great Lakes sites, Ah-receptormediated toxicity has selected for herring gulls that have low Ah receptor activity, leading to lower EROD activity than expected based solely on contamination. Activity of the Ah receptor and exposure to HAHs *both* are important for determining Ah-receptor-mediated effects, including immunotoxicity and EROD activity.

In this study, white blood cell counts showed relationships to organochlorine contaminants more frequently in adults than in chicks (Tables 2.3 and 2.4). In chicks, the only significant relationship was for an increased heterophil to lymphocyte ratio at higher concentrations of HG-TEQs. One site, the Lake Winnipeg reference site, did not fit this relationship. Gulls from this low contamination site had high heterophil to lymphocyte ratios. The high ratios may have been an artifact of poor quality blood smears, which caused clumping of heterophils. This outlier site was not eliminated because there was a strong association even when it was included. This relationship suggests that high HAH contamination alters white blood cell subpopulations in favor of heterophils over lymphocytes in chicks. Although these data might suggest a deficiency in producing

lymphocytes at high HAH exposures, no effects were seen on total white blood cell counts in chicks. However, total counts were conducted in chicks at only three of the eleven sites. In adults, the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio increased with PCB contamination, similar to the association with HG-TEQs in chicks. On the other hand, in adults DDE tended to increase the number of total white blood cells and total heterophils. Because the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio did not show a significant trend with DDE contamination, the increase in total heterophils probably reflected the increased total white blood cell counts without a differential shift toward heterophils.

In contrast to these measures of organochlorine contamination, EROD exhibited inverse relationships with total white blood cells, total heterophils, and the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio in adult gulls. The strong downward trend in total white blood cells in association with increasing EROD was accompanied by a strong downward trend in total heterophils and a weaker downward trend in total lymphocytes (Table 2.4). Hence, as EROD increased, total white blood cell counts decreased, and there was a shift towards fewer heterophils relative to lymphocytes. EROD and other inducible liver enzymes metabolize steroid hormones, including adrenal corticosteroids. Contaminant-induced EROD activity has been associated with lower circulating concentrations of adrenal corticosteroids in fish that have been stressed by capture (Hontela et al. 1992, 1995). Low concentrations of corticosteroids decrease the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio (birds) or neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (mammals; Gross and Siegel 1980, 1981). Hence, contaminant-induced changes in the activity of liver enzymes might be expected to alter relative white blood cell counts and hence immunological function. The apparent contradiction between the opposite effects of organochlorine residues and EROD activity on hematological variables might be explained by several factors. Only three of seven sites at

which total white blood cell counts were conducted fell on the portion of the exposureresponse curve (less than 10 µg/g PCBs) where there was a good correlation between PCB concentrations and EROD activity. Hence, for four of the seven sites, EROD was not a clear index of HAH contamination, so it is difficult to draw conclusions about the effects of individual HAHs on hematological variables from the EROD data. Other contaminants or other factors could have acted in conjunction with PCBs to influence EROD activity. Even though the relationship between organochlorine contamination and EROD activity was not clear in this field study as compared to well-controlled laboratory studies, it does seem apparent that EROD activity influences hematological variables and probably immune function. Since PCBs and dioxins, among other factors, do influence EROD activity, the association between hematological variables and EROD activity suggests that organochlorine contaminants or associated Ah-receptor-mediated events can influence hematological variables. The alterations in differential white blood cell numbers associated with high EROD activity strongly suggests that the complex mixtures of contaminants in the Great Lakes exert toxic effects on immune systems of herring gulls.

Of the other biochemical biomarkers that often are affected by HAH exposure (vitamin A storage, plasma thyroxine, and hepatic concentration of highly carboxylated porphyrins), only the highly carboxylated porphyrins showed any correlations with hematological parameters. HAHs inhibit the enzyme uroporphyrinogen decarboxylase in the pathway of heme synthesis and cause the buildup of highly carboxylated porphyrins in the liver (Fox *et al.* 1988). No correlations were observed between carboxylated porphyrin concentrations and packed red blood cell volume. A causal mechanism by which highly carboxylated porphyrins could directly influence white blood cell counts is not readily apparent. The correlations among porphyrins and various white blood cell parameters

52

differed between ages. In adults, as porphyrins increased, there was a shift toward both a lower percentage and total number of heterophils even though the total leukocyte count did not increase. In chicks, as porphyrins increased, there was an increase in total leukocyte and total heterophil counts even though the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio did not change. Since the balance of heterophils to lymphocytes did not change significantly, the increase in total heterophils was probably the result of the increased total white blood cell count. Since heterophils generally made up a larger percentage of the total leukocyte counts than did lymphocytes, the total heterophil count followed the total white blood cell count more closely than did the total lymphocyte count.

Of the few investigations that have attempted to study hematological variables in herring gulls, most have focused on red blood cell parameters (Averbeck 1991, 1992). The PCV values found in the present study for herring gull adults and chicks were similar to those reported in other studies (Averbeck 1991, 1992). Averbeck (1992) studied hematological variables in clinically normal and abnormal herring and black-backed gulls from one colony in Germany. The abnormal gulls were emaciated, injured, oiled, or suffering from extensive parasite infections. Nestling herring gulls usually have lower PCVs than adults, but this difference disappears at fledging (Averbeck 1992). The maturation of red blood cell system before fledging is not surprising considering the high demands for oxygen transport for flight. The present study found statistically significant but biologically small differences in PCVs between adult males (mean=43.5%) and adult females (mean=42.5%). Averbeck (1991) found no significant difference in PCVs between sexes in adult herring and great black-backed gulls (*Larus marinus*). Averbeck (1992) found that the mean PCV in abnormal gulls was 33% as compared to 41% in normal gulls. In the present study, the PCVs of only a few adults approached the abnormal

values reported by Averbeck. Chronic dietary exposure to 50-100 μ g/g of technical formulations of PCBs (Arochlors 1242 and 1254) have been shown to decrease PCV in chickens (Iturri 1974). In the present study, there was moderate evidence that PCV decreased as DDE increased in adults and strong evidence that PCV increased with EROD in chicks.

Averbeck (1992) also studied the differences in white blood cell counts between clinically normal and abnormal gulls. Total white blood cell counts did not differ between normal and abnormal gulls. Averbeck (1992) found that normal herring gulls had a mean percent heterophils of 35.5% and a mean percent lymphocytes of 60.9%. In abnormal gulls, these values shifted to 70.1% for heterophils and 25.7% for lymphocytes, although high variability did not allow the statistical differentiation of these groups.

Leighton (1984) conducted differential white blood cell counts on four week old herring gull chicks after dosing with crude oil. Chicks in the control group had a mean percent heterophils of 42.4% and a mean percent lymphocytes of 52.0%. The mean heterophil to lymphocyte ratio in these control chicks was 0.83. There was a dosedependent increase in the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio. In the high dose group, which received 20 ml of crude oil/ kg/ day, the mean heterophil to lymphocyte ratio increased to 2.72 (70.4% heterophils and 27.8% lymphocytes). The increases in the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio in sick (Averbeck 1992) and oil-dosed (Leighton 1984) gulls would be expected following an adrenal stress response (Gross and Siegel 1980, 1981). Indeed, Leighton (1984) reported other pathological signs of adrenal stress associated with crude oil ingestion, including lipid depletion in the adrenal glands and thymic and bursal atrophy.

The total white blood cell counts in the present study were similar to those found by Averbeck (1992) at a single colony, although some sites in the present study had total counts that were up to 30% lower. In the present study, there was much variation in the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio among sites, suggesting intercolony differences in factors such as environmental contaminants, weather, nutrition, disease, and disturbance that could differentially influence white blood cell populations. The range in heterophil to lymphocyte ratios found in the present study was similar to the range between normal and sick or oil-dosed gulls in other investigations (Averbeck 1992, Leighton 1984).

This study showed that hematological variables are useful biomarkers for assessing the health of wild herring gulls. Blood cell counts in adults showed greater variation among sites than in chicks. Several white blood cell variables showed strong relationships to various measures of organochlorine contamination, suggesting that such contamination may in fact alter immunological defenses against infectious agents. As in the National Toxicology Program's procedures for screening immunotoxic chemicals in laboratory animals (Luster *et al.* 1988b, 1994), white blood cell counts can be used in conjunction with more sophisticated tests of immune function to assess the immunotoxic risk presented by pollutants in wild animals. Additional field and laboratory research should be performed to investigate how factors such as multiple contaminants, stress, nutrition and infectious agents interact to influence hematological parameters and liver EROD activity. Table 2.1. Organochlorine contaminants in pooled samples of livers from herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake

# of LiverLiverLiverNorlNorlNorlNorlNorln10n10n10n10n10n10n10n10	ΣPCBs (μg/g) 0.12 0.13 0.24	HG- TEQs (pg/g) ¹ 28.21 8.52 15.84	Conce P.p. ² -DDE (µg/g) 0.03 0.06 0.13	Intration (we Dieldrin (µg/g) 0.005 0.002	t weight) Mirex	HCB	Hentachlor
r, or Samples in Pool D. 10 eg 10 n 10 n 20	ΣPCBs (µg/g) 0.12 0.13 0.24	HG- TEQs (pg/g) ¹ 28.21 8.52 15.84	p.p ⁻ .DDE (µg/g) 0.03 0.06 0.13	Dieldrin (µg/g) 0.005 0.002	Mirex	HCB	Hentachlor
D. 10 keg 10 n 10 or 8	0.12 0.13 0.24	28.21 8.52 15.84	0.03 0.06 0.13	0.005 0.002	Veiel	(g/gµ)	Epoxide (µg/g)
eg 10 n 10 or 8	0.13 0.24	8.52 15.84	0.06 0.13	0.002	0.0001	0.0024	0.008
n 10 or 8	0.24	15.84	0.13		0.001	0.0030	0.0026
or 8	100			0.016	0.002	0.0024	0.0071
	17.0	11.04	0.05	0.007	0.002	0.0015	0.0029
n 10	0.67	24.18	0.14	0.021	0.020	0.0041	0.0204
e R. 10	0.69	20.92	0.15	0.012	0.025	0.0032	0.0034
0 7	62.0	63.50	0.40	0.052	0.040	0.0048	0.0037
6	0.86	21.32	0.16	0.035	0.001	0.0027	0.0060
8 0	0.87	68.24	0.56	0.020	0.099	0.0102	0.0074
n 10	1.19	88.52	0.51	0.049	0.006	0.0070	0.0201
an 10	5.05	225.27	2.41	0.243	0.028	0.0178	0.0762
	7 9 8 10 10	7 0.79 9 0.86 8 0.87 10 1.19 10 5.05	7 0.79 63.50 9 0.86 21.32 8 0.87 68.24 10 1.19 88.52 10 5.05 225.27	7 0.79 63.50 0.40 9 0.86 21.32 0.16 8 0.87 68.24 0.56 10 1.19 88.52 0.51 10 5.05 225.27 2.41	7 0.79 63.50 0.40 0.052 9 0.86 21.32 0.16 0.035 8 0.87 68.24 0.56 0.020 10 1.19 88.52 0.51 0.049 10 5.05 225.27 2.41 0.243	7 0.79 63.50 0.40 0.052 0.040 9 0.86 21.32 0.16 0.035 0.001 8 0.87 68.24 0.56 0.020 0.099 10 1.19 88.52 0.51 0.049 0.006 1 10 5.05 225.27 2.41 0.243 0.028	7 0.79 63.50 0.40 0.052 0.040 0.0048 9 0.86 21.32 0.16 0.035 0.001 0.0027 8 0.87 68.24 0.56 0.020 0.099 0.0102 10 1.19 88.52 0.51 0.049 0.006 0.070 1 10 5.05 225.27 2.41 0.243 0.028 0.0178

¹ Calculated toxic equivalents relative to TCDD based on experiments by Kennedy et al. 1994 using in vitro assays for EROD induction in primary hepatocyte cultures derived from herring gull embryos. Table 2.2. Organochlorine contaminants in pooled samples of livers from herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winning and the Atlantic cost during 1001 and 1003.

minpeg, and me A	Halluc COast C	1221 SIIIIN	I alla 177						in the second
		Jo #			Conce	entration (w	et weight)		
Colony	Lake, River, or Ocean	Liver Samples in Pool	PCBs (µg/g)	HG- TEQs (pg/g) ¹	p,p'-DDE (µg/g)	Dieldrin (µg/g)	Mirex (µg/g)	HCB (µg/g)	Heptachlor Epoxide (µg/g)
Kent Island	Atlantic O.	20	1.81	42	0.59	0.017	0.012	0.0129	0.0051
Jackfish Bay	L. Superior	10	4.97	677	1.62	0.091	0.033	0.0186	0.0434
Granite Island	L. Superior	10	4.99	216	1.98	0.133	0.042	0.0194	0.0717
ower Green Bay	L. Michigan	10	5.40	416	16.0	0.146	0.018	0.0006	0.0721
Chantry Island	L. Huron	15	5.63	196	1.73	0.117	0.102	0.024	0.0475
lamilton Harbour	L. Ontario	10	9.80	242	3.21	0.075	0.607	0.0258	0.0159
Pony Island	L. Winnipeg	20	11.74	242	6.43	0.147	0.125	0.0351	0.0687
Jpper Green Bay	L. Michigan	10	12.15	396	7.18	0.573	0.238	0.0396	0.2003
otch Bonnet Island	L. Ontario	8	13.60	422	7.40	0.076	1.270	0.0455	0.0363
iddle Sister Island	L. Erie	8	14.25	224	1.46	0.067	0.032	0.0232	0.0573
Fighting Island	Detroit R.	10	15.57	169	1.50	0.069	0.034	0.0265	0.0174
Middle Island	L. Erie	20	21.56	2117	2.21	0.101	0.059	0.0254	0.0383
Saginaw Bay	L. Huron	6	23.84	634	6.51	0.123	0.116	0.0370	0.0385

¹ Calculated toxic equivalents relative to TCDD based on experiments by Kennedy et al. 1994 using in vitro assays for EROD induction in primary hepatocyte cultures derived from herring gull embryos.

57
Table 2.3. Effects of contaminants on general immunological and hematological variables in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Organochlorine contaminants were measured in pooled liver samples.

				Test for Ordere	ed Alternatives
Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Predicted Trend ¹	Actual Trend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
Total WBCs	PCBs DDE EROD	-/+	1	35	0.37
Total Heterophils	PCBs HG-TEQs DDE EROD	-/+	,	25	0.56
Total Lymphocytes	PCBs HG-TEQs DDE EROD	-/+	,	23	0.59
Heterophil/ Lymphocyte Ratio	PCBs	-/+	+	267	0.35
(Log ₁₀)	HG-TEQs	-/+	+	981	0.0016
	DDE	-/+	+	371	0.21
	EROD	-/+		473	0.11
PCV	PCBs	-/+		-217	0.63
	HG-TEQs	-/+		-245	0.67
	DDE	-/+	ı	-175	0.52
	EROD	-/+	+	559	0.0056

 $1^{+,-}$ means that the direction of the trend could not be predicted a priori.

58

Table 2.4. Effects of contaminants on general immunological and hematological variables in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipee, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993. Organochlorine contaminants were measured in proded liver samples

		Predicted	Actual	Test for Ordered	Alternatives
Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Trend ¹	Trend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
Total WBCs	PCBs	-/+		80	0.55
	HG-TEQs	-/+	+	50	0.64
	DDE	-/+	+	846	0.0004
	EROD	-/+		598	0.0016
Total Heterophils	PCBs	-/+		366	0.046
	HG-TT2Qs	-/+	•	84	0.67
	DDE	-/+	+	009	0.0016
	EROD	-/+		848	0.0004
Total Lymphocytes	PCBs	-/+	+	570	0.004
	HG-TEQs	-/+	+	338	0.074
	DDE	-/+	+	214	0.22
	EROD	-/+	-	320	0.086
Heterophil/ Lymphocyte Ratio	PCBs	-/+		823	0.17
(Jugor)	HG-TEQs	-/+	•	244	0.46
	DDE	-/+	+	21	0.94
	EROD	-/+	t	3455	0.0004
PCV	PCBs	-/+	•	421	0.19
	HG-TEQs	-/+	•	205	0.022
	DDE	-/+	-	-5	0.044
	EROD	+/-	+	-1293	0.96
1"+/-" means that the direction of the tre	end could not be predicted a priori.				

59

Table 2.5. Means (± one standard error) of hematological variables in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes. Study sites are listed in increasing order of liver DCB contamination.

		WBC	Counts (% or c	ells $\times 10^{3}/\mu$ l)			Heterophil/	
Total WBCs ¹ Heterophils 1	Heterophils 1		Lymphocytes	Monocytes	Basophils	Eosinophils	Lymphocyte Ratio	PCV (%)
58.9±4.6 (10)	58.9±4.6 (10)		35.8±4.2	3.1±1.0	2.0±0.3	0.1±0.1	2.00±0.36	31.7±0.8 (10)
17.8±1.6 (9) 10.0±0.9	10.0±0.9		6.8±1.2	0.7±0.2	0.3±0.1	0.0 ± 0.0		
51.4±7.6 (10)	51.4±7.6 (10)		40.5±6.9	6.0±1.1	2.2±0.5	0.0±0.0	2.11±0.67	27.2±1.0 (10)
41.3±3.5 (10)	41.3±3.5 (10)		55.2±3.3	3.0±0.9	0.5±0.4	0.0±0.0	0.81±0.11	35.7±3.2 (10)
30.4±2.6 (8)	30.4±2.6 (8)		63.9±3.0	3.4±0.8	2.2±0.4	0.0±0.0	0.50 ± 0.06	29.4±1.2 (8)
50.8±5.2 (10)	50.8±5.2 (10)		43.3±4.9	4.2±0.5	1.4±0.4	0.4±0.2	1.43±0.28	32.8±0.6 (10)
34.9±4.3 (10)	34.9±4.3 (10)		62.2±4.3	2.6±0.3	0.2 ± 0.1	0.0±0.0	0.63±0.12	33.1±0.7 (10)
51.6±5.5 (7)	51.6±5.5 (7)		40.8±5.4	4.0 ± 0.7	3.6±0.8	0.0 ± 0.0	1.44±0.24	32.6±1.3 (7)
								32.6±1.4 (9)
45.6±4.5 (7)	45.6±4.5 (7)		46.6±4.9	5.9±1.1	1.8±0.3	0.0 ± 0.0	1.11±0.22	28.7±1.0 (7)
54.2±4.8 (10)	54.2±4.8 (10)		36.3±3.9	7.4±1.4	1.0±0.8	1.0±0.5	1.71±0.25	30.1±1.1 (10)
18.3±2.1 (9) 10.4±1.8	10.4±1.8		6.5±1.1	1.2±0.2	0.1 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.0		
55.6±3.3 (10)	55.6±3.3 (10)		38.5±2.7	4.9 ± 0.7	0.9 ± 0.4	0.2 ± 0.1	1.59±0.23	29.3±1.2 (10)
17.4±4.3 (7) 10.7±3.4	10.7±3.4		5.7±0.9	0.8 ± 0.2	0.1 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0		
phils, lymphocytes, monocytes, b	ytes, monocytes, b	ما	asophils, and e	osinophils (ce	$lls \times 10^{3}/\mu l$	are next to tot	al WBC counts	s in the second lin

for each site. Total white blood cell counts were conducted only at Kent Island, Saginaw Bay, and Upper Green Bay

Table 2.6. Means (± 0 coast during 1991 and	ne standard erro 1993. Numbers	r) of hematologic in parentheses inc	al variables in h licate sample siz	erring gull ad cs. Study site	ults from the s are listed i	e Great Lakes, l n increasing or	Lake Winnipeg der of liver PCI	, and the Atlantic 3 contamination.
		WBC	Counts (% or c	ells x $10^{3}/\mu$ l)			I leterophil/	
Colony	Total WBCs ¹	Heterophils	Lymphocytes	Monocytes	Basophils	Fosinophils	Lymphocyte Ratio	PCV (%)
Kent Island		60.0±2.2 (20)	31.1±2.7	5.0±0.7	3.7±0.6	0.1 ± 0.0	2.27±0.22	+1 .9±0.5 (20)
Jackfish Bay		58.1±5.0 (10)	35.3±4.8	3.0±1.0	2.5±0.7	1.1±0.6	2.64±0.87	42.0±1.2 (10)
	11.1±0.9 (10)	6.4±0.7	4.0 ± 0.7	0.3 ± 0.1	0.3 ± 0.1	0.1 ± 0.0		
Granite Island		61.4±4.4 (10)	28.6±3.2	6.6±1.8	3.3±0.6	0.05 ± 0.05	2.94±0.91	41.8±0.7 (10)
	13.6±0.9 (10)	8.4±1.0	3.8 ± 0.5	0.9 ± 0.2	0.4 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0		
Lower Green Bay		45.4±5.8 (10)	48.6±6.1	3.8±0.6	2 .1±0.4	0.2 ± 0.1	1.26 ± 0.30	41.9 ± 0.8
	10.6±0.7 (10)	4.9±0.7	5.1±0.7	0.4 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0		
Chantry Island		61.1±3.2 (15)	29.9 ± 3.4	5.5±0.7	3.3±0.7	0.3 ± 0.1	2.93±0.64	44.5±0.8 (15)
Hamilton Harbour		41.8±3.2 (10)	52.2±3.9	4.6±1.1	1.3±0.5	0.05 ± 0.05	0.89 ± 0.14	$44.6\pm0.6(10)$
Pony Island		66.8±3.1 (19)	24.3 ± 3.2	5.7±0.6	2.7±0.4	0.4 ± 0.2	4.60±1.16	41.9±0.5 (20)
Upper Green Bay		66.4±4.9 (10)	26.2±4.9	4.8 ±0.9	2.4±0.6	0.3 ± 0.2	4.48±1.5	44.0±0.9 (10)
	15.1±1.4 (10)	10.0±1.1	4.1±1.0	0.7 ± 0.1	0.3 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0		
Scotch Bonnet Island		47.6±5.6 (8)	42.9±5.5	6.1±1.3	3.2±0.5	0.2 ± 0.1	1.48±0.44	41.5±1.0 (8)
	16.7±1.2 (8)	8.1±1.3	7.0±1.0	1.0±0.2	0.5 ± 0.1	0.0 ± 0.0		
Middle Sister Island								44.0±0.8 (7)
Fighting Island		46.8±3.3 (10)	46.4 ± 3.0	3.8±0.7	2.4±0.4	0.6 ± 0.3	1.09 ± 0.14	42.4±0.7 (10)
	10.0±0.9 (10)	4.8 ±0.7	4.5±0.4	0.4 ± 0.1	0.2 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0		
Middle Island		64.8±3.4 (20)	27.0±3.6	4.4±0.8	3.3±0.6	$0.5\pm.01$	3.83±0.63	43.3±0.5 (20)
Saginaw Bay		35.4±4.5 (10)	58.0±4.2	4.0±0.5	2.7±0.4	0.0 ± 0.0	0.72 ± 0.17	42.2±0.6 (10)
	13.2±1.6 (10)	5.1±1.3	7.2±0.6	0.5 ± 0.1	0.3 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0		
1 Counts of total heter	ophils, lymphoc	ytes, monocytes,	basophils, and e	cosinophils (c	ells $\times 10^{3}/\mu$]	are next to tot	al WBC counts	in the second line

for each site. Total white blood cell counts were conducted at Jackfish Bay, Granite Island, Lower Green Bay, Upper Green Bay, Scotch Bonnet Island, Fighting Island, and Saginaw Bay.

Table 2.7. Pearson's correlation analysis exploring relationships among hematological biomarkers and other biomarkers in herring gull chicks and adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991-93.

Relationship	Age	Varia	ibles	r	N	Р
Among	Adult	H/L Ratio ¹	Porphyrins	-0.31	152	< 0.001
Hematological and Biochemical		Total Heterophils	Porphyrins	-0.32	68	0.009
Variables		Total WBCs	Porphyrins	-0.17	68	0.18
	Chick	H/L Ratio	Porphyrins	0.20	92	0.058
		Total Lymphocytes	Porphyrins	0.70	25	< 0.001
		Total WBCs	Porphyrins	0.70	25	<0.001
Hematological	Chick	H/L Ratio	Body Mass	-0.29	92	0.006
Variables and Body Size		H/L Ratio	Wing Chord	0.40	92	<0.001
		PCV	Body Mass	0.31	101	<0.001
Hematological Variables and Organ Masses	Chick	H/L Ratio	Thyroid Mass	-0.32	91	0.0002

¹ Heterophil/Lymphocyte Ratio











Fig. 2.2 Relationships between environmental contamination and total white blood cell and total heterophil numbers herring gull adults from the Great Lakes during 1991 and 1993. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean.



Fig. 2.3. Relationships between PCB contamination and total white blood cell and total lymphocyte numbers herring gull adults from the Great Lakes during 1991 and 1993. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean.



Fig. 2.4. Relationships between HG-TEQs and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean.



Fig. 2.5. Relationships between liver EROD activity and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean.

Chapter 3. Immune and Endocrine Organ Masses as Biomarkers for Environmental Contaminants in Herring Gulls (*Larus argentatus*) of the Great Lakes

Summary

This study explored the feasibility of using immune and endocrine organ masses as immunological biomarkers for assessing the health of herring gulls, especially in relation to the effects of persistent environmental contaminants. If important structural components for the development of immunological cells are disrupted, it is likely that physiological functions also will be compromised. There was strong evidence that thymus mass decreased as the activity of ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) in the liver increased, although thymus mass did not show any significant relationships to concentrations of individual organochlorine contaminants in liver samples. Bursa and spleen masses did not show any associations with organochlorine contaminants or liver EROD activity. However, the role of contaminants in growth of the bursa was complicated by the presence of bursitis caused by fluke infestations (Cotylurus communis). Thyroid mass increased with polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) contamination and liver EROD activity in herring gull adults. In chicks, thyroid mass increased with EROD but decreased with HG-TEQs (dioxin toxicity equivalents as calculated from herring gull-specific toxicity equivalency factors). In adults, there was very strong evidence that thyroid mass increased with liver PCBs, HG-TEQs, and EROD activity. Although the role of organochlorines in influencing immune organ mass was complicated by factors such as multiple contaminants,

infections, and nutrition, the association between thymic atrophy and increasing EROD suggests a significant Ah-receptor mediated effect that could have severe consequences on immune function.

Introduction

Biomarkers are biochemical, physiological, or histological changes that measure effects of, or exposure to, toxic chemicals. Some biomarkers such as organ masses and histology may indicate alterations in biological structure that strongly suggest alterations in biological function. Other biomarkers such as enzyme activities and hormone levels more directly measure function. Many biochemical and developmental biomarkers in colonial fish-eating birds have been used effectively to monitor exposure to and the effects of organochlorine contaminants in the Great Lakes during the past 25 years (Fox 1993), but there have been no investigations on the effects of pollutants on the immune systems of these birds. This study examined the use of immune and endocrine organ masses as structural biomarkers for immunotoxicity in Great Lakes birds.

Today, much interest in the immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants has focused on halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs), which include polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD), and 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-furan (TCDF). These chemicals cause a variety of effects in laboratory animals, but one of the most-characteristic effects is immunosuppression (Silkworth and Vecchi 1985, Thomas and Faith 1985, Luster *et al.* 1987, and Vos and Luster 1989). In laboratory mammals and birds, HAH-induced immunosuppression can lead to increased susceptibility to challenges with bacteria (Thomas and Hinsdill 1978, Vos et *al.* 1978, Hinsdill *et al.* 1980), viruses (Friend and Trainer 1970, Imanishi *et al.* 1980, Vos and Luster 1989, House *et al.* 1990), and protozoan parasites (Vos and Luster 1989). At low doses in developing animals, HAHs often suppress regulatory and effector functions of T lymphocytes (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Sharma *et al.* 1978; Hinsdill *et al.* 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark *et al.* 1981, 1983; Takagi *et al.* 1987; Neubert *et al.* 1991; Tomar *et al.* 1991). Such effects are especially pronounced and long-lasting in developing and growing animals (Takagi *et al.* 1987, Holladay and Luster 1994). At higher doses, HAHs often suppress antibody production by B lymphocytes (Sharma *et al.* 1978; Thomas and Hinsdill 1978; Hinsdill *et al.* 1980; Clark *et al.* 1981, 1983; Silkworth and Grabstein 1982; Silkworth *et al.* 1984; Luster *et al.* 1988a; House *et al.* 1990; Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990b).

While these immunotoxic effects of HAHs often have been detected using sophisticated tests of immune function, they also have been revealed by gross and microscopic structural changes in primary lymphoid organs, which are important sites for lymphocyte development. In birds, lymphocyte precursors migrate from hematopoietic tissues into the bursa of Fabricius and develop into B lymphocytes. After leaving the bursa, B lymphocytes become antibody-producing or memory cells if they are stimulated by the appropriate antigen. B lymphocytes develop in the bone marrow or Peyer's patches (gut-associated lymphoid tissue) in mammals. T lymphocytes develop in the thymus gland. After leaving the thymus, T lymphocytes play important regulatory and cytotoxic roles in immunological responses. In laboratory rodents exposed to sublethal doses of TCDD and coplanar PCBs, thymic atrophy is one of the most characteristic effects (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972, Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Vos and Luster 1989). This atrophy is characterized by a depletion of lymphocytes in the thymic cortex, which may be a reflection of a reduction in the ability of the thymic cortex to support the maturation of T cells (Greenlee *et al.* 1985). Harris *et al.* (1976) observed decreased spleen and bursa of Fabricius masses in the offspring of chicken hens (*Gallus domesticus*) fed PCBs. Thymus masses were not reported. Coplanar PCBs and TCDD have produced dose-dependent decreases in the number of viable lymphocytes in the thymus and bursa of Fabricius of chicken embryos that developed in eggs that had been injected with HAHs (Nikolaidis *et al.* 1988a,b, Andersson *et al.* 1991). The ratios of thymus mass to body mass and spleen mass to body mass have been included as Tier I tests for screening chemicals for immunotoxic potential in the National Toxicology Program (Luster *et al.* 1988b, 1994). The measurement of bursal mass in birds is a logical extension. Although these simple variables often are less sensitive than direct tests of immune function, a significant alteration in the size or structure of lymphoid organs is usually associated with abnormal immune function.

Because of the close connection between the immune and endocrine systems, endocrine organ mass and associated hormones also might influence immune function. Organochlorine-associated goiter has been demonstrated in Great Lakes herring gulls (Moccia *et al.* 1986, Fox 1993). Adrenal corticosteroids are potent immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory hormones. Retinoid, or vitamin A, is important for proper development, immune function, and vision. Environmental contaminants such as HAHs can disrupt vitamin A homeostasis (Zile 1992), and such effects have been observed in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes (Spear *et al.* 1985, 1990; Fox 1993).

Although many physiological, pathological, nutritional, and ecological factors can affect immune function, HAHs consistently influence these parameters. Numerous studies have documented significant reproductive, developmental and behavioral impacts of these chemicals on fish-eating colonial waterbirds in the Great Lakes basin (Peakall et al. 1980; Mineau et al. 1984; Fox and Weseloh 1987; Peakall and Fox 1987; Gilbertson 1988, 1989; Peakall 1988; Colborn et al. 1990; Fox et al. 1991; Gilbertson et al. 1991; Government of Canada 1991; Fox 1993). At sites that are highly contaminated with PCBs, colonial waterbirds have experienced a number of severe developmental effects, which include high embryonic mortality, subcutaneous, pericardial, and peritoneal edema, congenital deformities, growth retardation, hepatomegaly, liver necrosis, and liver porphyria (Gilbertson 1989). Because the immune system is often more sensitive than other physiological systems to environmental contaminants, especially in young animals, Great Lakes colonial waterbirds are likely also experiencing immunotoxic effects. At highly contaminated sites in the Great Lakes, double-crested cormorants (*Phalacrocorax auritus*) have an abnormally high incidence of eye infections (Ecological Research Services 1991). Laboratory experiments suggest that measurements of immune and endocrine organ mass might be good biomarkers for effects of HAHs in wild animals. These simple measurements, which are easy to obtain during necropsy, might substitute for more sophisticated tests of immune function that are difficult to conduct under field conditions.

This investigation was part of a larger study that sought to determine the effects of environmental contaminants on immunocompetence in herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) in the Great Lakes. It examined the usefulness of structural biomarkers such as immune and endocrine organ masses for monitoring contaminants, and it compared these structural biomarkers to several common biochemical biomarkers related to immune function and (or) contaminant exposure.

Materials and Methods

Sampling Design

Study sites were chosen across a wide range of organochlorine contamination (Table 2.1). Adult herring gulls were sampled from eleven sites within the Great Lakes (Fig. 2.1.A): 1) an officially unnamed island (Pump Station Island) near Jackfish Bay, northern Lake Superior; 2) Granite Island in Black Bay, north shore of Lake Superior; 3) Gull Island in upper Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 4) Kidney Island in lower Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 5) Confined Disposal Facility in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron; 6) Chantry Island, southeastern Lake Huron; 7) Fighting Island, in the Detroit River; 8) Middle Island, western Lake Erie; 9) Middle Sister Island, western Lake Erie; 10) Hamilton Harbour, western Lake Ontario; and 11) Scotch Bonnet Island, eastern Lake Ontario. Twenty-eightday-old herring gull chicks were collected from nine Great Lakes sites (Fig. 2.1.B): 1) an officially unnamed island (Pump Station Island) near Jackfish Bay, northern Lake Superior; 2) Gull Island in Upper Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 3) Double Island in the North Channel of Lake Huron; 4) Little Charity Island in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron; 5) Chantry Island, southeastern Lake Huron; 6) Monroe, western shore of Lake Erie; 7) Hamilton Harbour, western shore of Lake Ontario; 8) Scotch Bonnet Island, eastern Lake Ontario; and 9) Stracken Island, St. Lawrence River. For both ages of herring gulls, two reference sites outside the Great Lakes were sampled: Kent Island in the Bay of Fundy off Canada's Atlantic coast; and Pony Island, in the northern end of Lake Winnipeg, Manitoba. Total white blood cell counts were conducted at seven sites for adults and three sites for chicks. Differential white blood cell counts were not made on adults at Middle Sister Island and chicks from Monroe, Lake Erie. Adult gulls were sampled during 1993 at Middle

Sister Island. Chicks were collected during 1992 at Double Island, Stracken Island, and Monroe. All other collections were made during the 1991 breeding season.

Adult herring gulls were captured by drop-trapping over nests during midincubation. Prior to trapping, eggs were floated to determine the buildup of air inside the egg and hence the approximate stage of incubation. Herring gull chicks were randomly selected and captured at the approximately 28 days of age. Approximately ten birds of each age were collected at each of the study sites listed above. For several sites, 15-20 birds were collected to determine whether sample sizes larger than ten provide significantly greater sensitivity for biomonitoring. An effort was made to collect equal numbers of adult males and females from each site.

Hematology

A blood sample (approximately 11 ml) was drawn from the brachial vein using a 22 gauge needle and Vacutainer® tubes (Beckton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ). Seven ml of blood were drawn into a tube containing dry sodium heparin and 4 ml into a tube containing dry potassium EDTA. Two blood smears were made quickly from the blood collected in EDTA. The heparinized blood was centrifuged immediately at 2575×g for 5 minutes, and the plasma was stored on liquid nitrogen for vitamin A and thyroxine analysis. The PCV was measured by centrifuging microhematocrit tubes filled with blood collected in EDTA at 5125×g for five minutes in a clinical centrifuge equipped with a hematocrit rotor.

The blood collected in EDTA was kept on ice until a total white blood cell count was completed, usually on the same day as collection. Dilutions were made with standard 101-1 erythrocyte pipettes in modified Natt and Herrick's diluent following the procedures of Gross (1984). Leukocytes were counted under a Neubauer hemacytometer at 400× magnification.

Blood smears were air-dried and fixed in methanol to preserve the cells until staining. Smears were stained with Wright stain (Accustain[™], Sigma, St. Louis, MO) using 100% stain for 30 seconds and then diluting with an equal volume of distilled water for 90 seconds. Smears were rinsed with distilled water and allowed to air dry. Two hundred white blood cells were counted and classified using oil immersion microscopy at 1000× magnification. The total number of each type of white blood cell was determined by multiplying its percentage from the differential count by the total leukocyte count.

Dissection and Tissue Preservation

Before dissection, the body size of each gull was determined by measuring body mass, head length, bill depth, foot length, and, in chicks, wing chord (Fox *et al.* 1981). All chicks of appropriate size and all adults were sacrificed by decapitation using a guillotine and allowed to bleed out fully. The liver was quickly removed. The left lobe of the liver was later to be used for ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) analysis. This lobe was wrapped in high density polyethylene film, placed in 20 ml polyethylene scintillation vials, and preserved in liquid nitrogen within ten minutes after death. The concentrations of vitamin A, highly carboxylated porphyrin, and organochlorine contaminants were to be measured in the right lobe. Eight 1 gram samples of the right lobe of the liver were placed in 1 ml vials and preserved in liquid nitrogen for biomarker analysis. The remainder of the right lobe of the liver was placed in an acetone-hexane-rinsed glass jar and transported to the laboratory on wet ice before freezing at -20 °C prior to organochlorine analysis. The gonads, liver, adrenal glands, thyroid glands, and spleen of each bird were preserved in a

neutral buffered formalin solution (10%). The thymus gland and bursa of Fabricius in chicks also were preserved in this fashion. In the laboratory, the thyroids, adrenals, spleen, thymus, and bursa were trimmed from associated connective tissue, blotted, and weighed to the nearest 0.01 g. Standard paraffin sections of the spleen, thymus, bursa, and liver were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and examined by avian histopathologists using standard histopathological techniques.

Biochemical Biomarkers

Vitamin A compounds in the liver were extracted from 0.3-0.5 g liver samples and dehydrated by grinding with anhydrous sodium sulphate. Powder equivalent to 0.20 g of liver was combined with 8-20 ng of retinyl acetate in 20 μ l of 2-propanol as an internal standard. Retinoids were extracted in 10 ml of dichloromethane:methanol (1:9) by repeated shaking and liberation of pressure for 5 minutes. The extract was centrifuged at 600 rpm and 10 °C for 10 minutes. An aliquot of the supernatant was filtered through a 0.20 or 0.45 μ m filter disk. The final extract (20 μ l) was analyzed by nonaqueous reverse-phase HPLC.

Plasma retinol was extracted from 100 μ l of plasma after the addition of 75 ng of retinyl acetate in 15 μ l of 2-propanol as an internal standard. Retinol-protein complexes were dissociated by vigorous shaking after the addition of 200 μ l of acetonitrile. The retinol was extracted with successive 4 and 1 ml volumes of hexane. After shaking for 5 minutes, the organic and aqueous phases were separated by centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes at 4 °C. The organic phase was dried under nitrogen, reconstituted with 500 μ l of methanol, and filtered through a 0.2 μ m PVDF filter disk.

The liver and plasma extracts were analyzed for vitamin A compounds by reversephase HPLC using an ODS spheri-5 guard column (Brownlee) and a 15 cm long, 5 μ m ODS Zorbax (DuPont) analytical column. For the liver extract, the methanol and dichloromethane were used to resolve the retinoids in less than 10 minutes. Methanol was used to separate the retinoids in the plasma extract in less than 6 minutes. Either fluorescence (ex: 336 nm; em: 480 nm) or UV-visible (326 nm) was used to detect the retinoids. The detection limits were 5 μ g/L retinol in plasma, 0.4 μ g/g retinol in liver, and 1.2 μ g/g retinyl palmitate in liver.

The left lobe of each liver was homogenized, and microsomes were isolated following the procedure of Pyykko (1983). The catalytic activity of EROD in the liver was determined using the methods of Kennedy and Jones (1994) optimized for herring gull liver microsomes. Highly carboxylated porphyrins were measured in liver tissue following the procedure of Kennedy and James (1993). In plasma samples from adults, total thyroxine was measured using a solid phase enzyme assay (veterinary modification of the EZ Bead T4 Test, Immunotech Corp, Boston, MA).

Organochlorine Analyses

The 10-20 individual liver samples collected for each age and site were pooled for organochlorine analysis by the analytical services laboratory at the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service following the methods of Peakall *et al.* (1986). PCB residues are reported as the sum of the following 42 PCB congeners: IUPAC nos. 28, 31, 42, 44, 49, 52, 60, 64, 66, 70, 74, 87, 97, 99, 101, 105, 110, 118, 128, 129, 137, 138, 141, 146, 149, 151, 153, 158, 170, 171, 172, 174, 180, 182, 183, 185, 194, 195, 200, 201, 203, and 206.

Nonortho PCB congeners (IUPAC nos. 37,77,126, and 169) and all 2,3,7,8substituted polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxin (PCDD) and polychlorinated dibenzo-furan (PCDF) congeners also were measured in pooled liver samples by the analytical services laboratory of the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service. Pooled liver samples were dried with anhydrous sodium sulphate and ground into a fine powder. An open chromatographic column wet-packed with multiple absorbents (anhydrous sodium sulphate, deactivated silica, sulfuric acid on silica, activated silica, and sodium hydroxide on silica) was used for the initial extraction and cleanup. The sample was spiked with a ¹³C PCDD mixture (Cambridge Isotope Laboratories) and a ¹³C PCB 77, 126, and 169 mixture (Wellington Isotope Laboratories) to determine the degree of analyte loss during sample workup. The column was eluted using 1:1 dicloromethane/hexane, and the eluted extract was concentrated by evaporation. A liquid chromatograph (FMS Systems Inc.) with a carbon column was used for further cleanup and trace enrichment. The carbon column was flushed with dichloromethane and backflushed with toluene. The eluent was concentrated by evaporation, and the solvent was changed to hexane. After concentration by evaporation, the extract was cleaned up and separated on a deactivated Florisil column wet packed in hexane. The column was first eluted with 1:20 dichloromethane/hexane for nonortho PCB analysis. The column was then eluted with dichloromethane to produce a second fraction that was cleaned up on a wet packed, activated basic alumina column (Fisher Scientific). The alumina column was eluted with 1:50 dichloromethane: hexane to produce a fraction containing residual PCBs and other organochlorines. The column was then eluted with 1:1 dichloromethane:hexane to produce a fraction for PCDD/PCDF analysis. A Hewlett-Packard 5971A GC/MSD was used to separate and quantify nonortho PCB, PCDD, and PCDF congeners. Detection

limits were 75 pg/g for nonortho PCB congeners and approximately 0.5-25 pg/g for PCDD and PCDF congeners.

Because different HAH congeners have different relative toxicities, the total biological activity of a complex mixture of congeners cannot be estimated by adding the concentrations of the individual congeners. Furthermore, the relative toxicities of different congeners vary from species to species. Kennedy *et al.* (1994) used *in vitro* induction of EROD activity in primary hepatocyte cultures from 26 day old herring gull embryos to compare the relative toxicities of TCDD, TCDF, and various PCBs. Based on the EC₅₀ for EROD induction, different HAH congeners could be compared to TCDD, the most toxic congener. The following herring gull-specific toxicity equivalency factors (TEFs) were generated: TCDD = 1.0; TCDF = 0.9; PCB congener # 169 = 0.07, PCB congener #126 = 0.06; PCB congeners # 77, #105, #118=0. Multiplying the concentration of each congener by its TEF and then summing the products gave an estimate of the total dioxin-like toxicity of the mixture for herring gulls. This estimate was called HG-TEQs, which stands for herring gull-specific TCDD-equivalents.

Statistical Analyses

The primary goal of this investigation was to determine whether there was an association between the degree of organochlorine contamination and immunological variables in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. The purpose was to determine whether intercolony differences in immunological variables could be explained by exposureresponse relationships. Statistical methods were needed to determine the probability that the spatial patterns in response variables were associated with different pollutants as opposed to being caused by random events. The purpose was not to show what percent of variability in immunological responses could be explained statistically by particular chemicals. Because detailed organochlorine analyses are expensive and require large volumes of blood, contaminant concentrations were not measured in individual chicks. However, chemical analysis of pooled liver samples from each site allowed the sites to be ranked on the basis of concentrations of different contaminants.

Statistical methods were chosen to meet this primary goal of associating immunological variables with pollutants and to work within the constraints of pooled chemical analyses. Regression analysis was not appropriate because of its emphasis on explaining variability using linear models and its need for chemical analyses on individual birds. Although analysis of variance (ANOVA) could detect spatial differences in immune responses among sites, it was not appropriate because it could not be used to look for associations across gradients of contamination.

The Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives was used as the primary statistical method of testing specific hypotheses about contaminant-associated immunosuppression (Hollander and Wolfe 1973). This test fit the purpose and design of the study as well as the constraints on chemical analysis. The null hypothesis for this nonparametric measure of exposure-response states that there is no difference among the central tendencies from different sites (H₀: $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = ... = \mu_n$). The alternative hypothesis is that there is a monotonic trend (not necessarily linear) in the data based on *a priori* information (H_A: $\mu_1 \ge \mu_2 \ge \mu_3 ... \mu_n$, where at least one of the inequalities is a strict inequality). Laboratory data were used to predict that contamination would cause a decrease in the mass of the thymus and bursa of Fabricius (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972, Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Vos and Luster 1989, Harris *et al.* 1976) and an increase in the mass of the thyroid gland (Moccia *et al.* 1986, Fox 1993). The direction of the trends for the spleen

and adrenals could not be easily predicted from laboratory data, so a two-way test was performed by running the Jonckheere test in both directions and doubling the P-value for the most significant trend. Severe immunosuppression could have caused leukopenia and splenic atrophy, or recurring infections caused by immunosuppression could have caused leukocytosis and splenomegaly. The following variables were used to order the study sites: liver concentrations of total PCBs, DDE, and calculated HG-TEQs; and liver EROD activity. The Jonckheere test was performed using a custom-written FORTRAN program (B. Collins, Senior Statistician, Canadian Wildlife Service) using the algorithm provided by Gibbons (1971). This program determined probability values based on 5000 random permutations of the data set being analyzed. These probability values were very similar to those found by the large sample normal approximation for the Jonckheere test (Hollander and Wolfe 1973).

While the Jonckheere test was the primary statistical test, analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with body mass as the covariate was used to for two purposes. First, ANCOVA was used to determine whether the response variable was influenced by sex or a sex × site interaction in adults. If there was no statistically significant sex or a sex × site interaction effect (P<0.05), then data were pooled across years for the Jonckheere test. Second, if the Jonckheere test revealed no significant relationships with contaminants, then ANCOVA was used to look for differences among sites. For ANCOVA analyses, bursal masses, spleen masses, and thyroid masses were transformed (log_{10}) to satisfy assumptions of homogenous variances and normality (Zar 1984). Organ masses were converted to percent of body mass before analysis by the Jonckheere test or correlation but not before ANCOVA.

Relationships between the various biomarkers were detected using Pearson's correlation analysis. Statistically significant correlations (P<0.05) were reported only if the absolute value of the correlation coefficient (r) was greater than 0.3.

Results

Organochlorine Concentrations and EROD Activity

Organochlorine contaminants reached higher concentrations in herring gull adults than chicks (Tables 2.1 and 2.2). Minimum concentrations were 15.1× greater in adults for PCBs, 4.9× greater for HG-TEQs, and 19.7× greater for DDE. Maximum concentrations were 4.7× greater in adults for PCBs, 9.4× greater for HG-TEQs, and 2.7× greater for DDE. Although concentrations were generally higher in adults, the gradient from least to most contaminated sites was greater in chicks for PCBs and DDE. From the least to most contaminated herring gull chick livers, there was a 42.1× increase in PCBs, a 26.4× increase in HG-TEQs, and an 80.3× increase in DDE. In adults, there was a 13.2× increase in PCBs, a 50.4× increase in HG-TEQs, and a 12.5× increase in DDE. PCB, HG-TEQ, and DDE concentrations in livers of chicks from Upper Green Bay were much higher than those from Saginaw Bay, which was the next most contaminated site. Livers from adults from Middle Island in Lake Erie had an extremely high value for calculated HG-TEQs. This value was driven by a high concentration of PCB congener #126.

EROD activity was higher in adults than in chicks $(1.8 \times \text{ for minimum values}, 1.5 \times \text{ for maximum values})$. Maximum induction for both chicks and adults occurred at Hamilton Harbour in Lake Ontario. From the lowest to highest values, chicks showed an increase of $11.6 \times$ and adults showed an increase of $9.5 \times$. Over the entire exposure range,

mean EROD activity was not correlated with PCBs (r_{11} =-0.12, P=0.72 for chicks, r_{13} =-0.06, P=0.84). However, EROD activity was positively correlated with PCB concentration at lower exposures. Mean EROD activity increased with PCBs up to 1.0 μ g/g in chicks (r_7 =0.92, P=0.004) and up to 10 μ g/g in adults(r_6 =0.90, P=0.015). Above these thresholds, mean EROD decreased in chicks and was variable in adults.

Lymphoid Organs

Of the primary lymphoid organs in herring gull chicks, only the thymus showed the predicted inverse relationship with pollution. Although thymus mass did not show any significant relationships to liver concentrations of individual organochlorine contaminants, there was strong evidence that thymus mass decreased as liver EROD increased (P=0.013; Table 3.1; Fig. 3.1). There was one chick from the upper Green Bay colony that had a bursa of Fabricius that was at least three times larger than any other chick. Histological analysis of this bursa revealed a dilated lumen filled with eosinophilic material and bacterial colonies. There was only a thin rim of bursal tissue, and the bursal follicles exhibited fibrosis. This outlier chick was excluded from further statistical analyses. The mass of the bursa of Fabricius did not show the predicted inverse relationships to liver organochlorine contamination or EROD activity (Table 3.1). There was moderate evidence that bursal mass differed among sites (F_{10.89}=2.27, P=0.020). An a posteriori Jonckheere test gave marginal evidence for a positive association be PCB contamination and bursal mass (J=627, P=0.064 for a two-way test). Hamilton Harbour and Upper Green Bay fell off the trend for the rest of the data (Fig. 3.2). Most chicks from all sites except the Kent Island colony on the Atlantic coast showed evidence of bursitis caused by a parasitic fluke

(*Cotylurus communis*; Ludwig 1982). Only one of ten chicks from Kent Island was infected with a bursal fluke, and the low grade infestation in this chick was not associated with bursitis. Given the rough qualitative scale used to evaluate the bursitis, preliminary analysis revealed no evidence for a correlation between the incidence of bursitis and bursal mass.

There was no evidence that spleen mass was associated with contaminants or EROD in chicks or adults (Tables 3.1 and 3.2). In chicks, there was very strong evidence that spleen mass differed among sites ($F_{10.87}$ =5.52, P<0.0001; Fig. 3.3). There was more than a three-fold difference between the highest and lowest mean spleen masses, but these maximum and minimum means occurred at the two reference sites from outside the Great Lakes. Preliminary analysis of histological reports did not show any clear microscopic differences among spleens from different sites that could explain this variation in spleen mass. In adults, there was little or no evidence that spleen mass was influenced by site $(F_{12,129}=1.41, P=0.17)$, sex $(F_{1,129}=0.14, P=0.71)$, or a site × sex interaction $(F_{12,129}=1.30, P=0.23; Fig. 3.4)$. The mean spleen mass for adult herring gulls at all sites was 0.49±0.02 g or 0.047±0.002% of body mass. Preliminary analysis of histological reports revealed that 64% of the spleens contained no abnormalities. Thirty-two percent of the spleens had amyloidosis, the deposition of amorphous, hyaline, eosinophilic protein in or around the blood vessels or basement membranes. This amyloidosis is often associated with antigenic stimulation during immune responses. Preliminary analysis revealed no association between amyloidosis and organochlorine contamination.

Endocrine Organs

There was little or no evidence that adrenal mass was associated with environmental contaminants or liver EROD in either chicks or adults (Tables 3.1 and 3.2). Adrenal mass differed significantly among sites in chicks ($F_{10,87}$ =3.07, P=0.0022; Fig. 3.5) and in adults ($F_{12,126}$ =3.59, P=0.00013; Fig. 3.6). In chicks, the mean adrenal masses from the two reference sites outside the Great Lakes fell at the high and low ends of the range of means for all sites. In adults, there was little or no evidence that sex ($F_{1,26}$ =0.46, P=0.50) or a site × sex interaction ($F_{12,126}$ =1.51, P=0.13) influenced adrenal mass.

Thyroid mass clearly increased with contamination in herring gull adults but less clearly in chicks. In adults, there was very strong evidence that thyroid mass increased with liver PCBs (P=0.0006), HG-TEQs (P=0.0002), and EROD activity (P=0.0042; Table 3.2; Fig. 3.6). These positive associations were greatly influenced by the low mean thyroid mass at the Kent Island reference site, which was lower than all of the Great Lakes sites. Jackfish Bay had the highest mean thyroid mass of all the sites at which adult gulls were sampled. There was moderate evidence that a site × sex interaction influenced thyroid mass ($F_{12,133}$ =2.10, P=0.033). At all sites other than Jackfish Bay, males tended to have slightly larger thyroids than females, or there was little difference among sexes. However, at Jackfish Bay, females had much larger thyroids than males (0.31% of body mass as compared to 0.19%). The high mass for the five females from Jackfish Bay, which represented half of the sample, greatly increased the mean mass for the site. In herring gull chicks, there was strong evidence that increasing thyroid mass was associated with increase with the concentration of any individual organochlorine in the liver. An *a posteriori* test

indicated that thyroid mass decreased with HG-TEQs (J=835, P=0.0012 for a two-way test).

Relationships among Biomarkers

Pearson's correlation analysis was used to explore relationships among biomarkers (Table 3.3). The objective was to determine whether there were any associations between different immunological and hematological parameters and whether any biochemical biomarkers could serve as surrogates for immunological biomarkers.

There were few associations between organ masses and biochemical biomarkers such as thyroxine, vitamin A, and highly carboxylated porphyrins. In herring gull adults, there was an inverse relationship between thyroid mass and liver retinyl palmitate, the stored form of vitamin A (P<0.001). In adults, thyroid mass was not correlated with total plasma thyroxine (P=0.51). Thyroxine was not measured in chicks.

The mass of primary lymphoid organs showed some relationships with white blood cell counts in herring gull chicks. There was no evidence for any correlations between bursal mass and total white blood cells, total heterophils, or total lymphocytes. Total white blood cell counts, total heterophils, or total lymphocytes were not correlated with thymus mass. The heterophil to lymphocyte ratio was negatively correlated with thyroid mass in herring gull chicks (P=0.002) but not in adults (P=0.80).

Discussion

In laboratory rodents and birds, one of the most consistent and sensitive effects of exposure to HAHs is thymic atrophy (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972, Silkworth and

Grabstein 1982, Vos and Luster 1989). This atrophy is characterized by a reduction in the number of lymphocytes in the thymus, primarily in the thymic cortex(Nikolaidis *et al.* 1988a, Andersson *et al.* 1991). Several studies have suggested that TCDD affects the maturation and selection of T lymphocytes in the developing thymus (Greenlee *et al.* 1985, Lundberg *et al.* 1990, Holladay *et al.* 1991), perhaps inhibiting the transition of CD4-CD8+ cells to CD4+CD8+ thymocytes (Blaylock *et al.* 1992). The net result, when combined with effects at earlier and later stages in T lymphocyte development (Fine *et al.* 1990, Neubert *et al.* 1991), is suppression of a variety of T cell functions (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Sharma *et al.* 1978; Hinsdill *et al.* 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark *et al.* 1981, 1983; Takagi *et al.* 1987; Neubert *et al.* 1991; Tomar *et al.* 1991).

In the present study, increasing liver EROD activity was associated with thymic atrophy, which is consistent with an Ah-receptor-mediated mechanism. However, there was no association between thymus mass and liver concentrations of PCBs, HG-TEQs, or DDE (Table 3.1; Fig. 3.1). EROD activity is an integrated measure of exposure to a number of contaminants that act via the Ah-receptor. EROD and aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase (AHH), a related enzyme, have been used as biomarkers for exposure to coplanar HAHs in colonial fish-eating waterbirds from the Great Lakes (Boersma *et al.* 1986, Hoffman *et al.* 1987; Fox 1993), British Columbia (Bellward *et al.* 1990, Sanderson *et al.* 1994), and the Netherlands and Belgium (Murk *et al.* 1992, Van den Berg *et al.* 1994). Contaminants other than HAHs, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, can induce EROD. In the present study, a positive relationship between PCB contamination and EROD activity held only for PCB exposures up to 1 $\mu g/g$ in livers of chicks (wet weight) and 10 $\mu g/g$ in livers of adults. Histological examination of liver tissues in adults revealed no lesions suggesting hepatotoxicity at higher exposures. Analyses of a subset of

the liver tissues from adult gulls in this study showed that low EROD activity was the result of low amounts of enzymatic protein and not inhibition of enzyme activity by alternate substrates such as organochlorines that have accumulated in the liver (S. Kennedy, pers. commun.).

Polymorphism at the *Ah* gene locus makes some strains of laboratory animals more susceptible than others to Ah-receptor-active chemicals, including immunotoxic effects (Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Silkworth *et al.* 1984, Nagarkatti *et al.* 1984, Kerkvliet *et al.* 1990a,b). It is possible that at highly contaminated Great Lakes sites, Ah-receptormediated toxicity has selected for herring gulls that have low Ah receptor activity, leading to lower EROD activity than expected based solely on contamination. Ah receptor activity and exposure to HAHs *both* are important for determining Ah-receptor-mediated effects, including immunotoxicity and EROD activity.

Although thymic mass was not associated with any single organochlorine contaminant in this experiment, the thymic atrophy associated with high EROD activity strongly suggests that the complex mixtures of contaminants in the Great Lakes exert toxic effects on the immune systems of young herring gulls. In chicken embryos, PCB congener #126 induces the activity of EROD in thymic tissue, demonstrating that the thymus is a target organ for Ah-receptors-mediated toxicity (Lorr *et al.* 1992). T lymphocytes perform many key roles in immunoregulation and cytotoxicity, so changes in thymus size and structure could potentially have important impacts on defenses against diseases. Tests of immune function in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes have shown strong associations between organochlorine contaminants and suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity (Chapter 4).

The bursa of Fabricius, the primary lymphoid organ for B lymphocyte development in birds, also is sensitive to HAHs during development and growth. The offspring of chicken hens fed diets containing 10 µg/g of various Arochlor (PCB) mixtures had reduced bursal masses even after the hens had been switched to control diets for eight weeks (Harris et al. 1976). Although bursal mass was decreased, PCBs did not suppress the antibody response to Brucella abortus. Coplanar PCBs and TCDD have produced dosedependent decreases in the number of viable lymphocytes in the bursae of chicken embryos that developed in eggs injected with HAHs (Nikolaidis et al. 1988b, Andersson et al. 1991). The activity of the enzyme aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase (AHH) in the bursa increased in a dose-dependent manner. This enzyme is induced when HAHs bind to the Ah-receptor and initiate transcription of certain genes. AHH activity normally is measured in liver tissue, but its induction in the bursa shows that this organ also is a target organ for this mechanism of toxicity. However, at the same dose of PCB congener #126 in chicken embryos, EROD was approximately four times higher in the thymus than the bursa, suggesting that T-cell-mediated immunity is more sensitive than antibody-mediated immunity to toxic effects mediated by the Ah receptor (Lorr et al. 1992). TCDD and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxybenzene decreased the number of lymphocytes in bursae that had been removed from chicken embryos, exposed to either HAH, and implanted into the chorioallantoic membrane of other embryos (Nikolaidis et al. 1990). Although the number of lymphocytes in the bursa were decreased, the bursal epithelium showed essentially normal development when examined microscopically.

In the present study, bursal mass did not decrease as liver organochlorine concentrations or liver EROD activity increased. However, the assessment of bursal mass was complicated by the high incidence of fluke infestation (*Cotylurus communis*) at all sites except Kent Island on the Atlantic coast. Only one of ten chicks from Kent Island was infected with a bursal fluke, and the low grade infestation in this chick was not associated with bursitis. It is possible that the fluke at Kent Island a different species than *C. communis*. While birds are the definitive hosts for some trematodes, the life cycle of these flukes requires snails and sometimes fish as a intermediate hosts. It is probable that the appropriate intermediate host for *C. communis* was absent or rare in the marine ecosystem at Kent Island, hence the lack of bursitis at this site. At the other sites, alteration of bursal tissues by the presence of the flukes imposed an additional factor besides contaminants to influence bursal growth and development. This fluke has been implicated in the death of herring gull chicks in the Great Lakes (Ludwig 1982).

In the absence of infectious organisms, immunosuppression may cause a decrease in the mass of the spleen as there are fewer functional lymphocytes inside this organ. Indeed, Harris *et al.* (1976) observed decreased spleen masses in the offspring of chicken hens fed PCBs. However, immunosuppression that leads to recurrent infections may result in splenomegaly. Hence, the effect of immunosuppression on spleen mass depends on the presence of infectious organisms, which may vary from site to site in a field study. In this study, there was no evidence for any association between spleen mass and organochlorine contaminants or EROD activity (Table 3.1).

Because of the close ties between the immune and endocrine systems, effects of contaminants on the endocrine system could influence the structure and function of the immune system. Adrenal glucocorticoids such as corticosterone and cortisol have immunosuppressive and anti-inflammatory effects (Schrank *et al.* 1990, Grasman and Scanlon 1995). Environmental contaminants, including HAHs, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, and heavy metals, have been associated with altered adrenal function in

animals (Rattner *et al.* 1984, Hontela *et al.* 1992, 1995). This study revealed no associations between adrenal mass and organochlorine contaminants in herring gull adults or chicks. There were no correlations between immunological or hematological parameters and adrenal mass.

Thyroid mass, histology, and hormones have proven to be responsive biomarkers to contaminants, in particular HAHs. Effects on these parameters have been demonstrated in fish-eating birds from the Great Lakes (Moccia et al. 1986, Fox 1993) and the Netherlands (Van den Berg et al. 1994), fish from the St. Lawrence River (Hontela et al. 1995), and marine mammals from Europe (Brouwer et al. 1989). Organochlorineassociated goiter was demonstrated in adult herring gulls from the Great Lakes during the early 1980's (Moccia et al. 1986). In the present study, gulls were collected from some of the same sites as this earlier study, and thyroid masses have generally decreased over time (Fox et al. in prep.). In the 1990's collections, thyroid mass increased as liver PCBs, HG-TEQs, and EROD activity increased (Table 3.2). The greatest difference in thyroid mass was between Atlantic coast (Kent Island) and inland (Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg) sites. Within the Great Lakes sites, there was not a clear relationship between thyroid mass and contaminants. The enlarged thyroid glands at Jackfish Bay might be related to nutritional stress related to food shortage (G. Fox, pers. commun.). The effects of contaminants on thyroid mass in chicks were less clear, showing a positive association with liver EROD activity but a negative association with HG-TEQs (Table 3.1).

This study showed that immunological and endocrine organ masses are useful biomarkers for assessing the health of wild birds, although their interpretation is confounded by several factors. Many laboratory studies have documented reduced masses of the thymus and bursa of Fabricius after developmental exposure to HAHs. In these laboratory studies, contaminant exposure and nutrition were strictly controlled, and the presence of infectious diseases was reduced or eliminated. In wild birds, pre- and post-hatch exposure may differ depending local food supplies. Infectious diseases may increase the mass of immunological organs, especially in immunosuppressed birds. In this experiment, the presence of flukes in the bursae of most birds obscured the potential effects of contaminants. Examination of immune organ masses in developing embryos would eliminate the problems of changing exposure and nutrition and the presence of many infectious diseases. Despite these confounding factors in the present study, an association between thymic atrophy and increasing liver EROD activity suggested that such contamination may in fact alter immunological defenses against infectious agents. As in the National Toxicology Program's procedures for screening immunotoxic chemicals in laboratory animals (Luster *et al.* 1988b, 1994), immune organ masses are important variables that should be measured along with more sophisticated tests of immune function to assess the immunotoxic risk presented by pollutants in wild animals.
Lake	
akes,	
Great I	nples.
n the (er san
ks fron	led liv
ll chicl	in poc
ing gui	asured
n herri	ere me
gans i	unts we
rine or	tamina
endoc	ne con
al and	chlori
ologic	Organo
unuuu	992.
ses of i	1 and 1
n mas	199 gr
ants o	st durir
ntamin	ic coas
s of co	Atlant
Effects	nd the
e 3.1.	ipeg, a
Table	Winn

Derendent Variable		Predicted	Actual	Test for Ordered Alt	ematives
(Organ Mass Expressed as % of Body Mass)	Independent Variable	Trend ¹	Trend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
Thymus	PCBs	1	+	-164	0.70
	IIG-TEQs	1	+	-466	0.95
	DDE	-	+	-196	0.74
	EROD	-		610	0.013
Bursa of Fabricius	PCBs	-	+	-655.0	0.97
	HG-TEQs	•	+	-279	0.78
	DDE	-	+	-387	0.87
	EROD	-	+	-105	0.62
Spleen	PCBs	-/+	+	433	0.084
	HG-TEQs	-/+	ı	415	0.18
	DDE	-/+	+	573	0.075
	EROD	-/+	1	577	0.061
Adrenal Gland	PCBs	-/+	+	169	0.098
	HG-TEQs	-/+	+	-199	0.60
	DDE	-/+	+	81	0.16
	EROD	-/+	•	-3	0.24
Thyroid Gland	PCBs	+	+	77	0.13
	HG-TEQs	+	•	-1405	1.0
	DDE	+	+	-169	0.35
	EROD	+	+	165	0.008

 1^{++-} means that the direction of the trend could not be predicted *a priori*.

Table 3.2. Effects of contaminants on immune and endocrine organ masses in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the

Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993. Organoci	lorine contaminants were measured i	in pooled liv	er samples.		
Dependent Variable		Predicted	Actual	Test for Ordered Al	tematives
(Organ Mass Expressed as % of Body Mass)	Independent Variable	I rend ¹	lirend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
Spleen	PCBs	-/+	-	785	0.15
	HG-TEQs	-/+	1	289	0.47
	DDE	-/+	+	221	0.55
	EROD	-/+	+	381	0.41
Adrenal Gland	PCBs	-/+		-215	0.43
	HG-TEQs	-/+	1	-361	0.58
	DDE	-/+	+	-713	66.0
	EROD	-/+	1	-103	0.61
Thyroid Gland	PCBs	+	+	1449	0.0006
	11G-TEQs	+	+	2565	0.0002
	DDE	+	+	71	0.16
	EROD	+	+	1269	0.0042

1"+/-" means that the direction of the trend could not be predicted a priori.

Table 3.3. Pearson's correlation analysis exploring relationships among immune and endocrine organ sizes and other biomarkers in herring gull chicks and adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991-93.

Relationship	Age	Vari	ables	r	N	Р
Organ Masses and	Adult	Thyroid Mass	Retinyl Palmitate	-0.37	160	< 0.001
Biochemical Biomarkers	Chick	Thyroid Mass	Retinyl Palmitate	0.18	89	0.10
	Adult	Thyroid Mass	Thyroxine	0.060	120	0.51
Hematological (Variables and Organ Masses	Chick	H/L Ratio ¹	Thyroid Mass	-0.32	91	0.0002
	Adult	H/L Ratio	Thyroid Mass	0.021	151	0.80

¹ Heterophil/Lymphocyte Ratio



Fig. 3.1. Relationship between liver EROD activity and thymus mass in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean.



Fig. 3.2. Spatial differences in mean bursal mass and the relationship to liver PCB concentrations in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes. For ANCOVA, body mass was used as the covariate.



Fig. 3.3. Spatial differences in mean spleen mass in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes. For ANCOVA, body mass was used as the covariate.



Fig. 3.4. Spatial differences in mean spleen mass in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes. For ANCOVA, body mass was used as the covariate.



Fig. 3.5. Spatial differences in mean adrenal mass and the relationship between mean thyroid mass and liver HG-TEQ concentrations in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1992. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes. For ANCOVA, body mass was used as the covariate.



Fig. 3.6. Spatial differences in mean adrenal mass and the relationship between mean thyroid mass and liver PCB concentrations in herring gull adults from the Great Lakes, Lake Winnipeg, and the Atlantic coast during 1991 and 1993. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes. For ANCOVA, body mass was used as the covariate.

Chapter 4. Immunological Biomarkers and Immunosuppression by Organochlorine Contaminants in Fish-Eating Birds of the Great Lakes

Summary

This study investigated the association between environmental contaminants and immune function in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes and evaluated the use of immunological, hematological, and biochemical measures as biomarkers of contaminantassociated health effects in wild birds. A primary focus was to study immunotoxic effects in young birds since the developing immune system is particularly sensitive to environmental contaminants. During 1991-1994, specific immune functions and general immunological, hematological, and biochemical parameters were measured in herring gull (*Larus argentatus*) and Caspian tern (*Sterna caspia*) chicks. Study sites were chosen to provide a wide range of organochlorine contamination caused primarily by PCBs. In gull and tern chicks, T cell function was assessed using the phytohemagglutinin skin test. In both species, T-cell-mediated immunity showed a strong decrease as organochlorine concentrations in eggs increased. The suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity observed in this field study was consistent with the documented effects of developmental exposure to PCBs and TCDD in laboratory animals. It also was consistent with thymic atrophy observed in herring gull chicks at sites with higher mean liver EROD activity, an integrated measure of exposure to contaminants that act via the Ah receptor (Chapter 3). In both species, chicks exhibited biologically significant differences in antibody production among sites, but relationships to contaminants or other factors were unclear. In published studies with laboratory rodents, PCBs most consistently suppress antibody-mediated immunity at high acute doses rather than at the chronic exposures during development that were observed in this field study. In gull and tern chicks, plasma retinol (vitamin A) concentrations decreased as egg organochlorine concentrations increased. Organochlorine contamination in the herring gulls and Caspian terns of the Great Lakes results in decreased T-cell-mediated immune function, and immunological and hematological variables are useful biomarkers for assessing the effects of contaminants on wild birds.

Introduction

During recent years, numerous studies have demonstrated that environmental contaminants can suppress immunological function and increase susceptibility to infectious diseases in laboratory animals (Koller 1979, Caren 1981, Luster *et al.* 1987, Vos *et al.* 1989, Wong *et al.* 1992, Holladay and Luster 1994, Pruett 1994). Often these chemicals act at low concentrations, especially in developing or growing animals (Takagi *et al.* 1987, Holladay and Luster 1994). Such perinatal effects often are more persistent than acute effects in adults. These laboratory effects have raised concerns about potential impacts on wildlife and humans. However, few immunotoxicological investigations have studied free-living wildlife. This study investigated the association between environmental contaminant exposure and immune function in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes.

Environmental contaminants, especially organochlorines such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and 1,1,1-trichloro-2,2-bis(*p*-chlorophenyl)-ethane (DDT), have caused

numerous physiological, reproductive, and behavioral problems in Great Lakes colonial waterbirds during the last 30 years (Peakall et al. 1980; Mineau et al. 1984; Fox and Weseloh 1987; Peakall and Fox 1987; Gilbertson 1988, 1989; Peakall 1988; Kubiak et al. 1989; Colborn et al. 1990; Fox et al. 1991; Gilbertson et al. 1991; Government of Canada 1991; Fox 1993; Mora et al. 1993). The high position of fish-eating birds in the food web exposes them to elevated levels of contaminants that biomagnify. Although reproductive success has recovered in many areas following restriction of many chemicals, significant impacts still occur at highly contaminated sites. The important symptoms include high embryonic mortality, subcutaneous, pericardial, and peritoneal edema, congenital deformities, growth retardation, hepatomegaly, liver necrosis, and liver porphyria (Gilbertson 1989). Gilbertson et al. (1991) named this set of symptoms Great Lakes embryo mortality, edema, and deformities syndrome (GLEMEDS). GLEMEDS is similar to chick edema disease, a syndrome found in chickens exposed to PCBs. In wild birds, GLEMEDS has been linked to halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (HAHs), which include PCBs, 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD), and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-pfuran (TCDF). HAHs exert many of these toxic effects by binding to an intracellular protein called the Ah-receptor. The HAH-Ah-receptor complex then influences the expression of many genes, including those for the detoxification enzymes in the cytochrome P450 1A1 (CYP 1A1) family (Safe 1990).

In laboratory animals, including chickens with chick edema disease, HAHs suppress several types of immune responses. T lymphocytes develop in the thymus gland. They are responsible for regulating many immune responses and for attacking virusinfected and malignant cells. In developing animals, low levels of HAHs cause thymic atrophy (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972, Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Nikolaidis

et al. 1988a,b, Vos and Luster 1989, Andersson et al. 1991). Toxic effects have been observed at many stages of T lymphocyte development, including the prothymocyte stage in the bone marrow (Fine et al. 1990), thymocyte selection in the thymus (Greenlee et al. 1985, Lundberg et al. 1990, Holladay et al. 1991, Blaylock et al. 1992), and the mature T lymphocyte stage in the blood (Neubert et al. 1991). As a result, a number of T cell functions are suppressed (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Sharma et al. 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983; Takagi et al. 1987; Tomar et al. 1991). B lymphocytes develop in the bursa of Fabricius in birds and the bone marrow in most mammals. B lymphocytes respond to foreign antigens by producing specific antibodies, which help identify and destroy invading microorganisms. High doses of HAHs suppress antibody production in laboratory animals (Sharma et al. 1978; Thomas and Hinsdill 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983; Silkworth and Grabstein 1982; Silkworth et al. 1984; Luster et al. 1988a; House et al. 1990; Kerkvliet et al. 1990b). HAHs appear to exert their toxic effects on the immune system primarily through Ah-receptor-dependent mechanisms (Silkworth and Grabstein 1982, Silkworth et al. 1984, Nagarkatti et al. 1984, Safe 1984, Luster et al. 1987, Vos and Luster 1989, Kerkvliet et al. 1990a,b), although Ah-receptor-independent mechanisms also are involved (Kerkvliet et al. 1990a,b, Davis and Safe 1991, Morris et al. 1992).

In addition to these direct effects on the immune system, HAHs also significantly reduce circulating levels of vitamin A (retinol; Zile 1992) and thyroxine. Both of these substances are important for proper immune function (Friedman and Sklan 1989, Bruns and Webb 1990, Haddad and Mashaly 1991). Various forms of vitamin A occur at low concentrations in herring gulls from some highly contaminated Great Lakes colonies (Government of Canada 1991). Brouwer *et al.* (1989) fed PCB-contaminated fish from the

Wadden Sea to common seals and found that these seals had lower plasma retinol, triiodothyronine, and total and free thyroxine. They concluded that PCBs might cause immunosuppression in wild seals through their effects on retinol homeostasis.

HAHs may have contributed to epizootics in marine mammals exposed to high concentrations of organochlorine pollutants. The disease outbreaks have occurred in beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas) in the St. Lawrence Estuary (Martineau et al. 1988), California sea lions (Zalophus californianus) on San Miguel Island (Gilmartin et al. 1976, Barinaga 1988), common seals (Phoca vitulina) in Europe (McGourty 1988), and bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) in the Atlantic Ocean (Lahvis et al. 1995). Several recent studies have lent support to this hypothesis. Harbor seals fed organochlorinecontaminated herring from the Baltic Sea had altered white blood cell counts and immune function (DeSwaart et al. 1994, Ross et al. 1995). Lahvis et al. (1995) found that T-cell immunity was inversely related to PCB and DDE contamination in male bottlenose dolphins from the Atlantic Ocean. At highly contaminated sites in the Great Lakes, double-crested cormorants (Phalacrocorax auritus) have an abnormally high incidence of eye infections associated with Pasteurella multocida (Ecological Research Services 1991). In laboratory animals, HAHs can suppress immune function by a number of mechanisms and increase susceptibility to bacteria (Thomas and Hinsdill 1978, Vos et al. 1978, Hinsdill et al. 1980), viruses (Friend and Trainer 1970, Imanishi et al. 1980, Vos and Luster 1989, House et al. 1990), and protozoan parasites (Vos and Luster 1989). Children who have been exposed perinatally to PCBs, PCDDs, and PCDFs in arctic Quebec experienced an increased incidence of middle ear infections during the first year of life (Dewailly et al. 1993).

The application of immunological tests to wild species presents many logistical difficulties. Many sophisticated tests of immune function that involve cell culture or flow

cytometry often are not practical for widespread field studies because it is difficult to transport fresh blood samples to a distant laboratory or sophisticated equipment into the field. Developing these cell culture techniques for wild species often is time consuming. Wild animals may not be readily available for testing except during brief time periods such as the breeding season. Measurement of immune organ masses, histology, and white blood cell counts can provide important information about immunocompetence and could be included in immunotoxicological assessments. However, it is possible for immune organs to have normal size and for cells to be normal in number but still have abnormal function. Usually, a battery of structural and functional variables should be studied to survey several aspects of immunocompetence. Optimally, immunological tests for field research should be sensitive, reproducible, simple, and relatively inexpensive.

This study examined the association between environmental contaminants and immune function in herring gulls and Caspian terns throughout the Great Lakes region. The herring gull was chosen because it is the most frequently used and best understood vertebrate bioindicator species in the Great Lakes. The Caspian tern was chosen because its high sensitivity and high exposure to contaminants have produced significant reproductive and population-level effects (Ludwig *et al.* 1993, Mora *et al.* 1993). The objectives of the study were to determine whether contaminant-associated immunosuppression occurs in these birds and to evaluate several immunological biomarkers for contaminant effects. This study employed two specific *in vivo* tests of immune function: the phytohemagglutinin (PHA) skin test for T-cell-mediated immunity and the sheep red blood cell (SRBC) hemagglutination test for antibody-mediated immunity. It also measured general biomarkers such as white blood cell counts, plasma retinol (vitamin A), and thyroxine.

Materials and Methods

Sampling Design

During 1992, herring gull chicks were sampled across a gradient of contamination at the following four sites within the Great Lakes and one site outside the Great Lakes (Tables 4.1 and 4.2; Fig. 4.1): 1) Little Charity Island in Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron; 2) Bird and Anchor Islands in the North Channel, Lake Huron; 3) Monroe, on the western shore of Lake Erie; 4) Hamilton Harbour in eastern Lake Ontario; and 5) Pony Island on the north end of Lake Winnipeg, Manitoba. The North Channel and Lake Winnipeg sites were chosen as reference colonies. During 1993, herring gulls were sampled at one reference site, Bird/Anchor Islands in the North Channel, and at one highly contaminated site, Little Charity Island in Saginaw Bay. During 1994, herring gulls were again sampled at Little Charity Island. During 1992, Caspian tern chicks were sampled across a gradient of contamination at the following five sites within the Great Lakes (Tables 4.1 and 4.2; Fig. 4.1): 1) Gravelly Island in upper Green Bay, Lake Michigan; 2) High Island in northern Lake Michigan; 3) Elm Island in the North Channel, Lake Huron; 4) Confined Disposal Facility in southern Saginaw Bay, Lake Huron; 5) Pigeon Island in eastern Lake Ontario. Elm Island was chosen as a reference colony because of its historically low organochlorine contamination. During 1993 and 1994, Caspian terns were sampled at one reference site, Elm Island in the North Channel, and at one highly contaminated site, the Confined Disposal Facility in Saginaw Bay. Because of logistical difficulties, not all variables were measured at all sites (Table 4.1).

At eight of ten sites, enclosures were erected during mid-incubation. The fences were constructed of plastic mesh $(1 \times 2 \text{ cm})$ and approximately 1 m high. The fences were placed around groups of 10-20 herring gull nests or 30-40 Caspian tern nests. Usually two or three enclosures were erected at each site. Chicks hatched in the enclosures and were confined until fledging or until the enclosures were removed. Chicks were banded with standard US Fish and Wildlife Service leg bands for individual identification. At two of ten sites, rocky ground prevented the construction of enclosures, so chicks were captured and released in thick vegetation. Immune function tests were initiated on 35-50 chicks at each site. Blood smears, retinol concentrations, and thyroxine concentrations were assessed for 10-20 chicks per site.

Immune function tests were initiated on three week old chicks. Chick age was based on estimated hatch times for the colony and body size measurements for individual chicks. Target body size for herring gull chicks was based on the following criteria a body mass of 400-700 g and a wing chord of 130-200 mm. Criteria for Caspian terns were a body mass of 450-550 g and a wing chord of 130-200 mm. The PHA skin test and SRBC hemagglutination test were initiated on 3 week old chicks (Day 0), and the PHA skin test was completed the following day (Day 1). Also on Day 1, a 4 ml blood sample was drawn for a blood smear and the measurement of retinol and thyroxine. Since antibody titers peak around 6 days after antigen injection in these species, a second 4 ml blood sample was collected on Day 6, or in some cases Day 7 or 8. Plasma was preserved in liquid nitrogen until antibody analysis.

110

Growth and Reproductive Success

Body size was measured in the same chicks at 3 and 4 weeks of age. Reproductive success was estimated by dividing the number of live chicks (3 or 4 weeks old) in each enclosure by the number of active nests. Most studies assess reproductive success based on 3 week old chicks since it is assumed that most chick mortality occurs before 3 weeks of age in these two species (Gilman *et al.* 1977, Ludwig *et al.* 1993), but the sampling protocol for this study allowed this assumption to be tested by counting 3 and 4 week old chicks.

Functional Tests for Immunocompetence

The PHA skin test for T-cell-mediated immunity was conducted following the procedures of Grasman and Scanlon (1995) using a dose of 0.1 ml of a 1 mg/ml PHA-P (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) dissolved in phosphate buffer saline (PBS). Feathers were plucked from both wing webs. One wing web was injected with PHA while the other received a placebo injection of PBS alone. The thickness of each wing web was measured to the nearest 0.05 mm immediately before and 24±3 hours after the injections using a pressure-sensitive caliper with a low-tension spring that did not crush the skin (Dyer Co., Lancaster, PA). A stimulation index (SI) was calculated as the change in the thickness of the PHA-injected wing web minus the change in thickness of the PBS-injected wing web.

The SRBC hemagglutination test was initiated at the same time as the PHA skin test. Chicks were injected via the wing vein with 0.1 ml of a 1% SRBC suspension in sterile saline. Blood plasma samples were collected from chicks 5-7 days after SRBC injection because antibody titers peak in gulls and terns at approximately 6 days post-

immunization (K. Grasman, unpublished data). Total (IgM + IgG) and 2-mercaptoethanolresistant (IgG) antibody activities were measured by the microtiter method of Gross and Siegel (1980, 1981) using 0.25% SRBC. SRBC from the same sheep (Colorado Serum Co, Denver, CO) were used for all injections and assays during 1992 and 1993. After this sheep died, SRBC were obtained from a sheep of the same age and flock as the first sheep.

General Immunological and Hematological Biomarkers

On Days 1 and 6, a 4 ml blood sample was drawn from the wing vein using a 22 gauge needle and Vacutainer® tubes containing EDTA (Beckton Dickinson, Rutherford, NJ). Within 5 hours after blood collection, two blood smears were made from the blood collected in EDTA. The blood was centrifuged at 2575×g for 5 minutes, and the plasma was stored on liquid nitrogen. Blood drawn on Day 1 was used for retinol and thyroxine analysis and that drawn on Day 6 was used for antibody analysis. PCV also was measured on Day 1 by centrifuging microhematocrit tubes for 5 minutes at 5125×g for 5 minutes.

Blood smears were fixed with methanol to preserve the cells until staining. Smears were stained with Wright stain (Accustain[™], Sigma, St. Louis, MO) using 100% stain for 30 seconds and then diluting with an equal volume of distilled water for 90 seconds. Smears were rinsed with distilled water and allowed to air dry. Two hundred white blood cells were counted and classified using oil immersion microscopy at 1000× magnification.

Plasma retinol was extracted from 100 μ l of plasma after the addition of 75 ng of retinyl acetate in 15 μ l of 2-propanol as an internal standard. Retinol-protein complexes were dissociated by vigorous shaking after the addition of 200 μ l of acetonitrile. The retinol was extracted with successive 4 and 1 ml volumes of hexane. After shaking for 5 minutes, the organic and aqueous phases were separated by centrifugation at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes at 4 °C. The organic phase was dried under nitrogen, reconstituted with 500µl of methanol, and filtered through a 0.2 µm PVDF filter disk. The extract was analyzed by reverse-phase HPLC using an ODS spheri-5 guard column (Brownlee) and a 15 cm long, 5 µm ODS Zorbax (DuPont) analytical column. Methanol (100%) at a flow rate of 1 ml/min was used to separate the retinoids in the plasma extract in less than 6 minutes. Either fluorescence (ex: 336 nm; em: 480 nm) or UV-visible (326 nm) was used to detect the retinoids. The detection limit for retinol in plasma was 5 µg/l.Total plasma thyroxine was measured using a solid phase enzyme assay (veterinary modification of the EZ Bead T4 Test, Immunotech Corp, Boston, MA).

Organochlorine Analysis

The 12 eggs collected from each site were pooled for organochlorine analysis by the analytical services laboratory at the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service following the methods of Peakall *et al.* (1986). PCB residues are reported as the sum of the following 42 PCB congeners: IUPAC nos. 28, 31, 42, 44, 49, 52, 60, 64, 66, 70, 74, 87, 97, 99, 101, 105, 110, 118, 128, 129, 137, 138, 141, 146, 149, 151, 153, 158, 170, 171, 172, 174, 180, 182, 183, 185, 194, 195, 200, 201, 203, and 206. Nonortho PCB congeners (IUPAC nos. 37,77,126, and 169) and all 2,3,7,8-substituted polychlorinated dibenzo-dioxin (PCDD) and polychlorinated dibenzo-furan (PCDF) congeners also were measured in pooled egg samples by the analytical services laboratory of the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service. Pooled egg samples were dried with anhydrous sodium sulphate and ground into a fine powder. An open chromatographic column wet-packed with multiple absorbents (anhydrous sodium sulphate, deactivated silica, sulfuric acid on silica, activated silica, and sodium hydroxide

on silica) was used for the initial extraction and cleanup. The sample was spiked with a 13C PCDD mixture (Cambridge Isotope Laboratories) and a 13C PCB 77, 126, and 169 mixture (Wellington Isotope Laboratories) to determine the degree of analyte loss during sample workup. The column was eluted using 1:1 dicloromethane/hexane, and the eluted extract was concentrated by evaporation. A liquid chromatograph (FMS Systems Inc.) with a carbon column was used for further cleanup and trace enrichment. The carbon column was flushed with dichloromethane and backflushed with toluene. The eluent was concentrated by evaporation, and the solvent was changed to hexane. After concentration by evaporation, the extract was cleaned up and separated on a deactivated Florisil column wet packed in hexane. The column was first eluted with 1:20 dichloromethane/hexane for nonortho PCB analysis. The column was then eluted with dichloromethane to produce a second fraction that second fraction was cleaned up on a wet packed, activated basic alumina column (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). The alumina column was eluted with 1:50 dichloromethane:hexane to produce a fraction containing residual PCBs and other organochlorines. The column was then eluted with 1:1 dichloromethane:hexane to produce a fraction for PCDD/PCDF analysis. A Hewlett-Packard 5971A GC/MSD was used to separate and quantify nonortho PCB, PCDD, and PCDF congeners. Detection limits were 75 pg/g for nonortho PCB congeners and approximately 0.3-2.7 pg/g for PCDD and PCDF congeners.

Because different HAH congeners have different relative toxicities, the total biological activity of a complex mixture of congeners cannot be estimated by adding the concentrations of the individual congeners. Furthermore, the relative toxicities of different congeners vary from species to species. Kennedy *et al.* (1994) used *in vitro* induction of EROD activity in primary hepatocyte cultures from 26 day old herring gull embryos to

compare the relative toxicities of TCDD, TCDF, and various PCBs. Based on the EC₅₀ for EROD induction, different HAH congeners could be compared to TCDD, the most toxic congener. The following herring gull-specific toxicity equivalency factors (TEFs) were generated: TCDD = 1.0; TCDF = 0.9; PCB congener # 169 = 0.07, PCB congener #126 = 0.06; PCB congeners # 77, #105, #118=0. Multiplying the concentration of each congener by its TEF and then summing the products gave an estimate of the total dioxin-like toxicity of the mixture for herring gulls. This estimate was called HG-TEQs, which stands for herring gull-specific TCDD-equivalents.

Bioassays for TCDD-Equivalents

A chicken embryo hepatocyte bioassay was used to measure the total dioxin-like activity of pooled egg samples. Organochlorines were extracted from pooled egg samples following the procedures of Norstrom *et al.* (1990). The chicken hepatocyte bioassay for EROD induction was carried out in the laboratory of Dr. Sean Kennedy at the National Wildlife Research Centre of the Canadian Wildlife Service following the procedures of Kennedy *et al.* (1993). Based on the *in vitro* induction of ethoxyresorufin-O-deethylase (EROD) in chicken hepatocytes, this bioassay compares the potency of a mixture of HAHs to that of a TCDD standard. The resulting measure of TCDD-like toxicity was designated as chicken bioassay TEQs (C-TEQs), which stands for TCDD toxic equivalents as determined by the chicken bioassay.

Statistical Analyses

The primary goal of this investigation was to determine whether there was an association between the degree of organochlorine contamination and immune function in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. The purpose was to determine whether intercolony differences in immunological variables could be explained by exposure-response relationships. Statistical methods were needed to determine the probability that the spatial patterns in response variables were associated with different pollutants as opposed to being caused by random events. The purpose was not to show what percent of variability in immunological responses could be explained statistically by particular chemicals. Because detailed organochlorine analyses are expensive and require large volumes of blood, contaminant concentrations were not measured in individual chicks. However, chemical analysis of pooled egg samples from each site allowed the sites to be ranked on the basis of concentrations of different contaminants.

Statistical methods were chosen to meet this primary goal of associating immune function with pollutants and to work within the constraints of pooled chemical analyses. Regression analysis was not appropriate because of its emphasis on explaining variability using linear models and its need for chemical analyses on individual birds. Although analysis of variance (ANOVA) could detect spatial differences in immune responses among sites, it was not appropriate because it could not be used to look for associations across gradients of contamination.

The Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives was used as the primary statistical method of testing specific hypotheses about contaminant-associated immunosuppression. This test fit the purpose and design of the study as well as the constraints on chemical analysis (Hollander and Wolfe 1973). The null hypothesis for this nonparametric measure

116

of exposure-response states that there is no difference among the central tendencies from different sites (H₀: $\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \dots = \mu_n$). The alternative hypothesis is that there is a monotonic trend (not necessarily linear) in the data based on *a priori* information (H_A: μ_1 $\geq \mu_2 \geq \mu_3 \dots \mu_n$, where at least one of the inequalities is a strict inequality). In this study, laboratory studies or other field data were used to predict the effects of various contaminants on each response variable. Inverse relationships to contamination were predicted for the PHA skin response, antibody responses, plasma retinol concentrations, and thyroxine concentrations. The direction of the trends for PCV and white blood cell counts could not be predicted from laboratory data, so a two-way test was performed by running the Jonckheere test in both directions and doubling the P-value for the most significant trend. Egg concentrations of total PCBs, DDE, chicken TEQs and, in herring gulls, HG-TEQs were used to order the study sites for relative contamination. The Jonckheere test was performed using a custom-written FORTRAN program (B. Collins, Senior Statistician, Canadian Wildlife Service) using the algorithm provided by Gibbons (1971). This program determined probability values based on 5000 random permutations of the data set being analyzed. These probability values were very similar to those found by the large sample normal approximation for the Jonckheere test (Hollander and Wolfe 1973).

Before the Jonckheere test was performed, a preliminary ANOVA was used to determine whether the response variable was influenced by year or a year × site interaction for subsets of data that were collected at some sites during different years. If there was no statistically significant year or a year × site interaction effect (P<0.05), then data were pooled across years for the Jonckheere test.

If the Jonckheere tests did not show any statistically significant trends, then oneway ANOVA within years followed by Duncan's multiple range test was used to look for differences among sites. Even though the ANOVA did not reveal associations to contaminants, it did elucidate spatial differences in response variables. For ANOVA analyses, the heterophil/lymphocyte ratios were transformed (log₁₀) to satisfy assumptions of homogenous variances and normality (Zar 1984). This transformation also was used for the Jonckheere and correlation analyses for this variable.

One objective of this investigation was to determine whether immunological biomarkers were related to one another or to biochemical biomarkers. Associations between the various biomarkers were detected using Pearson's correlation analysis. Statistically significant correlations (P<0.05) were reported only if the absolute value of the correlation coefficient (r) was greater than 0.3.

Results

Growth

The most significant alteration of growth occurred in both herring gull and Caspian tern chicks in Saginaw Bay during 1992 (Fig. 4.2). At other sites, herring gull chicks gained 14-20 g/d between 3 and 4 weeks of age, and Caspian tern chicks gained 4-18 g/d. However, during 1992, severe body mass loss occurred (-11 g/d in herring gulls and -5 g/d in Caspian terns) in Saginaw Bay despite an apparently abundant food supply as assessed by the number of regurgitated food items and fresh pellets. High chick mortality and low fledging success accompanied this body mass loss. Considering only herring gulls from Saginaw Bay, during 1992, growth was 29 g/d lower than during 1993 and 19

g/d lower than during 1994. ($F_{2,85}=20.8$, P<0.0001). During 1992, growth in Saginaw Bay was 25-31g/d lower than at all other sites ($F_{4,62}=7.69$, P<0.0001). In Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, there was a significant year × site interaction during 1992-94 ($F_{2,180}=3.23$, P=0.042). During 1992, growth in Saginaw Bay was 11-23 g/d lower than at the other three sites ($F_{3,78}=16.1$, P<0.0001).

Organochlorine Concentrations

The range in organochlorine contaminants among sites was much greater for pooled herring gull eggs than for pooled Caspian tern eggs (Table 4.2). From the least to most contaminated herring gull colony, there was a 6.6× increase in total PCBs, a 6.7× increase in chicken bioassay TEQs, a 6.0× increase in HG-TEQs, and a 7.8× increase in DDE. In Caspian tern eggs, the increases were 1.8× for total PCBs, 4.2 for chicken bioassay TEQs, and 4.1× for DDE. Although minimum concentrations for PCBs and DDE were similar for the two species, maximum values were higher in herring gulls as compared to Caspian terns (3.6× for PCBs, 2.6× for chicken bioassay TEQs, and 2.1× for DDE). In herring gulls, total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, HG-TEQs, and DDE gave the same rank order for contamination, but these orders were different in Caspian terns. Therefore, the Jonckheere test was identical for total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, and DDE in herring gulls. In Caspian terns, these tests were different because some of the sites were different.

Functional Tests For Immunocompetence

In both herring gull and Caspian tern chicks, several measures of organochlorine contamination showed strong inverse relationships with T cell function as measured by the

PHA skin test (Table 4.3, Fig. 4.3). In herring gulls, preliminary ANOVA indicated no evidence that year or a year × site interaction influenced the stimulation index (P>0.45). Thus, data could be pooled across years. During 1992-94, there was very strong evidence that T-cell-mediated immunity decreased as total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, HG-TEQs, and DDE increased (P=0.0002). The most contaminated sites were suppressed 35-45% compared to the least contaminated sites. Considering only 1992 data, there was still strong evidence for this inverse relationship (P=0.0009).

In Caspian tern chicks, preliminary ANOVA revealed marginal evidence that year affected the stimulation index ($F_{2,206}=2.87$, P=0.058), but this effect was much weaker than the site effect ($F_{1,206}=31.1$, P<0.0001). During 1992-94, there was very strong evidence that T-cell-mediated immunity decreased as total PCBs (P=0.0002), chicken bioassay TEQs (P=0.0002), and DDE (P=0.0002) exposure increased. During 1992 alone, there was very strong evidence for an inverse relationship between total PCBs (P=0.0004) and DDE (P=0.0008), but very weak evidence for such a relationship with chicken bioassay TEQs (P=0.14). The most contaminated sites were suppressed 30% compared to the least contaminated sites.

In both species, there was no evidence of contaminant-induced suppression of the primary total antibody (IgM + IgG) and IgG responses following immunization with SRBC (P>0.50; Table 4.3; Fig. 4.4). In Saginaw Bay herring gull chicks, the only site for which there were multiple years of data, there was marginal evidence that the total antibody response decreased from 1992-94 ($F_{2,84}$ =2.50, P=0.088) but moderate evidence the IgG response decreased during this same time period ($F_{2,84}$ =4.13, P=0.020). When combining 1992-94 data, there was very weak evidence for a difference among the four

sites in the total antibody ($F_{3,135}=1.74$, P=0.16) or IgG ($F_{3,135}=1.53$, P=0.21) responses. When considering only 1992 data, there was moderate evidence that site influenced the total antibody response ($F_{2,43}=3.97$, P=0.026) and strong evidence that site influenced the IgG response ($F_{2,43}=7.06$, P=0.0022). In Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, there was very strong evidence that year influenced the total antibody response ($F_{2,180}=7.68$, P=0.0006) and marginal evidence for a year × site interaction effect ($F_{1,180}=2.57$, P=0.079). There was strong evidence for a year × site interaction effect on the IgG response ($F_{2,179}=5.24$, P=0.0061). During 1992, there was strong evidence for differences among the three sites in the total antibody response ($F_{2,61}=5.19$, P=0.0083) and IgG response ($F_{2,61}=5.76$, P=0.0051). After examination of the differences in antibody titers among Caspian tern colonies, *a posteriori* Jonckheere tests were conducted to look for a positive relationships among contaminants and antibody titers. These tests provided strong evidence for positive associations between the total antibody response total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, and DDE for data from 1992 alone and data from 1992-94 (P<0.02 for two-way tests).

General Immunological, Hematological, and Biochemical Biomarkers

In both species, several measures of organochlorine contamination showed strong inverse relationships with plasma retinol concentrations (Table 4.4, Fig. 4.5). In herring gull chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the preliminary ANOVA provided little or no evidence that year ($F_{1,36}$ =1.91, P=0.18) or a year × site interaction ($F_{1,36}$ =0.057, P=0.81) influenced the plasma retinol concentration. During 1992-93, there

was moderate evidence that plasma retinol decreased as total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, HG-TEQs, and DDE increased (P=0.014). In Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the preliminary ANOVA revealed marginal evidence that a year × site interaction influenced plasma retinol ($F_{1,31}$ =3.35, P=0.077), but little evidence for a year effect ($F_{1,31}$ =2.16, P=0.15). During 1992-93, there was very strong evidence for a negative relationship between plasma retinol concentration and total PCBs (P=0.0002), chicken bioassay TEQs (P=0.0002), and DDE (P=0.0002).

There was little or no evidence that organochlorine contamination influenced plasma thyroxine concentrations (P>0.15; Table 4.4, Fig. 4.6). In herring gull chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the preliminary ANOVA indicated strong evidence that a year × site interaction influenced plasma thyroxine ($F_{1,36}$ =8.05, P=0.007). During 1992, there was very strong evidence that plasma thyroxine differed among sites ($F_{4,44}$ =8.60, P<0.0001). In Caspian tern chicks, there was little or no evidence for a year × site interaction effect ($F_{1,33}$ =0.16, P=0.69) and only marginal evidence for a year effect ($F_{1,33}$ =3.15, P=0.085) on plasma thyroxine in Saginaw Bay and the North Channel. During 1992-93, there was very strong evidence that plasma thyroxine differed among the five sites ($F_{4,64}$ =7.52, P<0.0001).

Differential white blood cell counts varied significantly among sites, but a relationship to organochlorine contaminants was evident only for Caspian tern chicks during 1992 (Tables 4.4 and 4.5). Only heterophils and lymphocytes were counted in numbers sufficient for statistical analysis. In herring gull chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the preliminary ANOVA provided very strong evidence for a year × site interaction effect on percent heterophils ($F_{1,48}$ =14.6, P=0.0004) and percent lymphocytes

(F_{1,48}=13.2, P=0.0007). Considering only 1992 data, there was very strong evidence that site influenced both percent heterophils (F_{4,42}=5.64, P=0.001) and percent lymphocytes (F_{4,42}=6.26, P<0.0001). There was little or no evidence that organochlorine contaminants affected the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio of herring gulls during 1992 (P=0.26 for a two-way test).

In Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the preliminary ANOVA provided very strong evidence for a year × site interaction effect on percent heterophils ($F_{1,53}$ =48.6, P<0.0001) and on percent lymphocytes ($F_{1,53}$ =29.6, P<0.0001). During 1992, there was very strong evidence that site influenced percent heterophils ($F_{4,41}$ =13.7, P<0.0001) and percent lymphocytes ($F_{4,41}$ =7.92, P<0.0001). During 1992, there was strong evidence that the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio increased with increasing total PCBs (P=0.0028 for a two-way test), chicken bioassay TEQs (P=0.0004 for a twoway test), and DDE (P=0.022 for a two-way test).

In both species there was a trend for an increase in packed red blood cell volume (PCV) as some measures of organochlorine contamination increased (Tables 4.4 and 4.5). In herring gull chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel during 1992-93, there was strong evidence that year influenced PCV ($F_{1,78}$ =7.40, P=0.008). During 1992, there was marginal evidence that PCV increased as total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, HG-TEQs, and DDE increased (P=0.086 for a two-way test). This trend was strongly influenced by low PCVs at the Lake Winnipeg reference site. In Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the preliminary ANOVA provided very strong evidence that PCV increased as total PCP, there was marginal evidence that PCV. During 1992, there was marginal evidence that PCV increased PCV. During 1992, there was strong evidence that a year × site interaction influenced PCV. During 1992, there was marginal evidence that PCV increased as total PCBs (P=0.085) and DDE (P=0.087) increased. This trend was strongly

influenced by low PCVs at the North Channel reference site. There was little or no evidence for such a relationship with chicken bioassay TEQs (P=0.55).

Relationships among Functional Tests and General Biomarkers

Pearson's correlation analysis was used to explore relationships among biomarkers (Table 4.6). The objective was to determine whether there were any associations between different immunological and hematological parameters and whether any biochemical biomarkers could serve as surrogates for immunological biomarkers.

In both herring gull and Caspian tern chicks, there was little evidence for any biologically significant relationships between T-cell-mediated and antibody-mediated immunity. In herring gulls, there were no statistically significant correlations. In Caspian terns during 1992, there was moderate evidence for a weak negative relationship between the PHA response and the total antibody titer (r = -0.31, P = 0.015). During 1992-94, this relationship was even weaker (r = -0.16, P = 0.017).

The PHA skin test response showed few relationships to any other biomarkers in either species. In herring gull chicks during 1992, the PHA response was positively correlated with plasma thyroxine (P=0.026). This relationship was much weaker during 1992-93 (P=0.085). In Caspian tern chicks, the PHA response was positively correlated with percent eosinophils during 1992-93 (P=0.004) and during 1992 alone (P=0.024).

The antibody responses were significantly correlated with white blood cell variables, but the nature of this relationship was different in the two species. In herring gull chicks during 1992-93, the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio was negatively correlated with the total antibody (P=0.002) and IgG (P<0.001) responses. In Caspian tern chicks during

1992-93, the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio was positively correlated with the total antibody (P<0.001) and IgG (P=0.007) responses.

Plasma retinol was positively correlated with the total antibody (P=0.006) and IgG (P=0.033) responses in herring gull chicks during 1992. This relationship was weaker when 1993 data were added to 1992 data (P=0.093 for total antibody, P=0.24 for IgG). Plasma retinol was not associated with antibody responses in Caspian tern chicks.

Several biomarkers were related to various measures of body size, body condition, or age. In herring gull chicks, plasma thyroxine was correlated with body mass (P=0.013), wing chord length (P<0.001), and body mass/ wing chord ratio (P=0.007) during 1992. Weaker relationships were observed for 1992-93 data (P=0.051 for body mass; P=0.002 for wing chord; P=0.037 for body mass/wing chord ratio). During 1992, plasma retinol was positively correlated with body mass (P=0.013), wing chord length (P<0.001) and body mass/wing chord ratio (P=0.007) in herring gull chicks. Weaker relationships were observed for 1992-93 data (P=0.0029 for body mass; P=0.019 for wing chord length; P=0.16 for body mass/wing chord ratio). Neither plasma thyroxine nor retinol were associated with body size in Caspian tern chicks. In herring gull chicks, the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio was negatively correlated with body mass (P=0.003) and wing chord length (P=0.007) during 1992. Weaker relationships were observed during 1992-93 (P=0.004 for body mass; P=0.027 for wing chord). PCV was positively correlated with wing chord (P<0.001) in Caspian tern chicks during 1992-4. Percent eosinophils were positively correlated with daily body mass gain in Caspian tern chicks during 1992 (P=0.035) during 1992-93 (P<0.001).

Discussion

The results of this field investigation demonstrated contaminant-associated suppression of T-cell-mediated, but not antibody-mediated, immune function in chicks of two species of colonial waterbirds in the Great Lakes. These associations with T cell function were consistent with the contaminant-associated thymic atrophy found in herring gull chicks from the Great Lakes (Chapter 3). The PHA skin test was an extremely effective and sensitive biomarker for assessing T cell function in wild birds. The within site variation was low enough to allow statistical differentiation among sites, especially when the sample sizes within sites were greater than 20 birds. At sites where the test was replicated for two or three years, the response was consistent among years. It was not influenced by year or year × site interaction effects. For both species in Saginaw Bay, results were similar during the year of severe body mass loss and mortality (1992) as compared to the following two years of normal growth and fledging success. Lochmiller et al. (1993) found that the PHA skin test was much more sensitive to the immunosuppressive effects of a low protein diet in northern bobwhites (Colinus virginianus) as compared to in vitro proliferation of T lymphocytes in response to PHA. The in vitro T lymphocyte proliferation assay measures only very early events in the T cell response that are involved with cell division. In contrast, the in vivo skin test incorporates a number of events in the T cell response, including cell proliferation, differentiation, and cytokine production (Stadecker et al. 1977, Lochmiller et al. 1993).

The PHA test has been used as a test for T cell function in laboratory experiments and in human and veterinary clinical medicine. When T lymphocyte function was obliterated using irradiation or immunosuppressive drugs in laboratory chickens and ducks, the PHA response was reduced 50-60% as compared to controls (Edelman *et al.* 1986, Schrank *et al.* 1990, Grasman and Scanlon 1995). Hence, the 30-45% suppression of this response in herring gulls and Caspian terns at highly contaminated sites in the Great Lakes represents a biologically significant impact on the immune system. This 30-45% suppression may represent the maximal level of suppression in these species. In both species, the occurrence of severe body mass loss in Saginaw Bay during 1992 did not result in additional suppression of the response as compared to other years.

Suppression of the PHA skin response occurred over a much narrower exposure range in Caspian tern chicks than in herring gull chicks. In Caspian tern chicks, the response was suppressed approximately 30% over an exposure range from 4.3 to 7.7 μ g/g in eggs. In contrast, the 30-45% suppression in herring gull chicks occurred over an exposure range from 4.2 to 27.5 μ g/g in eggs. The sensitivity of Caspian tern chicks to the immunosuppressive effects of organochlorines is not surprising considering their sensitivity to the reproductive effects of these pollutants. The lower contaminant concentrations in Caspian tern eggs as compared to herring gull eggs are probably related to the migratory habits of the terns. The terns migrate to Central and South America for six months of the year, where they presumably eat a less-contaminated food supply when inhabiting ocean beaches. When Caspian terns return to breed at highly contaminated Great Lakes sites such as Saginaw Bay, the body burden of contaminants in female terns increases throughout the breeding season. Second clutch eggs have higher organochlorine concentrations and lower rates of hatching than first clutch eggs (Ludwig et al. 1993). In contrast, herring gulls are year-round residents of the Great Lakes, so they are chronically exposed to high concentrations of organochlorines.

Because most organochlorines tend to biomagnify up the food web, their concentrations tend to be highly co-correlated. Hence, it is difficult to determine which

organochlorine contaminants are responsible for T-cell-mediated immunosuppression in Great Lakes colonial waterbirds. In herring gull eggs, gradients in PCBs and DDE all occurred in the same rank order. However, PCBs occurred at much higher concentrations than DDE. Chick-bioassay-derived TEQs are a measure of TCDD-like activity of PCBs, PCDDs, and PCDFs. In Caspian tern chicks, the PHA skin response decreased as total PCBs, chicken bioassay TEQs, and DDE increased. However, the strongest relationship was with PCBs. As in herring gulls, PCBs had the highest concentrations of any organochlorines in Caspian tern eggs. While PCBs were probably the major cause of immunosuppression in both species, the effects of and interactions with other organochlorine contaminants cannot be ruled out.

The SRBC hemagglutination test was a good biomarker for measuring the function of antibody-mediated immunity in wild colonial waterbirds. The within site variability was low compared to among site variability, allowing statistical differentiation among sites. The IgG titers usually gave smaller P-values in ANOVA analyses as compared to the total antibody titers, suggesting that IgG is a more sensitive biomarker than the total antibody titer. A disadvantage of this assay is the need to make two visits to each colony six (5-7) days apart. The primary antibody response peaks in colonial waterbirds approximately six days after immunization. Poor weather and other logistical problems can make it difficult to return to a colony during this narrow time window, especially if the immunological tests are being conducted simultaneously at several sites.

At sites where the hemagglutination test was replicated for three years, the response often changed from year to year. Time trends in antibody titers were confounded by a change in the individual sheep that served as a source of SRBC. Between the 1993 and 1994 field seasons, the sheep that had been used previously died, so a sheep of similar age from the same flock was substituted for 1994. In Saginaw Bay herring gull chicks, there was a nonsignificant decrease in total antibody titer over the three years. The IgG response decreased significantly from 1992 to 1993 but not from 1993 to 1994. In Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay and the North Channel, the total antibody response dropped from 1992 to 1993 and again from 1993 to 1994. The IgG response showed a significant year × site interaction. In the North Channel, the IgG titers dropped significantly from 1992 to 1994, although the 1993 titers were not significantly different than the early or later years. In Saginaw Bay, IgG titers dropped significantly from 1992 to 1994. In both herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from Saginaw Bay, IgG titers dropped between 1992 and 1993 while the same source of SRBCs was used. This drop in IgG coincided with a doubling in total PCBs and DDE in herring gull eggs from 1992 to 1993 (D.V. Weseloh, Canadian Wildlife Service, pers. commun.). During this same time period, the zebra mussel (*Dreissenna polymorpha*) populations in Saginaw Bay increased greatly, possibly influencing contaminant cycling. Contaminant data for herring gull eggs from 1994 are not yet available.

Making comparisons among sites, there was no evidence for contaminant-induced suppression of the antibody responses. However, the magnitude of differences in total antibody and IgG titers among sites was biologically significant. Other factors such as genetics, nutrition, stress, and weather might have influenced antibody titers. *A posteriori* Jonckheere tests provided strong evidence for higher antibody titers in Caspian terns from more contaminated sites. Such trends suggest contaminant-associated deregulation of antibody-mediated immunity, but additional data should be gathered to investigate these patterns.
The antibody responses displayed different relationships to differential white blood cell counts in the two species. In herring gulls, the antibody responses increased as the relative number of heterophils to lymphocytes decreased. Thus, antibody-mediated immunity increased as the relative number of lymphocytes, the antibody-producing cells, increased. The heterophil to lymphocyte ratio accounted for 25-31% of the variation in the antibody responses in herring gull chicks. Conversely, in Caspian terns the antibody responses increased as the relative number of heterophils to lymphocytes increased. In this species the correlation explained only 12-17% of the variability in the data. Data for total white blood cell numbers, especially total lymphocytes, might clarify the antibody relationships to differential counts. However, total white blood cell counts can be difficult to determine under field conditions.

The suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity but not antibody-mediated immunity in this field study is consistent with laboratory studies on the effects of chronic and (or) perinatal exposure to PCBs and TCDD. These studies have documented consistent effects of PCBs and TCDD on T-cell-mediated immunity, including thymic atrophy and suppression of various T cell functions. In particular, T cell development is affected at various stages, including the prothymocyte (Fine *et al.* 1990) and thymocyte periods. The transition from CD4-CD8+ thymocytes to CD4+CD8+ thymocytes is inhibited (Blaylock *et al.* 1992), later resulting in a loss of helper T cell function. Similar reductions in helper T lymphocyte numbers have been observed in humans who have been exposed perinatally to PCBs, PCDDs, and PCDFs in arctic Quebec (Dewailly *et al.* 1993) and to TCDD in Times Beach, Missouri (Smoger *et al.* 1993). At Times Beach these effects persisted at least 10 years after the time period of highest exposure. In experiments with laboratory rodents, PCBs most consistently suppress antibody-mediated immunity at high acute doses rather than at the chronic developmental exposures observed in this field study. At these high acute doses, PCBs and TCDD appear to act directly on B lymphocytes, preventing their differentiation into antibody-producing cells (Luster *et al.* 1988a).

Even though the anti-SRBC antibody response depends on helper T lymphocytes, the suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity but not antibody-mediated immunity in this field study is consistent with current immunological theory. The contaminant-associated suppression of the PHA skin response may reflect suppression of a subset of helper T lymphocytes that boost inflammatory responses but not antibody-mediated responses. In mice, T_H1 cells promote inflammatory, cytotoxic responses while T_H2 cells promote antibody responses. Suppression of the PHA skin response in herring gulls and Caspian terns suggests suppression of T_H1 -like cells that would not necessarily enhance antibody responses. In laboratory animals, HAHs have been shown to suppress such inflammatory (delayed-type hypersensitivity) and cytotoxic responses (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Faith and Moore 1977; Sharma *et al.* 1978; Hinsdill *et al.* 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark *et al.* 1981, 1983; Nagarkatti *et al.* 1984). In many cases, these cell-mediated responses are suppressed without any effects on production antibodies that depend on helper T cell (T_H1) activity (Faith and Moore 1977, Thomas and Hinsdill 1980, Clark *et al.* 1983).

Two recent studies have demonstrated contaminant-induced immunosuppression in marine mammals chronically exposed to organochlorines, including PCBs. Ross *et al.* (1995) found reduced *in vivo* delayed-type hypersensitivity (T-cell-mediated) and antibody responses to ovalbumin in harbor seals fed organochlorine-contaminated herring from the Baltic Sea. This same group found increased numbers of polymorphonuclear granulocytes, reduced NK cell activity, and reduced mitogen-induced proliferative T cell

responses in the organochlorine-exposed seals (De Swart *et al.* 1994). Mitogen-induced proliferative B cell responses were not affected. PCBs were the most prevalent contaminants found in the blubber of seals fed these fish. This contaminant-associated immunosuppression might have contributed to the 1988 phocine distemper virus epizootic in European harbor seals. Lahvis *et al.* (1995) found that the mitogen-induced proliferative T cell responses were inversely correlated with blood PCB and DDE concentrations in male bottlenose dolphins. B cell proliferation showed no relationships to contaminants.

The biochemical biomarkers (plasma retinol and thyroxine) were not consistently related to immunological function in individual birds. Retinol (vitamin A) is essential for immunocompetence. Furthermore, laboratory and field studies have demonstrated that organochlorines can disrupt vitamin A homeostasis. In this study, plasma retinol was strongly correlated with antibody responses in herring gull chicks during 1992 but less so when the data for 1993 were added. Retinol did not appear to influence immune function in Caspian tern chicks, although retinol concentrations were one to two orders of magnitude lower in terns as compared to gulls. Apparently, physiological regulation and (or) dietary intake of vitamin A differs greatly in these two species. Nonetheless, in both species plasma retinol decreased as PCB contamination increased, exhibiting a similar relationship to contamination as the PHA skin test. In herring gull chicks, this negative relationship was strongly influenced by the North Channel site, which had much higher retinol values than the Lake Winnipeg site, which was the other reference colony. Thus, although individual variability in retinol and the PHA skin response was great, on a site basis plasma retinol paralleled T-cell-mediated immunity.

Plasma thyroxine showed a strong relationship to the PHA skin response in herring gull chicks during 1992, although this relationship was weaker when 1993 data was added.

However, there was a strong relationship when comparing site means. There was little or no evidence for such a relationship in Caspian terns either on an individual bird or site basis. Although thyroxine and thyroid stimulating hormone often influence immune function in laboratory studies, there was little evidence that plasma thyroxine was a good surrogate biomarker for immune function in this field study.

Although the measures of immunological function were not confounded by growth or development, several general biomarkers were related to body size or condition. Larger herring gull chicks tended to have higher plasma thyroxine, plasma retinol, and PCVs than smaller chicks. Larger chicks also tended to have proportionally more lymphocytes than heterophils. In Caspian tern chicks, only PCV and percent eosinophils were positively correlated with body size or condition. These results suggest that many general biomarkers are related to growth in young birds, complicating their use as biomarkers for contaminant effects and exposure. As birds grow, the length of their exposure to pollutants also increases, so these associations could be influenced by contaminant exposure as well as normal growth patterns. These relationships were evident even though the only chicks selected for measurement were those that fit body mass and wing chord criteria for approximately 21 days of age.

The results of this field investigation suggest that most of the general biomarkers and immune function biomarkers used here can be important indices for assessing the health of free-living birds. However, few of the general biomarkers were clearly related to immunological function, suggesting that immune function must be measured directly, i.e., none of the general or structural biomarkers measured here provides a surrogate measure of T-cell-mediated or antibody-mediated immune function. However, general biomarkers such as plasma retinol are influenced by exposure to organochlorines such as PCBs. Alterations in variables such as retinol and white blood cell counts suggest biologically significant differences in physiology and health among various Great Lakes colonies.

Conclusions

This study clearly demonstrated contaminant-associated suppression of T-cellmediated immunity and plasma retinol levels in two species of fish-eating birds from the Great Lakes. Contaminant-associated impairment of T cell function was consistent with contaminant-associated thymic atrophy in herring gull chicks. The identity of the particular organochlorine(s) responsible for such suppression could not be determined since exposure to different organochlorines often is correlated due to similarities in environmental chemistry and metabolism. However, PCBs are the most likely cause for these effects because PCB concentrations were by far the highest of any immunosuppressive organochlorines in both species. Additional research is needed to determine the relationship between suppression of functional assays and increased susceptibility to infectious diseases. Such research will be important for determining the consequences of this T-cell-mediated immunosuppression on individual survival and population dynamics (Ludwig *et al.* 1993, Mora *et al.* 1993).

Table 4.1. Samp	ling design for	immune function st	tudy in fish-e	ating birds of	the Great Lak	es during 1	992-94.
-	:				Variable		
Species	Year	Colony	PIIA Test	SRBC Test	WBC Counts	Retinol	Thyroxine
Herring Gull	1992	Lake Winnipeg	X		X	X	X
		North Channel	X		Х	X	X
		Hamilton Harbour	X	X	Х	X	X
		W. Erie	X	Х	Х	Х	X
		Saginaw Bay	X	X	X	X	X
	8661	North Channel	Х	Х	X	Х	X
		Saginaw Bay	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
	1994	Saginaw Bay	Х	Х			
Caspian Tern	1992	North Channel	Х	Х	Х	X	X
		Upper Green Bay	Х		Х	X	Х
		N. Lake Michigan	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
		Saginaw Bay	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
		E. Lake Ontario	Х		Х	Х	Х
	1993	North Channel	Х	Х	Х	х	Х
		Sagainaw Bay	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
	1994	North Channel	Х	Х			
		Saginaw Bay	Х	x			

Table 4.2. Organochlorine contaminants in pooled samples of herring gull and Caspian tern eggs from the Great Lakes and

Lake winnipeg di	uring 1992.									
					Co	ncentration (wet weight			
Species/ Colony	Island/Location	Lake	ΣPCBs (μg/g)	C- TEQs (ng/g)	HG-TEQs (pg/g)	p.p'-DDE (µg/g)	Dieldrin (µg/g)	Mirex (µg/g)	HCB (µg/g)	Heptachlor Epoxide (µg/g)
Herring Gull										
Lake Winnipeg	Pony Island	Winnipeg	4.17	2.60	71	1.00	0.11	0.03	0.03	0.06
North Channel	Bird/Anchor Islands	Huron	6.67	3.18	181	4.03	0.31	0.12	0.04	0.12
Hamilton Harbour	Hamilton Harbour	Ontario	14.18	9.22	240	.21	0.07	09.0	0.04	0.04
W. Erie	Monroe	Erie	21.39	13.48	257	5.79	0.20	0.08	0.04	0.10
Saginaw Bay	Little Charity Island	Huron	27.45	17.53	421	7.78	0.19	0.06	0.05	0.11
Caspian Tern										
North Channel	Elm Island	Huron	4.31	3.29		0.93	0.09	0.02	0.01	0.03
Upper Green Bay	Gravelly Island	Michigan	5.88	1.62		2.27	0.16	0.02	0.01	0.06
N. Lake Michigan	I ligh Island	Michigan	6.57	4.38		3.46	0.16	0.02	0.01	0.06
Saginaw Bay	Confined Disposal Facility	l luron	7.54	6.84		3.12	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.02
E. Lake Ontario	Pigeon Island	Ontario	7.73	3.49		3.78	0.004	0.60	0.01	0.02

Table 4.3. Effects of contaminants on immune function in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes and

Dependent Variable Indepe							
Dependent Variable Indepe						Test for Ordere	d Alternatives
	endent Variable	Species	Y car(s)	Trend	Trend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
PHA Skin Test	PCBs	Herring Gull	1992-94	ı	•	3327	0.0002
	ucken IEQs HG-TEQs DDE ¹		1992	1	•	603	0.0009
	PCBs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	,	•	10,211	0.0002
			1992	ı		1821	0.0004
Chi	icken TEQs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	,		8543	0.0002
			1992	1	1	387	0.14
	DDE	Caspian Tern	1992-94	,	•	7073	0.0002
			1992	1	•	1589	0.0008
Total Antibody	PCBs	Herring Gull	1992-94	1	+	-463	0.56
Kesponse Ciu	ucken 1EQs HG-TEQs DDE1		1992		+	66-	0.73
	PCBs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	•	+	-3546	0.09
CIA	icken 1EQs		1992	,	+	-6()2	1.0
	DDE	Caspian Tern	1992-94	ı	+	-5698	1.0
			1992	•	+	-582	1.0

¹ The rank orders of sites for were identical for the designated variables, and thus the Jonckheere test was identical.

Table 4.4. Effects of contaminants on general immunological and hematological biomarkers in herring gull and Caspian term chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94. Organochlorine contaminants were measured in procled and secondarian

voice ces sampic							
				:	-	Test for Order	ed Alternatives
Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Species	Year(s)	Tredicted	Actual Trend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
Plasma Retinol	PCBs Chicken TEQs HG-TEQs DDE1	Ilerring Gull	1992-94		•	422	0.014
	PCBs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	,	•	310	0.0002
	Chicken TEQs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	1	•	330	0.0002
	DDE	Caspian Tern	1992-94	•	•	174	0.0002
Plasma Thyroxine	PCBs Chicken TEQs HG-TEQs DDE ¹	Herring Gull	1992-94	,	•	174	0.17
	PCBs	Caspian Tern	1992-94		+	-124	0.74
	Chicken TEQs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	•	+	-350	0.97
	DDE	Caspian Tern	1992-94	•	+	-68	0.65

¹ The rank orders of sites for were identical for the designated variables, and thus the Jonckheere test was identical.

able 4.4 (continu	ied).						
						Test for Ordere	ed Alternatives
Dependent Variable	Independent Variable	Species	Y car(s)	Predicted Trend	Actual Trend	Jonckheere Statistic	P-Value
I leterophil/	PCBs	Herring Gull	1992-94	-/+	+	195	0.40
Lymphocyte Ratio (Log ₁₀)	Chicken TEQs HG-TEQs DDE		1992	-/+	+	122	0.26
	PCBs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	-/+	÷)	31	0.88
			1992	-/+	+	307	0.0028
	Chicken TEQs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	-/+	+	69	0.78
			1992	-/+	+	371	0.0004
	DDE	Caspian Tern	1992-94	-/+	+	127	0.62
			1992	-/+	+	239	0.022
PCV	PCBs	Herring Gull	1992-94	-/+	+	363	0.086
	Chicken TEQs 11G-TEQs DDE		1992	-/+	+	263	0.028
	PCBs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	-/+	+	3437	0.0004
			1992	-/+	+	95	0.085
	Chicken TEQs	Caspian Tern	1992-94	-/+	+	-141	0.054
			1992	-/+	+	-419	0.55
	DDE	Caspian Tern	1992-94	-/+	+	4787	0.0004
			1992	-/+	+	119	0.087

¹ The rank orders of sites for were identical for the designated variables, and thus the Jonckheere test was identical.

Table 4.5. Means (± one standard error) of hematological variables in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great

> u	diuu	sg during 1992	-93. Number	s in parenthes	ses indicate sam	iple sizes.		
			Differe	ntial WBC Cou	nts (%)		Heterophil/	
Year Heterophi	Heterophi	ls	Lymphocytes	Monocytes	Basophils	Eosinophils	Lymphocyte Ratio	PCV (%)
1992 59.7±5.1 (1	59.7±5.1 (1	0)	34.2±4.8 (10)	4.6±0.7 (10)	1.4±0.5 (10)	0.1±0.1 (10)	2.39±0.57 (10)	25.2±0.8 (10)
1992 34.5±4.4 (1	34.5±4.4 (1	()	62.6±4.5 (10)	2.8±0.6 (10)	0.05±0.05 (10)	0.0±0.0 (10)	0.63±0.13 (10)	28.9±1.7 (11)
1993 49.9±3.5 (13	49.9±3.5 (13	()	45.2±3.4 (13)	4.3±0.7 (13)	0.7±0.3 (13)	0.0±0.0 (13)	1.26±0.19 (13)	30.4±0.8 (13)
1992 44.2±5.0 (8)	44.2±5.0 (8)		50.4±5.0 (8)	3.8±1.2 (8)	1.6±0.4 (8)	0.0±0.0 (8)	1.01±0.20 (8)	31.0±0.9 (5)
1992 54.6±5.2 (10	54.6±5.2 (10		41.2±5.1 (10)	3.8±1.0 (10)	0.6±0.4 (10)	0.0±0.0 (10)	1.65±0.32 (10)	32.8±0.4 (27)
1992 61.4±4.2 (9	61.4±4.2 (9		35.3±4.5 (9)	3.3±0.6 (9)	0.0±0.0 (9)	0.0±0.0 (9)	2.16±0.46 (9)	29.1±0.8 (14)
1993 50.2±2.2 (20	50.2±2.2 (20	6	43.1±2.2 (20)	6.0±0.8 (20)	0.6±0.1 (20)	0.1±0.1 (20)	1.28±0.12 (20)	32.0±0.3 (44)
1994								30.2±0.4 (38)

Table 4.5 (conti-	nued).							
			Differ	ential WBC Cou	nts (%)		Heterophil/	
Species/ Colony	Year	Heterophils	Lymphocytes	Monocytes	Basophils	Eosinophils	Lymphocyte Ratio	PCV (%)
Caspian Tern								
North Channel	1992	38.2±2.3 (10)	45.4±3.0 (10)	0.6±0.2 (10)	3.2±0.8 (10)	12.7±2.5 (10)	0.90±0.10 (10)	30.8±0.4 (30)
	1993	58.3±2.1 (20)	30.8±2.0 (20)	1.0±0.3 (20)	0.08±0.04 (20)	9.7±1.1 (20)	2.18±0.25 (20)	27.4±0.3 (31)
	1994							30.3±0.4 (20)
Upper Green Bay	1992	52.0±3.1 (10)	36.0±2.6 (10)	1.1±0.3 (10)	0.4±0.2 (10)	10.4±1.4 (10)	1.59±0.23 (10)	32.2±0.3 (40)
N. Lake Michigan	1992	56.2±3.4 (10)	28.0±2.7 (10)	0.2±0.2 (10)	0.9±0.4 (10)	14.6±1.9 (10)	2.27±0.32 (10)	32.7±0.5 (31)
Saginaw Bay	1992	71.8±4.8 (7)	22.4±4.6 (7)	0.07±0.07 (7)	0.3±0.15 (7)	5.5±1.1 (7)	4.62±1.29 (7)	32.3±1.3 (7)
	1993	47.1±3.0 (20)	43.0±2.9 (20)	1.9±0.4 (20)	0.6±0.2 (20)	7.5±0.7 (20)	1.30±0.18 (20)	31.2±0.3 (43)
	1994							31.8±0.4 (31)
E. Lake Ontario	1992	50.4±2.0 (9)	36.4±2.5 (9)	0.5±0.2 (9)	3.1±0.7 (9)	9.6±1.3 (9)	1.47±0.16 (9)	31.5±0.5 (20)

Relationship	Species	Year(s)	Vari	ables	r	N	Р
Among Measures	Caspian Tern	92	PHA	Antibody	-0.31	63	0.015
of Immune Function		92-94			-0.16	214	0.017
Among Immune	Herring Gull	92	PHA	Thyroxine	0.32	47	0.026
other Biomarkers		92-93			0.21	67	0.085
	Caspian Tern	92	PHA	%Eosinophils	0.33	-46	0.024
		92-93			0.31	85	0.004
	Herring Gull	92-93	Antibody	H/L Ratio ¹	-0.50	37	0.002
			IgG	H/L Ratio	-0.56	37	< 0.001
	Caspian Tern	92-93	Antibody	H/L Ratio	0.41	58	< 0.001
			IgG	H/L Ratio	0.35	58	0.007
	Herring Gull	92	Antibody	Retinol	0.68	15	0.006
		92-93			0.31	31	0.09
		92	IgG	Retinol	0.55	15	0.033
		92-93			0.22	31	0.24
Among Body Size	Herring Gull	92	Thyroxine	Body Mass	0.36	48	0.013
and Biomarkers		92-93			0.23	69	0.051
		92	Thyroxine	Wing Chord	0.45	-48	<0.001
		92-93			0.37	69	0.002
		92	Retinol	Body Mass	0.36	48	0.013
		92-93			0.26	68	0.03
		92	Retinol	Wing Chord	0.45	48	<0.001
		92-93			0.28	68	0.019
		92	H/L Ratio	Body Mass	-0.43	47	0.003
		92-93			-0.32	80	0.004
		92	H/L Ratio	Wing Chord	-0.39	47	0.007
		92-93			-0.25	80	0.027
	Caspian Tern	92-94	PCV	Wing Chord	0.33	253	< 0.001
		92	PCV	Daily Growth	0.29	29	0.035
		92-93			0.47	64	<0.001

Table 4.6. Pearson's correlation analysis exploring relationships among biomarkers in herring gull and Caspian tern chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94.

¹ Heterophil/Lymphocyte Ratio







Fig. 4.2. Mean daily growth in 3-4 week old herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lakes Winnipeg during 1992-94. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes.



Fig. 4.3. Relationship between T-cell-mediated immunity (PHA skin test) and PCB contamination in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lakes Winnipeg during 1992-94. Closed circles indicate mean response for each site. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes.



Fig. 4.4. Mean primary antibody responses 5-7 days after SRBC immunization in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes during 1992-94. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes.



Fig. 4.4. (continued).



Fig. 4.5. Relationship between plasma retinol (vitamin A) and PCB contamination in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94. Closed circles indicate mean response for each site. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes.



Fig. 4.6. Mean plasma thyroxine concentrations in herring gull (A) and Caspian tern (B) chicks from the Great Lakes and Lake Winnipeg during 1992-94. Error bars indicate one standard error of the mean. Numbers in parentheses indicate sample sizes.

Chapter 5. General Discussion: Ecoepidemiology and Evaluation of Biomarkers

Fish-eating colonial waterbirds of the Great Lakes historically have suffered the negative effects resulting from exposure to organochlorine contaminants. These effects include eggshell thinning caused by DDT and developmental effects caused by many contaminants, especially PCBs and TCDD (Peakall et al. 1980; Mineau et al. 1984; Fox and Weseloh 1987; Peakall and Fox 1987; Gilbertson 1988; 1989; Peakall 1988; Colborn et al. 1990; Fox et al. 1991; Gilbertson et al. 1991; Government of Canada 1991; Fox 1993). Reproductive failures occurred throughout the basin during the 1960's and early 1970's. Recent population-level effects associated with contaminants have been documented at highly contaminated sites (Ludwig 1979, Kubiak et al. 1989, Mora et al. 1993). While environmental contaminants have been associated with the disruption of a number of physiological systems in Great Lakes wildlife, before this study little or no effort had been devoted to determining impacts on the immune system. However, in laboratory animals, pollutants that are causing other health effects in Great Lakes wildlife also suppress immune function (Koller 1979, Caren 1981, Silkworth and Vecchi 1985, Thomas and Faith 1985, Luster et al. 1987, Vos and Luster 1989 Pruett 1994). The immune systems of developing and growing animals often are the most sensitive to the effects of PCBs and TCDD (Thomas and Faith 1985, Vos et al. 1989), and these effects on the developing immune system often persist long after exposure (Takagi et al. 1987, Holladay and Luster 1994).

Given the biologically significant effects that have been associated with HAHs in Great Lakes birds and the sensitivity of the immune system to these contaminants, this investigation studied whether immune function is suppressed in herring gulls and Caspian terns exposed to contaminants, especially HAHs, in the Great Lakes. This chapter evaluates the results of this study from the perspective of its two main objectives. The first objective was to use ecoepidemiological criteria to determine whether the immune systems of herring gulls and Caspian terns are affected by environmental contaminants in the Great Lakes. This chapter will evaluate effects on the structure and function of the T cellmediated immunity, the structure and function of antibody-mediated immunity, and the absolute and relative numbers of white blood cells. The second objective was to evaluate the use of various immunological tests as biomarkers for contaminant-associated health effects in wild birds.

Ecoepidemiological Assessment of Immunotoxicity in Fish-Eating Birds of the Great Lakes

For ethical and financial reasons, manipulative field experiments in ecotoxicology often are not possible. However, releases of pollutants into the environment do cause negative impacts on living organisms, populations, and ecosystems. Pollution patterns are set by the locations of industrial facilities and the movement patterns of air and water. In the absence of manipulative experiments, ecoepidemiological criteria can be applied to establish what contaminants are responsible for biological effects and to allow for remediation of these problems (Fox 1991; Chapter 1). For epidemiologists, establishing causation does not require that a factor is a necessary and sufficient condition to produce an effect. Rather, causal associations imply that a factor is part of a complex that increases the probability of an effect, and that reducing the factor reduces the probability of the effect.

Ecoepidemiological criteria used to determine causal associations include

• time order-exposure precedes the effect;

• strength of association-the coincidence of the supposed cause and effect and the magnitude of the changes;

• **specificity**-a unique effect produced only by a single cause and a consistent effect that always accompanies a causal factor;

• consistency upon replication-the replication of the association between potential cause and effect when studied in different species, at different sites, during different years, by different investigators;

• coherence-agreement with current biological theory and the presence of a doseresponse relationship;

• **predictive performance**-putative causal relationship leads to a deduction or prediction that is verified by further investigation;

• **probability**-the presence of a statistically significant relationship, although biological significance also must be evaluated.

All of these criteria do not need to be met to establish a causal association. In a particular situation, the criteria that support an association are weighed against the criteria that detract from it. Ecoepidemiological investigations can incorporate data from manipulative laboratory and field experiments as well as from field experiments where exposure regimes are less well-controlled by the investigators. This section evaluates three hypotheses about contaminant-associated immunosuppression using these ecoepidemiological criteria.

Suppression of T-Cell-Mediated Immunity

Within the constraints of this study, there was strong evidence for an association between persistent environmental contaminants and suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. These effects were evident in both the structure (thymus mass) and the function (PHA skin test) of the T-cell-mediated branch of the immune system. The identity of the particular organochlorine(s) responsible for such suppression could not be determined because concentrations of different organochlorines were highly co-correlated. However, PCBs were the most likely cause for these effects because PCB concentrations were by far the highest of any immunosuppressive organochlorines. Strong support for this association came from the criteria of probability, strength of association, specificity, consistency, coherence, predictive performance, and time order (Table 5.1).

Using the criterion of probability, the Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives demonstrated that there was strong evidence that these associations were not caused by chance. There was very strong evidence that the PHA skin response decreased as several measures of organochlorine contamination increased (P<0.001; Table 4.2) and strong evidence that thymus mass decreased as liver EROD activity increased (P=0.013, Table 3.1). Beyond statistical significance, the strength of association criterion suggested that the magnitude of the changes in these variables was biologically significant. The PHA skin test was suppressed 30-45% at the most contaminated sites, and thymus mass was decreased 20-45% at the sites with highest EROD activity. In the case of the PHA skin test, there was strong spatial coincidence between organochlorine contamination and suppression of T lymphocyte function. The criterion of replication strongly supported these relationships. These effects were demonstrated in two species of fish-eating birds

(herring gulls and Caspian terns) and were replicated at highly contaminated sites and reference sites during multiple years (2-3).

The criterion of coherence also supported an association between contaminants and T-cell-mediated immunity. The Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives revealed monotonic (not necessarily linear) trends in the PHA skin test with respect to various organochlorines and in thymus mass with respect to liver EROD activity. Such associations are consistent with many laboratory experiments that have found severe impacts of HAHs on the structure and function of the T-cell-mediated branch of the immune system in birds and mammals (Vos and Van Driel-Grootenhuis 1972; Sharma et al. 1978; Hinsdill et al. 1980; Thomas and Hinsdill 1980; Clark et al. 1981, 1983; Silkworth and Grabstein 1982; Greenlee et al. 1985; Takagi et al. 1987; Nikolaidis et al. 1988a; Vos and Luster 1989; Fine et al. 1990; Lundberg et al. 1990; Andersson et al. 1991; Holladay et al. 1991; Neubert et al. 1991; Tomar et al. 1991; Blaylock et al. 1992). The field data from fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes also is consistent with the association between T lymphocyte function and organochlorines, especially HAHs, found in harbor seals and bottlenose dolphins (DeSwaart et al. 1994, Lahvis et al. 1995, Ross et al. 1995). Perinatal exposure to HAHs may also disrupt T-cell-mediated immunity in humans. In Inuit infants in the arctic region of Quebec, there was an association between increasing PCB and TCDD concentrations and reduced numbers of helper T lymphocytes (Dewailly et al. 1993). Infants with higher HAH exposure also had an increased incidence of middle ear infections during the first year of life. The effects of perinatal exposure to HAHs in humans may be long lasting. Children from Times Beach, Missouri, who were exposed to TCDD during development and (or) the first four years after birth had reduced numbers of helper T lymphocytes (Smoger et al. 1993).

The criterion of predictive performance also lent support to contaminant-association effects on T-cell-mediated immunity. The laboratory studies listed above were successfully used to predict the suppression of T-cell-mediated function and reduction in thymic mass in fish-eating birds at sites with high organochlorine contamination. The results of a pilot field study during 1991 were successfully used to predict suppression of the PHA skin test. This response was 60% lower in herring gull chicks from a highly contaminated site (Gull Island, Upper Green Bay) as compared to a reference site (Kent Island, Atlantic coast).

The specificity criterion refers to both a unique effect produced only by a single cause and a consistent effect that always accompanies a causal factor. One difficulty with examining the effects of environmental contaminants on the immune system is that many other factors such as nutrition, stress, infections, infestations, and genetics influence immune function. Hence, immunosuppression is not specific to pollutants. However, the fact that an association between contamination and T-cell-mediated immunity was so clearly demonstrated even in the presence of these confounding factors strengthens this association. Because suppression of T-cell-mediated immunity so consistently occurs after developmental exposure to HAHs in laboratory animals, the specificity criterion also supports this association in Great Lakes birds.

The time order criterion provided some support for this association because chicks were exposed to environmental contaminants throughout development and after hatch. This exposure occurred before T cell function and thymic mass were measured. Unfortunately, there are no data on immune function in Great Lakes fish-eating birds before the era of organochlorine pollution, so it cannot be determined whether these spatial patterns in immune function existed before this contamination. Thus, this study provides strong evidence that environmental contaminants influence immune function in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. This association raises concerns because T-cell-mediated immunity plays both important regulatory and cytotoxic roles in combating infections. This importance is illustrated by the consequences of T-cellmediated immunosuppression that occurs in humans with AIDS. Contaminant-associated immunosuppression on the level of individual birds could have significant population-level effects.

Suppression of Antibody-Mediated Immunity

Evaluation of this study using ecoepidemiological criteria did not support the hypothesis of contaminant-associated suppression of antibody-mediated immunity (Table 5.1). Neither structural (bursa mass and histology) or functional (sheep red blood cell antibody test) biomarkers showed consistent immunosuppression associated with contaminants, even though these variables exhibited significant differences among sites. Four criteria (probability, strength of association, coherence in the form of a dose-response relationship, and prediction from laboratory to field investigations) detracted from this hypothesis. Other criteria were indeterminate.

However, several factors may have confounded associations between contaminants and bursa mass and histology. Extensive bursal infestation with a fluke (*Cotylurus communis*) caused bursitis in herring gull chicks at all sites except for the reference site on the Atlantic coast, possibly obscuring effects of contaminants. In laboratory experiments with chicken embryos or young chicks, the size of the bursa and (or) the number of lymphoid cells in the bursa decreased in a dose-dependent fashion upon exposure to HAHs (Harris *et al.* 1976, Nikolaidis *et al.* 1988b, Andersson *et al.* 1991). In one study, lymphoid depletion of the bursa was more sensitive to HAHs than that of the thymus (Nikolaidis *et al.* 1988b). Hence, the criteria of specificity and coherence suggest a possible association between contaminants and bursa mass. Examination of bursa mass and lymphoid cellularity in unhatched herring gull embryos might elucidate the effects of contaminants by eliminating confounding effects of infestation by flukes, differences in pre- and post-hatch contaminant exposure, and differences in post-hatch nutrition.

Several criteria detracted from the hypothesis of contaminant-associated suppression of B lymphocyte function. In both herring gull and Caspian tern chicks, antibody responses varied between sites and, in some cases, between years. This lack of association is consistent with laboratory studies showing that HAHs most consistently influence B cell function at doses that are higher than those required to suppress T cell function. Field investigations and studies using wildlife species in captivity also have shown less consistent associations between organochlorine contaminants and B lymphocyte functions. Harbor seals exposed to organochlorines showed reduced proliferation and antibody production by B lymphocytes (DeSwaart *et al.* 1994, Ross *et al.* 1995). However, organochlorines did not influence B lymphocyte proliferation in male bottlenose dolphins, although T cell proliferation was reduced (Lahvis *et al.* 1995).

Alteration of White Blood Cell Counts

Application of ecoepidemiological criteria to white blood cell counts in Caspian tern chicks and herring gull chicks and adults provided support for associations with contaminants, but the evidence was weaker than for T-cell-mediated immunity (Table 5.1). However, no criteria detracted from the hypothesis. The most consistent associations were found in herring gull adults. Counts of total and relative white blood cells can be viewed as biomarkers that monitor the structure of the immune system. The probability, strength of association, coherence, and time order criteria clearly supported associations between contaminants and white blood cell variables. With respect to strength of association, there was good coincidence between the distribution of contaminants and effects on white blood cells. The magnitudes of changes in white blood cell counts were biologically significant. With respect to coherence, the Jonckheere test for ordered alternatives revealed doseresponse relationships between contaminants and white blood cells. The time order criterion supported this association because birds were exposed to environmental contaminants before white blood cell variables were measured

The criteria of replication, specificity, and prediction provided indeterminate evidence. In herring gulls, many of the effects on white blood cell counts in adults were not seen in chicks. In herring gull chicks that were later necropsied, there was an association between HG-TEQs in the liver and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio. However, in the herring gull chicks used for the functional tests, there was no association between HG-TEQs in eggs and this ratio. However, Caspian tern chicks did show an association between organochlorine contamination in eggs and the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio. Hence, effects on the heterophil/lymphocyte ratio were replicated in some instances but not in others. The specificity criterion was indeterminate because so many factors other than contaminants can influence white blood cell counts. However, in laboratory experiments TCDD and PCBs cause changes in the numbers of circulating lymphocytes at relatively high doses that produce other toxic effects (Vos and Van-Driel Grootenhuis 1972, Vos and Luster 1989). Some associations between HAH-exposure and white blood cell variables were apparent in fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. The prediction criterion was difficult to apply because contaminants might be expected to increase or decrease white blood cell counts, depending on the degree of immunosuppression and the dynamic nature of white cell responses to infection. Some immunosuppressed animals may suffer from recurrent infections, leading to increased white blood cell counts as the body attempts to fight these infections. In more severely immunosuppressed animals, white blood cell counts may be reduced before infection and unable to proliferate after infection.

Evaluation of Structural and Functional Biomarkers

Biomarkers are biochemical, physiological, or histological changes that measure effects of or exposure to toxic chemicals. Immunological biomarkers are important for assessing health effects in wild animals. This study compared two different types of biomarkers: those that measure biological structures (organ masses and histology, and blood cell variables) and those that measure biological function (PHA skin test and sheep red blood cell antibody test). Since function usually depends on structure, relationships between these two types of biomarkers were explored. The PHA skin test showed associations with organochlorine contaminants most clearly. This test provided a simple, effective, nonlethal measure of T cell function. Thymus mass and white blood cell counts also showed strong associations. Bursa mass and antibody production were not clearly associated with organochlorines. Hence, measurement of both structural and functional biomarkers was important for investigating relationships to contaminants--the case for such associations would have been weaker if only structural or only functional biomarkers had been assessed. Indeed, the National Toxicology Program includes both structural and functional variables in a tiered system for testing chemicals for immunotoxic potential (Luster et al. 1988b, 1994). None of the structural or biochemical biomarkers provided

surrogate measures for direct tests of T-cell-mediated or antibody-mediated immune function.

Although some biomarkers did not reveal associations with organochlorine contaminants in this study, these variables still are useful for assessing the health of wild birds. All the biomarkers used in this study have excellent potential for assessing the health of birds in other studies where exposure levels, contaminants, or species are different from the present study. Almost all of the variables showed statistically and biologically significant differences among different colonies, suggesting that they were sensitive to factors such as environmental contaminants, nutrition, stress, weather.

		Hypothesis	
Criterion	Suppression of T- Cell-Mediated Immunity	Suppression of Antibody-Mediated Immunity	Alteration of White Blood Cell Counts
Probability	+	-	+
Strength of Association	+	-	+
Specificity			
In Effects of a Cause	+	?	+
In Causes of an Effect	?	?	?
Consistency upon Replication	+	?	+
Coherence			
Theoretical Plausibility	+	?	+
Factual Compatibility	+	?	+
Biological Coherence	+	?	+
Dose-Response	+	-	+
Predictive Performance			
Laboratory to Field	+	-	?
Field to Field	+	I.D.	I.D.
Time Order	+	?	+

 Table 5.1. Ecoepidemiological evaluation of immunotoxic effects of environmental contaminants on fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes.1

¹ Supports: + Detracts: -Indeterminate: ? Insufficient Data: I.D.

Literature Cited

- Andersson, L., E. Nikolaidis, B. Brunstrom, A., Bergman, and L. Dencker. 1991. Effects of polychlorinated biphenyls with Ah receptor affinity on lymphoid development in the thymus and bursa of Fabricius of chick embryos *in ovo* and in mouse thymus anlagen *in vitro*. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 107:183-188.
- Averbeck, C. 1991. Herring gull *Larus argentatus* Pont. and great black-backed gull *Larus marinus* L. haematology as a tool in bioindication. Seevögel 12:74-78.
- Averbeck, C. 1992. Haematology and blood chemistry of healthy and clinically abnormal great black-backed gulls (*Larus marinus*) and herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*). Avian Pathol. 21:215-223.

Barinaga, M. 1988. U.S. sea lions join casualties. 1988. Nature (London) 336:8.

- Bellward, G.D., R.J. Norstrom, P.E. Whitehead, J.E. Elliot, S.M. Bandiera, C. Dworschak, T. Chang, S. Forbes, B. Cadario, L.E. Hart, and K.M. Cheng. 1990. Comparison of polychlorinated dibenzodioxin levels with hepatic mixedfunction oxidase induction in great blue herons. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 30:33-52.
- Blaylock, B.L., S.D. Holladay, C.E. Comment, J.J. Heindel, and M.I. Luster. 1992. Exposure to tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) alters fetal thymocyte maturation. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 112:207-213.
- Boersma, D.C., J.A. Ellenton, and A. Yagminas. 1986. Investigation of the hepatic mixed-function oxidase system in herring gull embryos in relation to environmental contaminants. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5:309-318.
- Bowerman, W.W. 1993. Regulation of bald eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*) productivity in the Great Lakes Basin: An ecological and toxicological approach. Ph.D. thesis, Michigan St. Univ., E. Lansing, MI.
- Bowerman, W.W., D.A. Best, E.D. Evans, S. Postupalsky, M.S. Martel, K.D. Kozie, R.L. Welch, R.H. Schell, K.F. Durling, J.C. Rogers, T.J. Kubiak, D.E. Tillit, T.R. Schwartz, P.D. Jones, and J.P. Giesy. 1990. Organochlorine concentrations in plasma of bald eagles from the Great Lakes basin. Paper presented at the 11th Annual Meeting of the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Arlington, VA, Nov. 11-15, 1990.
- Bowerman, W.W., J. P. Giesy, D.A. Best, and V.J. Kramer. 1995. A review of factors affecting productivity of bald eagles in the Great Lakes region: Implications for recovery. Environ. Health Perspect. 103:51-59.

- Bowerman, W.W., T.J. Kubiak, J.B. Holt, D.L. Evans, R.G. Eckstein, C.R. Sindelar, D.A. Best, and K.D. Kozie. 1994. Observed abnormalities in mandibles of nestling bald eagles *Haliaeetus leucocephalus*. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 53:450-457.
- Brouwer, A., P.J.H. Reijnders, and J.H. Koeman. 1989. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-contaminated fish induces vitamin A and thyroid hormone deficiency in the common seal (*Phoca vitulina*). Aquatic Toxicol. 15:99-106.
- Bruns, N.J., and K.E. Webb, Jr. 1990. Vitamin A deficiency: Serum cortisol and humoral immunity in lambs. J. Anim. Sci. 68:454-459.
- Caren, L.D. 1981. Environmental pollutants: Effects on the immune system and resistance to infectious disease. Bioscience 31:582-586.
- Clark, D.A., J. Gauldie, M.R. Szewczuk, and G. Sweeney. 1981. Enhanced suppressor cell activity as a mechanism of immunosuppression by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzop-dioxin. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 168:290-299.
- Clark, D.A., G. Sweeney, S. Safe, E. Hancock, D.G. Kilburn, and J.Gauldie. 1983. Cellular and genetic basis for suppression of cytotoxic T cell generation by haloaromatic hydrocarbons. Immunopharmacology 6:143-153.
- Colborn, T.E., A. Davidson, S.N. Green, R.A. Hodge, C.I. Jackson, and R.A. Liroff.
 1990. Great Lakes, Great Legacy? Washington, D.C.: The Conservation
 Foundation. Ottawa, ONT: The Institute for Research on Public Policy. 301 pp.
- Davis, D., and S. Safe. 1991. Halogenated aryl hydrocarbon-induced suppression of the *in vitro* plaque-forming response to sheep red blood cells is not dependent on the Ah receptor. Immunopharmacology 21:183-190.
- De Swart, R.L., P.S. Ross, L.J. Vedder, H.H. Timmerman, S. Heisterkamp, H. Van Loveren, J.G. Vos, P.J.H. Reijnders, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus. 1994. Impairment of immune function in harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) feeding on fish from polluted waters. Ambio 23:155-159.
- Dewailly, E., S. Bruneau, C. Laliberte, M. Belles-Iles, J.P. Weber, P. Ayotte, and R. Roy. 1993. Breast milk contamination by PCBs and PCDDs/PCDFs in arctic Quebec: Preliminary results on the immune status of Inuit infants. Organohalogen Compounds 13:403-406.
- Ecological Research Services, Inc. 1991. Toxic contaminants in certain Great Lakes fish and wildlife and their relevance to hydrorelicensing decisions on the AuSable, Manistee, and Muskegon Rivers, Michigan. Summary report submitted to Consumers Power Co., Jackson, MI. 75 pp. + appendices.

- Edelman, A.S., P.L. Sanchez, M.E. Robinson, G.M. Hochwald, G.J. Throbecke. 1986. Primary and secondary wattle swelling response to phytohemagglutinin as a measure of immunocompetence in chicks. Avian Dis. 30:105-111.
- Faith, R.E., and J.A. Moore. 1977. Impairment of thymus-dependent immune functions by exposure of the developing immune system to 3,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin (TCDD). J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 3:451-464.
- Fine, J.S., T.A. Gasiewicz, N.C. Fiore, and A.E. Silverstone. 1990. Prothymocyte activity is reduced by perinatal 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin exposure. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therap. 255:128-132.
- Fox, G.A. 1991. Practical causal inference for ecoepidemiologists. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 33:359-373.
- Fox, G.A. 1993. What have biomarkers told us about the effects of contaminants on the health of fish-eating birds in the Great Lakes? The theory and a literature review. J. Great Lakes Res. 19:722-736.
- Fox, G.A., B. Collins, E. Hayakawa, D.V. Weseloh, J.P. Ludwig, T.J. Kubiak, and T.C. Erdman. 1991. Reproductive outcomes in colonial fish-eating birds: A biomarker for developmental toxicants in Great Lakes food chains. II. Spatial variation in the occurrence and prevalence of bill defects in young double-crested cormorants in the Great Lakes, 1979-1987. J. Great Lakes Res. 17:158-167.
- Fox, G.A., O.R. Cooper, and J.P. Ryder. 1981. Predicting the sex of herring gulls by using external measurements. J. Field Ornithol. 52:1-9.
- Fox, G.A., A.P. Gilman, D.B. Peakall, and F.W. Anderka. 1978. Behavioral abnormalities in nesting Lake Ontario herring gulls. J. Wildl. Manage. 42:477-483.
- Fox, G.A., S.W. Kennedy, R.J. Norstrom, and D.C. Wigfield. 1988. Porphyria in herring gulls: A biochemical response to chemical contamination of Great Lakes food chains. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 7:831-839.
- Fox, G.A., and D.V. Weseloh. 1987. Colonial waterbirds as bio-indicators of environmental contamination in the Great Lakes. ICBP Tech. Pub. No. 6:209-216.
- Fox, G.A., D.V. Weseloh, T.J. Kubiak, and T.C. Erdman. 1991. Reproductive outcomes in colonial fish-eating birds: A biomarker for developmental toxicants in Great Lakes food chains. I. Historical and ecotoxicological perspectives. J. Great Lakes Res. 17:153-157.
- Friedman, A., and D. Sklan. 1989. Antigen-specific immune response impairment in the chick as influenced by dietary vitamin A. J. Nutr. 119:790-795.

- Friend, M., and D.O. Trainer. 1970. Polychlorinated biphenyl: Interaction with duck hepatitis virus. Science 170:1314-1316.
- Gibbons, J.R. 1971. Nonparametric Statistical Inference. New York: McGraw Hill Book Co.
- Giesy, J.P., J.P. Ludwig, and D.E. Tillitt. 1994. Deformities in birds of the Great Lakes region. Environ. Sci. Technol. 28:128-135.
- Gilbertson, M. 1974. Pollutants in breeding herring gulls in the lower Great Lakes. Can. Field Nat. 88:273-280.
- Gilbertson, M. 1988. Epidemics in birds and mammals caused by chemicals in the Great Lakes. Pages 133-152 in M.S. Evans, ed. Toxic Contaminants and Ecosystem Health: A Great Lakes Focus. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Gilbertson, M. 1989. Effects on fish and wildlife. Pages 103-127 in R.D. Kimbrough and A.A. Jenson, eds. Halogenated Biphenyls, Terphenyls, Napthalenes, Dibenzodioxins, and Related Products. New York: Elesevier Science Publishers.
- Gilbertson, M., and G.A. Fox. 1977. Pollutant-associated embryonic mortality of Great Lakes herring gulls. Environ. Pollut. 12:211-216. (Not seen, cited in Peakall 1988).
- Gilbertson, M., and R. Hale. 1974a. Early embryonic mortality in a herring gull colony in Lake Ontario. Can. Field Nat. 88:354-356.
- Gilbertson, M., and R. Hale. 1974b. Characteristics of the breeding failure of a colony of herring gulls on Lake Ontario. Can. Field Nat. 88:356-358.
- Gilbertson, M., T. Kubiak, J. Ludwig, and G. Fox. 1991. Great Lakes embryo mortality, edema, and deformities syndrome (GLEMEDS) in colonial fish-eating birds: Similarity to chick-edema disease. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 33:455-520.
- Gilman, A.P., G.A. Fox, D.B. Peakall, S.M. Teeple, T.R. Carroll, and G.T. Haymes. 1977. Reproductive parameters and egg contaminant levels of Great Lakes herring gulls. J. Wildl. Manage. 41:458-468.
- Gilmartin, W.G., R.L. DeLong, A.W. Smith, J.C. Sweeney, B. W. De Lappe, R.W. Risebrough, L.A. Griner, M.D. Dailey, and D. B. Peakall. 1976. Premature parturition in the California sea lion. J. Wildl. Dis.12:104-115.
- Government of Canada. 1991. Toxic Chemicals in the Great Lakes and Associated Effects. Supply and Services Canada.
- Grasman, K.A., and P.F. Scanlon. 1995. Effects of acute lead ingestion and diet on antibody and T-cell-mediated immunity in Japanese quail. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 28:161-167.
- Greenlee, W.F., K.M. Dold, R.D. Irons, and R. Osborne. 1985. Evidence for direct action of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin(TCDD) on thymic epithelium. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 79:112-120.
- Gross, W.B. 1984. Differential and total avian blood cell counts by the hemacytometer method. Avian/Exotic Practice 1:31-36.
- Gross, W.B., and P.B. Siegel. 1980. Effects of early environmental stresses on chicken body weight, antibody responses to RBC antigens, feeding efficiency, and response to fasting. Avian Dis. 24:569-579.
- Gross, W.B., and P.B. Siegel. 1981. Long-term exposure of chickens to three levels of social stress. Avian Dis. 25:312-325.
- Harris, S.J., H.C. Cecil, J. Bitman, and R.J. Lillies. 1976. Antibody response and reduction in bursa of Fabricius and spleen weights of progeny of chickens fed PCBs. Poult. Sci. 55:1933-1940.
- Haddad, E.E, and M.M. Mashaly. 1991. Chicken growth hormone, triiodothyronine, and thyrotropin releasing hormone modulation of the levels of chicken natural cellmediated cytotoxicity. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 15:65-77.
- Hinsdill, R.D., D.L. Couch, and R.S. Speirs. 1980. Immunosuppression in mice induced by dioxin (TCDD) in feed. J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. 4:401-425.
- Hoffman, D.J., B.A. Rattner, L. Sileo, D. Docherty, and T.J. Kubiak. 1987. Embryotoxicity, teratogenicity, and aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase activity in Forster's terns on Green Bay, Lake Michigan. Environ. Res. 42:176-184.
- Holladay, S.D., P. Lindstrom, B.L. Blaylock, C.E. Comment, D.R. Germolec, J.J. Heindell, and M.I. Luster. 1991. Perinatal thymocyte antigen expression and postnatal immune development altered by gestational exposure to tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). Teratology 44:385-393.
- Holladay, S.D., and M.I. Luster. 1994. Developmental immunotoxicology. Pages 93-118 in C. Kimmel and J. Buckesam, eds. Developmental Toxicology. New York: Raven Press.
- Hollander, M., and D.A. Wolfe. 1973. Nonparametric Statistical Methods. New York: John Wiley and Sons, 503 pp.

- Hontela, A., P.Dumont, D. Duclos, and R. Fortin. 1995. Endocrine and metabolic dysfunction in yellow perche, *Percea flavescens*, exposed to organic contaminants and heavy metals in the St. Lawrence River. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 14:725-731.
- Hontela, A., J.B. Rasmussen, C. Audet, and G. Chevalier. 1992. Impaired cortisol stress response in fish from environments polluted by PAHs, PCBs, and Mercury. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22:278-283.
- House, R.V., L.D. Lauer, M.J. Murray, P.T. Thomas, J.P. Ehrlich, G.R. Burleson, and J.H. Dean. 1990. Examination of immune parameters and host resistance in B6C3F1 mice following adult exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 31:203-215.
- Imanishi, J., H. Nomura, M. Matsubara, M. Kita, S.-J. Won, T. Mizutani, and T. Kishida. 1980. Effect of polychlorinated biphenyl on viral infections in mice. Infect. Immun. 29:275-277.
- Iturri, S.J. 1974. The effects of various chlorinated hydrocarbons on the cardiovascular physiology and hematology of the domestic fowl. Ph.D. thesis, Michigan St. Univ., E. Lansing, MI.
- Keith, J.A. 1966. Reproduction in a population of herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) contaminated by DDT. J. Appl. Ecol. 3 (Suppl.), 57-60.
- Kennedy, S.W., and C.A. James. 1993. Improved method to extract and concentrate porphyrins from liver tissue for analysis by high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatog. Biomed. Appl. 619:127-132.
- Kennedy, S.W., and S.P. Jones. 1994. Simultaneous measurement of cytochrome P4501A catalytic activity and total proten concentration with a fluorescence plate reader. Anal Biochem. 222:217-223.
- Kennedy, S.W., A. Lorenzen, C.A. James, and B.T. Collins. 1993. Ethoxyresorufin-Odeethylase and porphyrin analysis in chicken embryo hepatocyte cultures with a fluorescence multiwell plate reader. Anal. Biochem. 211:101-112.
- Kennedy, S.W., A. Lorenzen, and S.P. Jones. 1994. Sensitivity of various primary avian embryo hepatocyte cell cultures to cytochrome P4501A induction by TCDD, TCDF, and PCBs. Organohalogen Compounds 21:475-480.
- Kerkvliet, N.I., L. Baecher-Steppan, B.B. Smith, J.A. Youngberg, M.C.Henderson, and D.R. Guhler. 1990a. Role of the Ah locus in suppression of cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity by halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (PCBs and TCDDs): Structure-activity relationships and effects in C57B1/6 mice congenic at the Ah locus. Fund. Appl. Toxicol. 14:532-541.

- Kerkvliet, N.I., L.B. Steppan, J.A. Brauner, J.A. Deyo, M.C. Henderson, R.S. Tomar, and D.R. Buhler. 1990b. Influence of the Ah locus on the humoral immunotoxicity of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin: Evidence for Ah -receptordependent and Ah-receptor-independent mechanisms of immunosuppression. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 105:26-36.
- Koller, L.D. 1979. Effects of environmental contaminants on the immune system. Adv. Vet. Sci. Comp. Med. 23:267-295.
- Kozie, K.D., and R.K. Anderson. 1991. Productivity, diet, and environmental contaminants in bald eagles nesting near the Wisconsin shoreline of Lake Superior. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 20:41-48.
- Kubiak, T.J., H.J. Harris, L.M. Smith, T.R. Schwartz, D.L. Stalling, J.A. Trick, L. Sileo, D.E. Docherty, and T.C. Erdman. 1989. Microcontaminants and reproductive impairment of the Forster's tern on Green Bay, Lake Michigan-1983. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 18:706-727.
- Lahvis, G., R.W. Wells, D.W. Kuehl, J.L. Stewart. H.L. Rhinehart, and C.S. Via. 1995. Decreased lymphocyte responses in free-ranging bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) are associated with increased concentrations of PCBs and DDT in peripheral blood. Environ. Health Perspect. 103:67-72.
- Leighton, F.A. 1984. The toxicity of ingested crude petroleum oil to marine birds: Pathology and pathogenesis. Ph.D. thesis, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY.
- Lochmiller, R.L., M.R. Vestey, and J.C. Boren. 1993. Relationship between protein nutritional status and immunocompetence in northern bobwhite chicks. Auk 110:503-510.
- Loose, L.D., K.A. Pittman, K.-F. Benitz, and J.B. Silkworth. 1977. Polychlorinated biphenyl and hexachlorobenzene induced humoral immunosuppression. J. Reticuloendothelial Soc. 22:253-271.
- Lorr, N.A., K.A. Golemboski, R.A. Hemendinger, R.R. Dietert, and S.E. Bloom. 1992. Distribution and inducibility of a P450I activity in cellular components of the avian immune system. Arch. Toxicol. 60:560-566.
- Ludwig, J.P. 1979. Present status of the Caspian tern population of the Great Lakes. Michigan Academian 12:69-77.
- Ludwig, J.P. 1982. Helminthological survey and autopsy data for 203 resident Great Lakes gull and terns collected between November 1961 and August 1965. Iron River, Michigan: Ecological Research Services, Inc. 21 pp.

- Ludwig, J.P., H.J. Auman, H. Kurita, M.E. Ludwig, L.M. Campbell, J.P. Giesy, D.E. Tillitt, P. Jones, N. Yamashita, S. Tanabe, and R. Tatsukawa. 1993. Caspian tern reproduction in the Saginaw Bay ecosystem following a 100-year flood event. J. Great Lakes Res. 19:96-108.
- Ludwig, J.P., H.J. Auman, H. Kurita, M.E. Ludwig, L.M. Campbell, J.P. Giesy, D.E. Tillitt, P. Jones, N. Yamashita, S. Tanabe, R. Tatsukawa. 1993. Caspian tern reproduction in the Saginaw Bay ecosystem following a 100-year flood event. J. Great Lakes Res. 19:96-108.
- Ludwig, J.P., and C.E. Ludwig. 1969. The effect of starvation on insecticide contaminated herring gulls removed from a Michigan colony. Proc. 12th Conf. Great Lakes Res., 53-64. (Not seen, but cited in Gilbertson *et al.* 1991).
- Ludwig, J.P., and C.S. Tomoff. 1966. Reproductive success and insecticide residues in Lake Michigan herring gulls. Jack Pine Warbler 44:77-84.
- Lundberg, K., K.-O. Gronvik, T.J. Goldschmidt, L. Klareskog, and L. Dencker. 1990. 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) alters intrathymic T-cell development in mice. Chem.-Biol. Interact. 179-193.
- Luster, M.I., J.A. Blank, and J.H. Dean. 1987. Molecular and cellular basis of chemically induced immunotoxicity. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 27:23-49.
- Luster, M.I., D.R. Germolec, G. Clark, G. Wiegard, and G.J. Rosenthal. 1988a. Selective effects of 2,3,7,8-tretrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin and corticosterone on in vitro lymphocyte maturation. J. Immunol. 140:928-935.
- Luster, M.I., A.E. Munson, P.T. Thomas, M.P. Holsapple, J.D. Fenters, K.L. White, L.D. Lauer, D.R. Germolec, G.J. Rosenthal, and J.H. Dean. 1988b. Development of a testing battery to assess chemical-induced immunotoxicity. National Toxicology Program's Guidelines for immunotoxicity evaluation in mice. Fund. Appl. Toxicol. 21:71-82.
- Luster, M.I., C. Portier. D.G. Pait, and D.R. Germolec. 1994. The use of animal tests in risk assessment for immunotoxicology. Toxic. *in Vitro* 8:945-950.
- Martineau, D., A. Lagace, P. Beland, R. Higgins, D. Armstrong, and L.R.Shugart. 1988. Pathology of stranded beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from the St. Lawrence Estuary, Quebec, Canada. J. Comp. Pathol. 98:287-311.
- McGourty, C. 1988. Seal epidemic still spreading. Nature (London) 334:553.
- Mineau, P., G.A. Fox, R.J. Norstrom, D.V. Weseloh, D.J. Hallet, and J.A. Ellenton. 1984. Using the herring gull to monitor levels and effects of organochlorine contamination in the Canadian Great Lakes. Pages 425-452 *in* J.O. Nriagu and J.S. Simmons, eds. Toxic Contaminants in the Great Lakes. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

- Moccia, R.D., G.A. Fox, and A. Britton. 1986. A quantitative assessment of thyroid histopathology of herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) from the Great Lakes and a hypothesis on the causal role of environmental contaminants. J. Wildl. Dis. 22:60-70.
- Mora, M.A., H.J. Auman, J.P. Ludwig, J.P. Giesy, D.A. Verbrugge, and M.E. Ludwig. 1993. Polychlorinated biphenyls and chlorinated insecticides in plasma of Caspian terns: Relationships with age, productivity, and colony site tenacity in the Great Lakes. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 24:320-331.
- Morris, D.L., N.K. Snyder, V. Gokani, R.E. Blair, and M.P. Holsapple. 1992. Enhanced suppression of humoral immunity in DBA/2 mice following subchronic exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD). Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 112:128-132.
- Murk, A.J., A. Spenkelink, A. Brouwer, M. VanKampen, A.T.C. Bosveld, J. Gradener, and M. Vanden Berg. 1992. Effects of PCBs, PCDDs, and PCDFs on reproductive and biochemical parameters in chicks of the common tern (*Sterna hirundo*). The Hague, Netherlands: Tidal Waters Division.
- Nagarkatti, P.S., G.D. Sweeney, J. Gauldie, and D.A. Clark. 1984. Sensitivity to suppression of cytotoxic T cell generation by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) is dependent on the Ah genotype of the murine host. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 72:169-176.
- Neubert, R., U. Jacob-Muller, H. Helge, R. Stahlmann, and D. Neubert.1991.
 Polyhalogenated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans and the immune system 2.
 In vitro effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) on lymphocytes of venous blood from man and a non-human primate (*Callithrix jacchus*). Arch. Toxicol. 65:213-219.
- Nikolaidis, E., B. Brunstrom, and L. Dencker. 1988a. Effects of TCDD and its congeners 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroazoxbenzene and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl on lympoid development in the thymus of avian embryos. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 63:333-336.

- Nikolaidis, E., B. Brunstrom, and L. Dencker. 1988b. Effects of the TCDD congeners 3,3',4,4'-tetrachlorobiphenyl and 3,3',4,4'-tetrachloroaxoybenzene on lymphoid development in the bursa of Fabricius of the chick embryo. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 92:315-323.
- Nikolaidis, E., B. Brunstrom, L. Dencker, and T. Veromaa. 1990. TCDD inhibits the support of B-cell development by the bursa of Fabricius. Phamacol. Toxicol. 67:22-26.
- Norstrom, R.J., M. Simon, and D.C.G. Muir. 1990. Polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins and dibenzofurans in marine mammals in the Canadian north. Environ. Pollut. 66:1-19.
- Peakall, D.B. 1988. Known effects of pollutants on fish-eating birds in the Great Lakes of North America. Pages 39-54 in N.W. Schmidtke, ed. Toxic Contamination in Large Lakes, Vol. 1.: Chronic Effects of Toxic Contaminants in Large Lakes. Chelsea, MI: Lewis Publishers, Inc.
- Peakall, D.B., and G.A. Fox. 1987. Toxicological investigations of pollutant-related effects in Great Lakes gulls. Environ. Health Perspect. 71:187-193.
- Peakall, D.B., G.A. Fox, A.D. Gilman, D.J. Hallet, and R.J. Norstrom. 1980.
 Reproductive success of herring gulls as an indicator of Great Lakes water quality.
 Pages 337-344 in B.K. Afhgan and D. MacKay, eds. Hydrocarbons and Halogenated Hydrocarbons in the Aquatic Environment. New York: Plenum Press.
- Peakall, D.B., R.J. Norstrom, A.D. Rahimtula, and R.D. Butler. 1986. Characterization of mixed-function oxidase systems of the nestling herring gull and its implications for bioeffects monitoring. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5:379-385.
- Postupalsky, S. 1971. Toxic chemicals and declining bald eagles and cormorants in Ontario. Can. Wildl. Serv. Manuscript Rep #20, 45 pp. (Not seen, cited in Peakall 1988).
- Price, I.M., and D.V. Weseloh. 1986. Increased numbers and productivity of doublecrested cormorants, *Phalacrocorax auritus*, on Lake Ontario. Canadian Field Naturalist 100:474-482.
- Pruett, S.B. 1994. Immunotoxicity of agrochemicals: An overview of currently available information. Toxicol. Ecotoxicol. News 1:49-54.
- Pyykko, K. 1983. Characterization and stability of rat liver microsomes isolated by a rapid gel filtration method. Acta Pharmacol. et Toxicol. 52:39-46.
- Rattner, B.A., V.P. Eroschenko, G.A. Fox, D.M. Fry, and J. Gorsline. 1984. Avian endocrine responses to environmental pollutants. J. Exp. Zool. 232:683-689.

- Rocke, T.E, and M.D. Samuel. 1991. Effects of lead shot ingestion on selected cells of the mallard immune system. J. Wildl. Dis. 27:1-9.
- Ross, P.S., R.L. de Swart, P.J.H. Reijnders, H. Van Loveren, J.G. Vos, and A.D.M.E. Osterhaus. 1995. Contaminant-related suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity and antibody responses in harbor seals fed herring from the Baltic Sea. Environ. Health Perspect. 103:162-167.
- Safe, S. 1984. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and polybrominated biphenyls (PBBs): Biochemistry, toxicology, and mechanism of action. CRC Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 13:319-395.
- Safe, S. 1990. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs), dibenzofurans (PCDFs), and related compounds: Environmental and mechanistic considerations which support the development of toxic equivalency factors (TEFs). Critical Reviews in Toxicology 21:51-88.
- Sanderson, T.J., J.E. Elliot, R.J. Norstrom, P.E. Whitehead, L.E. Hart, K.M. Cheng, and G.D. Bellward. 1994. Monitoring biological effects of polychlorinated biphenyls in great blue heron chicks (*Ardea herodias*) in British Columbia. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 41:435-450.
- Schrank, C.S., M.E. Cook, and W.R. Hansen. 1990. Immune responses of mallard ducks treated with immunosuppressive agents:antibody response to erythrocytes and *in vivo* response to phytohemagglutinin-P. J. Wildl. Dis. 26:307-315.
- Sharma, R.P., R.J. Kociba, and P.J. Sehring. 1978. Immunotoxicologic effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in laboratory animals. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 45:333 (Abstract).
- Sileo, L., L. Karstad, R. Frank, M.V.H. Holdrinet, E. Addison, and H.E. Braun. 1977. Organochlorine poisoning of ring-billed gulls in southern Ontario. J. Wildl. Dis. 13:313-322.
- Silkworth, J.B., L. Antrim, and L.S. Kaminsky. 1984. Correlations between polychlorinated biphenyl immunotoxicity, the aromatic hyrdocarbon locus, and liver microsomal enzyme induction in C57BL/6 and DBA/2 mice. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 75:156-165.
- Silkworth, J.B., and E.M. Grabstein. 1982. Polychlorinated biphenyl immunotoxicity: Dependence on isomer planarity and the Ah gene complex. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 65:109-115.
- Silkworth, J.B., and A. Vecchi. 1985. Role of the Ah-receptor in halogenated aromatic hydrocarbon immunotoxicity. Pages 263-275 in J. Dean, M.I.Luster, A.E. Munson, and H. Amos, eds. Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology. New York: Raven Press.

- Smoger, G.H., P.C. Kahn, G.C. Rodgers, S. Suffin, and P. McConnachie. 1993. In utero and postnatal exposure to 2,3,7,8-TCDD in Times Beach, Missouri: 1. Immunological effects : Lymphocyte phenotype frequencies. Organohalogen Compounds 13:345-348.
- Spear, P.H., D.H. Bourbonnais, R.J. Norstrom, and T.W. Moon. 1990. Yolk retinoids (vitamin A) in eggs of the herring gull and correlations with polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 9:1053-1061.
- Spear, P.H., T.W. Moon, and D.B. Peakall. 1985. Liver retinoid concentrations in natural populations of herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) contaminated by 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin and in ring doves (*Streptopelia risoria*) injected with a dioxin analogue. Can. J. Zool. 64:204-208.
- Stadecker, M.J, M. Lukic, A. Dvorak, and S. Leskowitz. 1977. The cutaneous basophil response to phytohemagglutinin in chickens. J. Immunol. 118:1564-1568.
- Takagi, Y., S. Aburada, T. Otake, and N. Ikegami. 1987. Effect of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) accumulated in the dam's body on mouse filial immunocompetence. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxcol. 16:375-381.
- Thomas, P.T., and R.I. Faith. 1985. Adult and perinatal immunotoxicityinduced by halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons. Pages 305-313 in J.H. Dean, M.I. Luster, A.E. Munson, and H.Amos, eds. Immunotoxicology and Immunopharmacology. New York: Raven Press.
- Thomas, P.T., and R.D. Hinsdill. 1978. Effect of polychlorinated biphenyls on the immune responses of Rhesus monkeys and mice. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 44:41-55.
- Thomas, P.T., and R.D. Hinsdill. 1980. Perinatal PCB exposure and its effects on the immune system of young rabbits. Drug Chem. Toxicol.3:173-184.
- Tillitt, D.E., G.T. Ankley, and J.P. Giesy. 1989. Planar chlorinated hydrocarbons (PCHs) in colonial fish-eating waterbird eggs from the Great Lakes. Marine Environ. Res. 28:505-508.
- Tillitt, D.E., G.T. Ankley, J.P. Giesy, J.P. Ludwig, H. Kurita-Matsuba, D.V. Weseloh, P.S. Ross, C.A. Bishop, L. Sileo, K.L. Stromborg, J. Larson, and T.J. Kubiak. 1992. Polychlorinated biphenyl residues and egg mortality in double-crested cormorants from the Great Lakes. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 11:1281-1288.
- Tillitt, D.E., J.P. Giesy, and G.T. Ankley. 1991. Characterization of the H4IIE rat hepatoma cell bioassay as a tool for assessing toxic potency of planar halogenated hydrocarbons (PHHs) in environmental samples. Environ. Sci. Tech. 25:187-192
- Tomar, R.S, and N.I. Kerkvliet. 1991. Reduced T-helper cell function in mice exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD). Toxicol. Let. 57:55-64.

- Van den Berg, M., B.L.H.J. Craane, T. Sinnige, S. van Mourik, S. Dirksen, T. Boudewijn, M. van der Gaag, I.J. Lutke-Schipholt, B. Spenkelink, and A. Brouwer. 1994. Biochemical and toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls (OCBs) and dibenzofurans (PCDFs) in the cormorant (*Phalacrocorax carbo*) after *in ovo* exposure. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13:803-816.
- Vos, J.G., J.G. Kreeftenberg, H.W.B. Engel, A. Minderhoud, and L.M.Van Noorle Jansen. 1978. Studies on 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin-induced immune suppression decreased resistance to infections, endotoxin hypersitivity, serum zinc concentrations, and effect of thymosin treatment. Toxicology 9:75-86.
- Vos, J.G., and M.I. Luster. 1989. Immune alterations. Pages 295-322 in R.D. Kimbrough and A.A. Jensen,eds. Halogenated Biphenyls, Terphenyls, Naphthalenes, Dibenzodioxins, and Related Products: Elsevier Science Publishers.
- Vos, J., and L. Van Driel-Grootenhuis. 1972. PCB-induced suppression of the humoral and cell-mediated immunity in guinea pigs. Sci. Tot. Environ. 1:289-302.
- Vos, J., H. Van Loveren, P. Wester, and D. Vethaak. 1989. Toxic effects of environmental chemicals on the immune system. TIPS 10:289-292.
- Weseloh, D.V., T.W. Custer, and B.M. Braune. 1989. Organochlorine contaminants in eggs of common terns from the Canadian Great Lakes, 1981. Environ. Pollut. 59:141-160.
- Weseloh, D.V., S.M. Teeple, and M. Gilbertson. 1983. Double-crested cormorants of the Great Lakes: Egg-laying parameters, reporductive failure, and contaminant residues in eggs, Lake Huron 1972-1973. Can. J. Zool. 61:427-436.
- Wong, S., M. Fournier, D. Coderre, W. Banska, and K. Krzystyniak. 1992. Environmental immunotoxicology. Pates 167-280 in D. B. Peakall, ed. Animal Biomarkers as Pollution Indicators. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Zar, J.H. 1984. Biostatistical Analysis, 2nd ed. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, Inc, 718 pp.
- Zile, M.H. 1992. Vitamin A homeostasis endangered by environmental pollutants. Proc. Soc. Exper. Biol. Med. 201:141-153.

Vita

Keith Alan Grasman was born to Gerald and Helen Grasman of Silver Spring, Maryland, on January 17, 1967. He graduated as class valedictorian of Paint Branch High School in Burtonsville, Maryland, in June 1985. He pursued a B.S. in biology at Calvin College in Grand Rapids, Michigan, and graduated with honors in May 1989.

After marrying Suzanne Henderson of Gary, Indiana, on 12 August 1989, he began graduate work in wildlife toxicology in the Department of Fisheries and Wildlife Sciences at Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. In March 1992, he completed a M.S. degree for a project entitled "Effects of Lead Ingestion on Immune Function in Quail." He then pursued a Ph.D. degree at VPI &SU, investigating the effects of environmental contaminants on fish-eating birds of the Great Lakes. His work was supported by a National Science Foundation Pre-Doctoral Fellowship and a Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry/ Procter and Gamble PreDoctoral Fellowship. He also received a predoctoral fellowship from the International Association for Great Lakes Research/ Mott Foundation. He also was awarded a fellowship from the International Association for Great Lakes Research and the Mott Foundation. Before completing his Ph.D., Keith returned to Calvin College to teach biology and environmental studies for two years. He continued his research on Great Lakes toxicology and immunotoxicology. Just before completing his Ph.D., Keith accepted a position as Assistant Professor of Environmental Health Effects at Wright State University in Dayton, Ohio.

Keith is a member of the Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, the Ecological Society of America, The Wildlife Society, the Great Lakes Wildlife Bioeffects Group, the International Association for Great Lakes Research, The Colonial Waterbird